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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ETE®RE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Hanergy Thin Film

Power Group Limited (the “Company’, together with its

subsidiaries, the “Group”), | would like to present the
annual results of the Company for the year ended 31

December 2018.

The year 2018 saw significant changes in the global energy
structure and rapid development of the thin film solar
industry. As a leader in the global thin-film solar industry, by
capturing opportunities and forging ahead, the Group
achieved remarkable results in all aspects, and its market
competitiveness was greatly improved during the year, with
an explosive growth in its annual results that had never
been seen. For the financial year ended 31 December 2018,
the Group achieved revenue of HK$21,251,772,000,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 2.5
times, and net profit of HK$5,193,068,000, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 18.9 times.

PROGRESS IN RESUMPTION OF TRADING

During the year, the Company made every effort to
communicate with the Securities and Futures Commission
("“SFC"). After the Company fulfilled the SFC's first
resumption requirement on 4 September 2017, according to
the SFC's second resumption requirement, the Company
engaged a financial adviser to conduct due diligence on the
Group, and completed the Disclosure Document and
submitted to the SFC for approval, for the consideration of
the SFC in regards to the Company's application for the
resumption pursuant to Rule 9 of the Securities and Futures
(Stock Market Listing) Rules (Chapter 571V of the Laws of

Hong Kong).
The Company will further make separate announcement(s)

on the progress of the resumption in due course, to inform
the Company's shareholders and potential investors.
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PROPOSED WITHDRAWAL OF THE LISTING
OF SHARES OF THE COMPANY ON THE
STOCK EXCHANGE

On 1 November 2018, the Company announced that
Hanergy Mobile Energy Holding Group Co., Ltd., the
controlling shareholder, proposed to privatize the shares of
the Company. As advised by the controlling shareholder, the
proposal in relation to the privatization of shares of the
Company is made in view of the market changes and
business needs.

On 26 February 2019, the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) and the board of directors of
(the

"Offeror”) jointly announced that, on 21 December 2018,

Hanergy Mobile Energy Holding Group Co., Ltd.

the Offeror requested the Board to put forward to the
scheme shareholders a proposal in respect of the securities
of the Company by way of a scheme of arrangement under
Section 99 of the Bermuda Companies Act and proposed
withdrawal of the listing of shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange. The proposal, if made, will provide that all
the scheme shares be cancelled and the cancellation
consideration will be satisfied by way of SPV's shares. The
scheme shareholders will be entitled to receive the
cancellation consideration on the following basis: one SPV's
share for each scheme share. As it is highly uncertain
whether trading in the shares of the Company can be
resumed before the end of July 2019 which is a deadline
applied to the Company under Rule 6.01A(2)(b) of the
Listing Rules, the proposal provides a possible way for the
independent shareholders to unlock the value in their
shares. The ultimate objective of the proposal is to pave the
way for the businesses of the Company to be put under a
company to be listed on a stock exchange in the PRC, and
therefore it is expected that the independent shareholders
may eventually obtain cash from the disposal of A-Share
Listco Shares by SPV after the completion of the proposal.
To this end, an independent board committee, which
comprises the independent non-executive directors of the
Company, Mr. Lo Man Tuen, Professor He Xiaofeng,
Professor Zhang Qiusheng and Mr. Wang Dan, has been
established.
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On 27 February 2019, the Board of the Company announced
that TC Capital International Limited (“TC Capital”), upon
the approval of the independent board committee, has been
appointed as the independent financial adviser of the
Company to advise the independent board committee on
matters in connection with the proposal.

DEVELOPMENT TREND OF SOLAR ENERGY
INDUSTRY

The global energy structure has undergone significant
changes, and the solar energy power industry has
continued to grow steadily

Currently, facing the severe challenges of exhausting fossil
energy and global warming, it has been the common
consensus and unanimous action of the countries all over
the world to aggressively develop renewable energy to
replace traditional fossil energy so as to achieve energy
transformation and low-carbon development. Renewable
energy has therefore gained strong support and achieved
rapid development around the world.

As an integral part of renewable energy, solar energy has
continued to grow steadily around the world in recent
years. According to the statistics of Energy Trend, an
international market research institution, the global newly
installed capacity of solar reached 103GW in 2018, with the
cumulative installed capacity of more than 500GW. In 2019,
the global solar PV market is expected to continue to grow.
According to the research institutions such as Energy Trend,
HIS and PV Info Link, the newly installed capacity of PV is
estimated to exceed 110GW in 2019.
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With the acceleration of grid parity for global solar
power generation, the times when there is no subsidy
are coming

The global solar power generation industry had long been
relying on subsidies and support from governments due to
high power generation cost as it did not qualify for grid
parity. However, with the technology advancement and
economies of scale of the solar energy industry, as well as
the policy of reducing subsidies and competitive tariff
bidding for solar power generation implemented by major
countries around the world, the cost of solar power
generation has sharply declined. Currently, solar power
generation has achieved grid parity in some countries and
regions in Europe, the Americas, the Middle East and Asia
Pacific.

In China, the “13th Five-Year Plan for the Development of
Solar Energy Industry” issued by National Energy
Administration in December 2016 specified that the goal of
grid parity in terms of power consumption would be
achieved by 2020. On 31 May 2018, the “Notice on Matters
Related to Photovoltaic Power Generation in 2018" was
jointly issued by the National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC, the Ministry of Finance, and the
National Energy Administration, which clearly stated that
“encouraging local governments to support the
development of photovoltaic industry in accordance with
their respective policies substantially enacted, and
arranging their own photovoltaic power generation projects
that do not need national subsidies according to the
requirements for grid connection and market consumption

and other relevant requirements”
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On 7 January 2019, the National Development and Reform
Commission and the National Energy Administration jointly
issued the “Notice on Actively Promoting Grid Parity for

Unsubsidized Wind Power and Solar Power Generation

Projects” (BARTEGELERE - AR B ESEBMFELEEH
T{EHEAN) ), stating that solar power generation “has

substantially qualified for parity with the benchmark on-grid
tariff of coal-fired power (without national subsidies) in the
areas with excellent resources, low construction costs and
good investment and market conditions’, and requiring local
governments to “advance the construction of pilot projects
of wind power and solar power generation grid parity with
the benchmark on-grid tariff of coal-fired power that do not
need national subsidies, in line with their resources,
consumption and new technology applications’ Since then,
the grid parity of solar power generation in China has
accelerated, and the times when there is no subsidy are
coming.

The times of mobile energy focusing on thin film solar
technology are coming with promising future in the
industry

With the significant advantages of lightness, thinness,
flexibility, good performance in power generation under
weak light conditions, high sunlight-to-electricity conversion
efficiency and etc., thin-film solar technology empowers
everything by closely integrating with all industries, so as
not to rely on traditional energies and power grids, and thus

is a core technology of mobile energy.

Currently, since the thin-film solar technology has matured
and equipped with large-scale industrialization conditions, it
has been successfully applied in many sectors including
BIPV, aerospace, transportation, outdoor supplies,
consumer electronics and military-civilian integration. On 11
April 2018, the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology, the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development, the Ministry of Transport, the Ministry of
Agriculture and Rural Affairs, the National Energy
Administration and the State Council Poverty Alleviation
Office jointly issued the “Action Plan for the Development
of Intelligent Photovoltaic Industry (2018-2020)" ( (% &g

REXZERITEFTE (2018-2020%)) ),

clearly requiring to
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“promote the combination of advanced photovoltaic
products with consumer electronics, outdoor products,
vehicles, aerospace, military and defense, etc., and
encourage the development of various mobile products
such as solar energy charging bags, backpacks, clothing,
solar powered drones and fast-charging power stations” The
introduction of such policy will certainly advance the wide
application of thin film solar technology and products in the
mobile energy sector.

On 28 May 2018, at the 12th (2018) International Solar and
Intelligent Energy Forum of SNEC, the first Global Mobile
Energy Conference was successfully held, at which experts,
scholars, government officials and business representatives
from various countries around the world were present. The
global mobile energy industry is growing rapidly, and the
times when mobile energy powers everything is coming.

In particular, with the acceleration of grid parity of global
solar energy power generation and in the times of non-
subsidy, mobile energy applications without grid connection
and subsidies will usher in significant development
opportunities that we have never seen before, thus driving
the explosive growth of the thin film solar industry.
According to the estimates of Accenture, the annual
marketable size for global thin-film solar products will
exceed RMB110 trillion by 2020.
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2018 BUSINESS REVIEW OF THE GROUP

The thin-film solar technology outperforms the world,
leading the industry in terms of the number and quality
of patents

During the year, the Group maintained a leading position in
several technology lines of copper indium gallium selenide
(CIGS) and gallium arsenide (GaAs) in the world. In
particular, the conversion efficiency of the effective area of
CIGS Solibro's glass-based modules, the lab efficiency of
CIGS MiaSole's flexible cells and the lab efficiency of CIGS
GSE's flexible cells of the Group reached 18.72%, 19.4%
and 19.3%, respectively, all of which were at the leading
level in the world. The lab efficiency of GaAs single junction
cells reached 29.1%, and the efficiency of single junction
modules reached 25.1%, hitting the world record of
conversion efficiency of GaAs single junction cells and
single junction modules respectively. In addition, the lab
efficiency of the Group’s high efficiency silicon
heterojunction (SHJ) cells also recorded a new high of
24.23% during the year and it obtained JET certification in
Japan. Among the eight records of the highest conversion
efficiency of solar cells in China issued by the Chinese
Renewable Energy Society’'s Photovoltaic Professional
Committee in 2018, the Group held four records of CIGS
cells, GaAs single junction cells, GaAs double junction cells
and SHJ cells, accounting for a half of the highest
conversion efficiency records of cells in China.

With its strong research and development capabilities and
technology strengths, the number and quality of the
Group's patents were also at the leading level in the
industry. As at 31 December 2018, the Group's patent
applications exceeded 5,000 in aggregate. On 16 December
2018, the Group was granted the “China’s Patent” award
for its patent “an atomization device for production of alloy
metal powder” at the “China’s Patent” Awards Presentation
Ceremony of the Bank of Communications Cup 2018, which
was jointly organized by the SIPOP and the China
Intellectual Property Development Alliance.
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Significant progress has been made in the research and
development as well as localization of equipment
production lines, and the industrialization of the
packaging production line of HanTile has been
completed

During the year, the Group actively promoted the research
and development as well as localization of thin-film solar
equipment production lines, especially core equipment, and
continued to improve the capability to deliver and
competitiveness of thin-film solar production line solutions.
As at 31 December 2018, the Group has completed the
manufacturing and assembly of Coater equipment of CIGS
Solibro’s production line and assembly of RC equipment of
CIGS MiaSole's production line, as well as completed the
independent research and development of packaging
equipment of CIGS GSE's production line and PECVD
equipment of high-efficiency silicon heterojunction SHJ
production line. As the Group’s capability to deliver
production lines has been significantly improved during the
year, several production line projects in the delivery pipeline
are being put into production step by step as scheduled.

In addition, the Group also completed the design and
development of the packaging production lines of Solibro’s
Hanwall and GSE's HanTile and the industrialization of the
packaging production line of MiaSole's HanTile during the
year.

Since five types of products were marketed in bulk and
well received, our product innovation capabilities have
been highly recognized in the industry

During the year, our five types of products, namely HanTile,
Hanwall, HanPack, HanPaper and Humbrella, were marketed
in bulk and well received by the market, with supply falling
short of demand.
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On 15 April 2018, the Group held a press conference for a
“HanTile"
introduction of pioneering double-glass triple-curved tiles

new product series in Beijing. Following the
last year, the Group has further launched a series of
innovative products, including single-glass triple-curved
tiles, colored HanTile and tubular tiles, realizing a perfect
combination of thin film solar technology and architecture,
thus enabling each house to generate power with “zero
energy consumption”

On 27 April, the Group held a ceremony to launch 2018
Humbrella community project of Hanergy “Lighting Africa”
in Beijing, at which the Group released the new thin film
solar energy product “Humbrella” The product adopts the
form of an ordinary umbrella, featuring four major functions
of off-grid power supply, power storage, lighting at night
and terminal charging, to fulfill the basic electricity
demands in the regions with power supply difficulty,

especially in Africa.

On 13 June, the Group released a series of new consumer
electronics including HanPack and HanPaper at CES Asia
2018 in Shanghai, demonstrating to the world the perfect
integration of mobile energy with consumer electronics,
which addresses charging concerns and makes it possible
that “electricity is available as long as in the sun”

On 29 September, the Group held a global press
conference for a new thin film solar product “HanWall” at
the main venue in Beijing and in six parallel sessions in Los
Angeles in the USA, Sao Paulo in Brazil, Tokyo in Japan, and
etc. This product innovatively “implants” the cutting-edge
thin-film solar technology into glass to turn ordinary glass
into new high-tech green power generation building
materials, thus enabling each wall to generate electricity

and turning each building into a green power station.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ETE®RE

The Group has been highly recognized in the industry in
terms of its product innovation capabilities. On 21 April
2018, the opening ceremony of the World Industrial Design
Conference was held in Hangzhou, China, at which the
Group’s HanTile product series won TIA Top Ecological
Design Award. On 6-7 September 2018, at the Creative
International Innovation Festival 2018 held in Beijing, a
series of our products including HanPack, HanPaper and
Humbrella won the Gold Prize for Science and Technology
Innovation. The fourth generation of GaAs solar cells of the
Group were also shortlisted for the Prism Awards for
Photonics Innovation 2019, which, known as the “Oscar in
Photonics Industry’ aims to recognize the best new
photonics products in the global market.

With more than 25 certifications of our core products at
home and abroad, our group management has obtained
the first integrated management system certification in
the industry in the world

As at 31 December 2018, our five types of products,
namely HanTile, HanWall, HanPack, HanPaper and
Humbrella, have obtained more than 25 certifications for a
variety of products at different levels at home and abroad,
covering a number of countries and regions including China,
the USA, Australia and the EU. Such products and
certifications therefore fill in the gap in this sector both at
home and abroad.

In addition, the Group obtained ISO 9001:2015, ISO
14001:2015 and ISO 45001:2018 Group Management
System Certification on 7 January 2019, and obtained the
first ISO 9001/ISO 14001/ISO 45001 integrated
management system certification in the thin film solar
industry in the world issued by TUV SUD Greater China
Group on 14 January 2019. The successful obtaining of such
certifications is the result of the Group's long-term
continuous efforts in management regulation and
standardization.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ETE®RE

Downstream business showed positive growth
momentum, achieving significant breakthroughs in
overseas sales

During the year, the downstream business of the Group
showed positive growth momentum and a number of high-
quality projects were implemented in bulk. In particular, the
BIPV Project for Overseas Chinese Town in Heyuan,
Guangdong Province is the first commercial application for
the Group's HanWall product, and is also the largest
HanWall project in terms of installed capacity of a single
building so far; the Group’s thin film solar roof-top project
of China Zun, the highest building in Beijing, won the first
prize of the China Distributed Energy Project 2018 at China
Distributed Energy International Forum 2018 (14th) held in
August 2018.

In order to further expand overseas markets, the Group
enhanced the establishment of sales network and sales
force overseas during the year, leading to a major
breakthrough in overseas sales. As at 31 December 2018,
the Group has formed 32 national companies around the
world and contracted with major customers from a number
of countries including Japan, Australia, the USA, Vietnam,
and etc. In particular, the Group entered into a supply
contract for HanTile amounting up to RMB900 million with
Forest Global Stage, a building photovoltaic conglomerate
in Japan, on 7 September 2018; and entered into a supply
contract for HanWall and other products for a term of three
years with Environmental Technology Solutions in Australia
on 28 November 2018, with an annual supply of 30,000
square meters.

During the year, the Group also cooperated with Aurora
Flight Sciences, a subsidiary of Boeing Company, to provide
the global leading flexible GaAs thin film cells solution for
its large solarpowered unmanned aircraft, which enables
the unmanned aircraft to fly effectively and infinitely
powered only by solar energy. The National Aeronautics and
Space Administration (NASA) is also conducting a test on
the Group's flexible GaAs thin film cells at the International
Space Station to assess whether it can be used in NASAs
low-Earth orbit missions in future, including powering
CubeSats.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ETE®RE

2019 OUTLOOK OF THE GROUP

Looking forward to 2019, the Group will seize the
opportunities arising from significant changes in the global
energy structure and rapid development of the thin film
solar industry by improving its thin film solar energy
technology continuously, thus maintaining and consolidating
its leading position in the global thin film solar industry. In
addition, focusing on the upstream and downstream of the
thin-film solar energy industry chain, it will continue to lead
the development of the thin-film solar energy industry.

At the upstream end of the industry chain, the Group will
continue to invest in the research and development of thin
film solar technology, and hold and refresh the world
records of conversion efficiency of thin film solar energy
technology; accelerate the development and localization of
thin film solar equipment production lines, especially core
equipment, in an effort to achieve 100% localization rate of
the equipment production lines of all technology lines of
the Group as soon as possible; and continue to promote
the industrialization, and marketization of thin film solar
technology through cooperation with mobile energy
intelligent manufacturing bases in different regions around
the world.

At the downstream end of the industry chain, the Group
will, centralizing three major areas of housing, usage and
transportation and focusing on three major application
sectors of green building, eco-city and mobile energy,
constantly develop and introduce differentiated innovative
products and solutions; based on the domestic market,
intensify the expansion of international market, and provide
customers with global leading thin-film solar products and
solutions by the combination of direct sales to large clients
and distribution by distributors; and take all measures on a
customer-oriented basis to significantly reduce product
costs and enhance market competitiveness.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREBE

We believe that the global leading thin-film solar technology T IFE AEE L2 RELEMNEE KGR
and innovative thin-film solar products and solutions of the 17 U R AIFHHEREE KB E B EBER
Group, by enabling all things to generate power, will surely 2 BBEBTFTEMABRSHEGCEEREEN
integrate into and change our lives in all aspects with the AL - N R Z B a2 IRER & # B 2k M
advent of the mobile energy times, realizing "Efforts AWEAEEN T ITEE  ER[RHWE T -
Joined, Everything Powered” The Group will be better EB¥EE]| - AEEN_T—NF—FTEFI |
looking into 2019!

On behalf of the Board of the Company, | would like to take ke  REREAQNFEESREERE
this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to all the MEBEHE—BUXRABLTFHIERRELD
shareholders and business partners for their long-term B WHE2EETHE N M BEIEUAH B
support, and sincere thanks to all the staff for their efforts = |

and contributions during the year!

Yuan Yabin ROW
Chairman E
29 March 2019 —E-AF=A=+AA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS MODEL

Hanergy Thin Film Power Group Limited (the “Company”) is
a high-tech new energy enterprise listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. It has been engaged in the thin film solar
energy business since 2009. Its principal activities include
(i) the research and development, design, assembling, sales
and delivery of production equipment and turnkey
production lines for thin-film solar energy cells/modules as
well as the provision of related technical services; (ii) the
research and development, design, sales and delivery of
thin-film solar energy power generation systems and
products of mobile energy applications; and (iii) provision of
technical services and support, construction and
maintenance to upstream production lines and downstream
applications and products.

The Group has been actively involved the investment,
research and development of globally advanced thin-film
solar energy technologies, and has deployed research and
development teams of scientists at various locations around
the globe, including the United States, Germany, Sweden
as well as China for continuous improvements in the
conversion rates of thin-film cells and technological
research and development capabilities. Currently, the Group
has acquired the most advanced technologies in the world
such as copper indium gallium selenium (CIGS), gallium
arsenide (GaAs) and high efficiency silicon hetero junction
(SHJ) technologies, and by continues improvement of the
conversion rates of thin film cells and technological
research and development capabilities, it has established a
unique competitive advantage.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS MODEL (continued)

The Group has continued to maintain its position as the
world's advanced high-tech energy company in the field of
thin-film power generation. To capture the opportunity of
economic transformation and upgrade, the Group has
established close cooperative relationships with a number
of “mobile energy industrial parks” in recent years,
delivering high-end equipment and production-line
“turnkey"” solutions. For the downstream solar energy
applications, the Group continued to adopt the mature
business model of key customers and distributors, and
actively explored market potential by developing overseas
distributors at the same time. Meanwhile, the Group took
advantage of its own innovative technological edge, focused
on applying thin-film solar energy technology to daily life,
and developed various types of products with cutting-edge
thin-film applications. Satisfactory results were also
achieved in distributed energy and mobile energy solutions.

The Group enjoys indisputable recognitions of its leading
position and brand influence in the industry. At the end of
2017, it was selected by Thomson Reuters, a multinational
media and consultancy company, as one of the “Top 100
Global Energy Leaders’ and listed among the top 25 in the
area of renewable energy. We were the only Chinese thin-
film solar energy company on the list.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
recorded a revenue of HK$21,251,772,000, representing a
strong growth of approximately 246% increase as
compared with 2017, of which revenue from upstream
business and downstream business took up 92% and 8%
of the Group’'s revenue, respectively. The gross profit for
the year increased from HK$2,675,241,000 in 2017 to
HK$12,122,362,000.

The Group recorded a profit of HK$5,193,068,000 in 2018,
compared to HK$261,032,000 last year, representing a 18.9
times increase. It was mainly attributable to a number of
factors including major technological breakthrough of the
Group, the great support of state policies for industries in
thin-film power generation, mobile energy, high-end
equipment production, new energies and new materials, as
well as the excellent development in industrial parks, which
helped the Company achieve relatively great progress in the
upstream business during the period.

In recent years, the Group has been committed to exploring
multiple sources of income and businesses, and has been
substantially reducing its reliance on connected
transactions with Hanergy Mobile Energy Holding Group
Co. Ltd., Hanergy Hydropower Group (previously known as
Hanergy Holding Group) and its affiliates (“Hanergy
Affiliates”). The secured debts owed by Hanergy Affiliates
to the Group were fully repaid before the end of March
2018, which was one and a half years earlier than
scheduled.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

With the support of national policies and the increasing
voice of the society for the protection of green
environment, the proportion of clean energy consumption
has been increasing, and solar energy power generation,
with its growth following an upward trend, has become one
of the fastest growing renewable energy markets in the
world and in China. While the National Energy
Administration of China issued “the Notice on Matters
Related to Photovoltaic Power Generation in 2018" on 31
May to reduce photovoltaic subsidies and regulate the
development of distributed photovoltaics, thus putting the
production side under pressure, but the National Energy
Administration subsequently emphasised that “the direction
of developing photovoltaics and the state’s support for the
photovoltaic industry are unwavering.” It is clear that the
purpose of the policy is to rectify the problem of the
traditional photovoltaic energy enterprises that are confined
in a single development model and relying on subsidies, so
as to promote healthier and more orderly development of
the photovoltaic industry. Looking back on 2018, China's
solar energy power generation industry was still able to
maintain steady and healthy growth despite the
introduction of the 531 new policy. The cumulative installed
capacity of solar power in the country reached 174GW,
representing an increase of 34% vyear-on-year, and newly
installed capacity was approximately 44GW.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The Group insists to use thin-film solar energy as its core
technology and have not relied too much on state
subsidies, and as such it is less affected by the new
regulation. During the year of industrial transformation and
upgrading, the Group continued to focus strategically on
upstream core technology research and development,
production equipment delivery, and downstream diversified
applications of thin film solar energy to create a mobile
energy ecosystem and provide solutions for an “ecological
city” During the year, new industrial park customers were
added to the upstream business, and new downstream,
subversive green building materials and application
products such as “HanWall’ single glass “HanTile” and
multi-functional umbrella “Humbrella” were introduced.
Among them, “HanWall” is the world's first “Green System
Solution with Power Generation Walls’, which combines
safety and power generation efficiency. Meanwhile, the
Group also actively expanded its application sales business,
which contributed to the steady progression during the
year.

A. Organization Structure:

The Group carried out an organizational restructuring
during the year to optimize the corporate structure of
internal governance on a continuous basis, and to
promote the upstream and downstream business
development. To fit in to the Group's global business
deployment, the upstream and downstream marketing
headquarters are differentiated by application products
in order to create a more efficient structure, which
includes the downstream products HanTile, HanWall,
HanRoad, HanCar, HanPaper, HanPack, Humbrella,
distributed/EPC, as well as the upstream marketing of
production lines. These are consolidated into a “Global
Market Sales Group” At the same time, the Group
also added the “Pricing Management Centre” and
“Risk Control Centre” to meet the needs of business
operation as well as to further optimize the
organizational structure of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN SRR

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥ OE e

A. Organization Structure: (continued) A HBER:(E
The organization structure of the Group as at 31 WTAREBR _Z—NFE+ A
December 2018 is as follows: =+ —BZHEBEEE :
Board of Directors Global Corporate Culture Headquarters
. ) 358 ] EREE LB
Nomination Committee
REREE Global Human Resources Headquarters
B 2IRANEREE
Audit Committee - -
EREEE . Global Financial Manfgemem Headquarters
SHEEERAR
Remuneration Committee Global Supply Chain Management Headquarters
FMWEES ] FRHERERAY
L Global Branding & Marketing Headquarters
Hanergy Thin Film 2 PIEETISE AT
Supervision Department Power_Group
EEgTeg Limited Global Intellectual Property & Standards Management Headquarters
ERERERE ERABERNEEETAR
SEBRAA
Global Application Products Development Headquarters

Miasole High-end Equipment Industrial Co. | A o s
Miasole Sin#EERE D7) ] FHERERTRAN

Solibro High-end Equipment Industrial Co. Global Customer Service Headquarters

SolibroB ik BEL AT ] ] 2HEFREEL

Global Big Data Headquarters

GSE High-end Equipment Industrial Co. N
2RABIEL

GSERREBEXLT

Investment Management Centre
REBERL

Alta High-end Equipment Industrial Co.
Ata@inREEXAT

Strategic Development Centre

HIT High-end Equipment Industrial Co. B REAN

HTSREBEXLR

T AR IR 22 6 S S

Project Management Centre
HEEEHN

dnolg se|es 183Je|A [BqO|D

Hanergy Precision Equipment Industrial Co.

ERBIREEXLT —

dnoug ABojouyos] 1uswdinb3 ABisuey

Legal Affairs Centre
SRS

Investor Relations Centre

REEBBEHL

Quality and Process Management Centre

HBEREEENL

Information Management Centre
EEEEDL

Administration Centre
THEERN

Pricing Management Centre
EEEERL

Risk Control Centre

BB

Security Centre
| REER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business:

The upstream business of the Group mainly includes
the research and development, design, sales and
delivery of thin-film solar energy cells/modules
production equipment and whole production lines, as
well as the provision of supporting technical services.
On the backdrop of the vigorous promotion of energy
structure transformation by Chinese government, the
Group cooperated with multiple mobile energy
industrial parks, actively promoting the turnkey
projects and large-scale localisation of production lines
for the thin-film solar energy module production
equipment.

In 2018, the Group continued to focus on industrial
park projects by designing and assembling the turnkey
solution production lines of thin-film solar energy cells
and modules. For the financial year ended 31
December 2018, the Group’s upstream business
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$19.55 billion,
contributed by the research and development, design
and sales of high-end equipment production lines for
thin-film solar energy, including MiaSolé, Solibro,
Global Solar Energy (GSE), Alta Devices and SHJ.

Our Thin-film Solar Technology Hits New High

The Group has been focusing on technological
breakthroughs and innovative research and
development for many years. It has set up
professional research and development teams at
various locations around the globe, including the
United States, Germany, Sweden and China for the
enhancement of various technologies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN SRR

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

Our Thin-film Solar Technology Hits New High
(continued)

In 2018, the conversion efficiency of the Group’s thin-
film solar energy modules reached another new high.
In particular, Solibro’s top mass production of winner
glass-based CIGS modules of the Group reached a
conversion efficiency of 18.72% and Solibro’s modules
obtained TUV SUD product certification in October
2018; the conversion efficiency of MiaSolé flexible cell
modules reached 19.4%; GSE's third-generation cell
modules obtained the highest level 6 certification on
salt spray of IEC, with its R&D conversion efficiency
enhanced from 18.7% to 19.3%, while the conversion
efficiency of the top mass production of the winner
modules reached 16.3% and a certificate was
awarded, representing the first of such honour in the
industry’s certification.

The mass production efficiency of Alta Devices' GaAs
single junction modules reached 25.1%, and obtained
the Fraunhofer ISE CalLab solar energy modules
certification on 14 November 2017 In June 2018, the
single junction efficiency reached 28.9%, and obtained
the U.S. National Renewable Energy Laboratory
(NREL) certification, refreshing the world’s single
junction record it had already held. By optimizing the
cells, the efficiency of the new samples reached
29.1% during the test by FraunhoferISE in Germany in
November 2018, further refreshing the world single
junction record it held as shown on the NRELSs
research and development efficiency chart in
December this year; the R&D efficiency of the Group’s
SHJ cell was as high as 24.23%, which was certified
by Japan Electrical Safety and Environment Technology
Laboratories (JET). This demonstrated the constant
technology advancement of the Group in the past year
and the recognition of our leading technological
advantages in the industry.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

Actively Promoting the Strategic Development of
Industrial Park Projects

In recent years, the Chinese government has been
promoting energy transformation, low-carbon
development, as well as strategic public-private
partnerships (PPP). One of the most representative
case of these is mobile energy industrial park. As the
industrial park project companies have commenced
mass production of thin film modules with the support
of local governments, combined with the increasing
demand for thin-film solar energy products, the Group
believes that it will generate considerable sales
revenue to the industrial park projects.

In 2018, Hanergy Thin Film Power, continued to
provide the industrial parks being the purchaser of
equipment and technology, with a series of turnkey
production lines, including CIGS, GaAs and high-
efficiency silicon hetero junction (SHJ). During the
year, the Group's major customers of industrial park
projects included Mianyang Industrial Park, Datong
Industrial Park and Zibo Industrial Park, as well as the
newly added Anhui Bengbu Jinneng Mobile Energy
Industrial Park, all contributing to the regional
economic development and transformation.

During the period, the delivery of contracted projects
was carried out and part of the payments was
received. The Group is currently in negotiation with
more industrial parks, including those in foreign
countries. It is expected that similar industrial park
projects will be contracted in the future. This will
contribute to the results in the next few years.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥FEOE e

26

Upstream Business: (continued)

Actively Promoting the Strategic Development of
Industrial Park Projects (continued)

Anhui Bengbu Jinneng Mobile Energy Industrial Park
Project

In June 2018, Hanergy Affiliates entered into a sales
contract with Bengbu Jinneng Mobile Energy
(“Bengbu Jinneng”) Project Company through a
distributor for the provision of a 300MW GSE CIGS
thin film solar cell and module production line and a
300MW CIGS thin film solar cell and three-curved
single-glass HanTile production line to Anhui Bengbu
Jinneng at a total price of RMB3.635 billion. In June
2018, Bengbu Jinneng Mobile Energy Co., Ltd.
entered into another sales contract with Hanergy
Affiliates. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
contract, the authorised distributors of Hanergy
Affiliates will provide technical services for the
300MW GSE CIGS thin-film solar cell and 300MW
HanTile production lines to Bengbu Jinneng Mobile
Energy Co., Ltd. at a consideration of RMB669 million.

Bengbu Jinneng is a new energy company focusing on
and developing towards the research and
development, production, manufacturing and sales
services of solar cells and modules, semiconductor
chips and building materials. The project complies with
the national industrial policy and development
strategy, and is in line with the industrial development
direction of Bengbu City, Anhui Province. By taking
advantage of the existing comprehensive industrial
systems of mechanical, chemical, electronics, building
materials and other industries, we can assist a
number of electromechanical automation equipment
companies to become the supplier of this project, so
as to facilitate to form an industrial cluster of localised
semiconductor and solar energy equipment.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

Actively Promoting the Strategic Development of
Industrial Park Projects (continued)

Anhui Bengbu Jinneng Mobile Energy Industrial Park
Project

The preliminary planning and design of Bengbu
Jinneng Industrial Park project was completed on 14
December 2018. The civil work of the plant was
commenced on 18 December 2018, and will be ready
for equipment move-in by middle of May 2019.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥FEOE e

Upstream Business: (continued)

Actively Promoting the Strategic Development of
Industrial Park Projects (continued)

B.

LR ()
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Sichuan Mianyang Industrial Park Project D)1 4518 2= 2 E 15
On 18 May 2017, Mianyang Fucheng district )j/\\—ﬁ—tiﬂﬂ—f—)\a » 48 B2 T S
government and Hanergy Affiliates entered into a B BT B A NEIEIS—EABR

cooperation agreement in relation to a mobile energy
industrial park project (“Mianyang Industrial Park
Project”), pursuant to which investment will be made
for the construction and installation of CIGS and GaAs
thin film solar energy modules production lines in
Fucheng District, Mianyang City, Sichuan Province.

@Jamﬁé%ﬂlﬁﬁ MEEGR ((REE
XEBER]  FEROIERETIER
&R & 1TCIGS R GaAsiE & K 5 e 48 1
HEGERRZE REEXEBRES

RUE - B EIHA600MW CIGSTE &
K5 ae 4 1 R20MWR £ GaAsTE B K 5

Mianyang Industrial Park Project comprises four MR ES IR EE B N REGRE
phases, of which phase | involves 600MW CIGS thin T —E—+EXNA AEFREEE
film solar energy modules and 20MW flexible GaAs EEIEE AR —HEEAR B4

thin film solar energy modules production lines, with

f5 & ¥ B R HE600MW GSE CIGSIHE 4

the total investment amount of RMB6.6 billion. In B BEBANANRKI7IE5ET - Tk
June 2017, the Group entered into a sales contract BIER®ERHARB4.9MET RE R
with the Mianyang Industrial Park project company, to ARG AR 635ETT

provide the 600MW GSE CIGS thin-film production

lines to Mianyang Industrial Park at an aggregate price

of approximately RMB3.755 billion, including a former

contract of approximately RMB3.491 billion and latter

contract of approximately RMB263.5 million.

Currently, 26% of the commenced 300MW production BRI R B HE00MWE SR ETHEHE
line equipment has been delivered. For the financial EH26% - BE-—_E—NE+ - A

year ended 31 December 2018, revenue generated

from the contract amounted to approximately HK$964

million.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

Actively Promoting the Strategic Development of
Industrial Park Projects (continued)

Shanxi Datong Industrial Park Project

In July 2017, Datong municipal government of Shanxi
Province, Datong Coal Mine Group Co., Ltd. and
Hanergy Mobile Energy Holding Co., Ltd., (a Hanergy
Affiliate) entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement in relation to a mobile energy industrial
park project (“Datong Industrial Park Project”), to
invest in the construction and installation of CIGS thin-
film solar power modules production lines in Datong,
Shanxi Province. As of 31 December 2018, all of the
250 MW glass-based CIGS thin film module
production line equipment of phase | project has been
moved into the plant, and all the equipment of the
50MW flexible CIGS thin film module production line
has been completely installed.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018,
revenue generated from the contract amounted to

approximately HK$145 million.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

Actively Promoting the Strategic Development of
Industrial Park Projects (continued)

Shandong Zibo Industrial Park Project

In December 2014, Zibo municipal government of
Shandong Province entered into a cooperation
framework agreement in relation to a solar energy
industrial park project (“Zibo Industrial Park Project”)
with Hanergy Holding (now renamed as “Hanergy
Hydropower”), to invest in the construction and
installation of 3GW CIGS thin film solar energy
modules production lines in Zibo, Shandong Province.
In October 2017, Hanergy Hydropower transferred
57% equity interests of Zibo Industrial Park Project
Company to Dongteng Investment Group Co., Ltd.
(formerly known as “Huafengyuan Investment (Beijing)
Co., Ltd.").

In January 2016, the Group entered into a sales
contract with Zibo Industrial Park Project Company to
sell the 300MW MiaSolé CIGS thin film solar energy
production line to Zibo Industrial Park Project
Company at the price of US$390 million. On 27 April
2017, the Group entered into another sales contract
with Zibo Industrial Park Project Company, to sell the
300MW Solibro CIGS thin film solar energy production
line to Zibo Industrial Park Project Company at the
price of US$390 million.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

Actively Promoting the Strategic Development of
Industrial Park Projects (continued)

Shandong Zibo Industrial Park Project (continued)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the
construction of the 300MW MiaSolé CIGS thin film
solar energy production line has been completed, and
the 300MW Solibro production line is in the process
of trial production. The total revenue generated from
the contracts in relation to the above two production
lines amounted to approximately HK$1.745 billion

during the year.

Proactively Exploring New Major Customers to
Diversify the Upstream Business

The Group took an active approach in exploring major
third-party customers in order to diversify our
upstream business. In 2018, our major customers’
projects mainly included Jingzhou Shunbai Project,
Chengdu Dongteng (previously known as
“Huafengyuan”) Project, Nanjing Yineng Project,
Heilongjiang Yineng Project and Dezhou Yineng
Project.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

Proactively Exploring New Major Customers to
Diversify the Upstream Business (continued)

Jingzhou Shunbai Project

In May 2017 the Group entered into a 300MW
amorphous silicon BIPV thin film modules production
line sales contract and the corresponding technical
support and services agreement with Jingzhou
Shunbai Solar Power Company Limited (“Jingzhou
Shunbai”) for the provision of 300MW amorphous
silicon BIPV thin film production line and
corresponding technical support and services at the
prices of US$57 million and US$156 million
respectively. The equipment has been delivered and is
now under installation, and the stage payments will
be made subject to the progress of delivery. For the
financial year ended 31 December 2018, revenue from
the contracts was approximately HK$185 million.

In September 2017, the Group entered into a 150MW
Solibro CIGS thin film modules production line sales
contract and the corresponding technical support and
services agreement with Jingzhou Shunbai Industrial
Park Project Company for the provision of Solibro
150MW CIGS thin film production line and the
corresponding technical services at the prices of
RMB$619.2 million and RMB$333.4 million
respectively. Part of the equipment has been delivered
and is now under installation, and the stage payments
will be made subject to the progress of delivery. For
the financial year ended 31 December 2018, revenue
from the contracts was approximately HK$629 million.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

Proactively Exploring New Major Customers to
Diversify the Upstream Business (continued)

Jingzhou Shunbai Project (continued)

In January 2018, the Group entered into a 150MW
MiaSolé CIGS thin film modules production line sales
contract and a services and technical support
agreement with Jingzhou Shunbai Industrial Park
Project Company, at an aggregate price of RMB746.9
million. Part of the equipment has been delivered and
is now under installation. The stage payments will be
made subject to the progress of the delivery. For the
financial year ended 31 December 2018, revenue from
the contracts was approximately HK$287 million.

Chengdu Dongteng Thin Film Solar (formerly known as
Chengdu Huafengyuan) Project

On 26 October 2017, the Group entered into a 600MW
SHJ thin film modules production line sales contract
with Huafengyuan (Chengdu) New Energy Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Chengdu Huafengyuan”) to install and
develop its SHJ thin film modules production lines for
agricultural solar energy applications in Chengdu, the
PRC. Pursuant to the contract, the Group shall provide
600MW SHJ thin film solar power modules production
lines to Chengdu Huafengyuan at the price of
approximately RMB1.4 billion.

The Group entered into the corresponding technical
support and service agreements with Chengdu
Dongteng Thin Film Solar Energy Co., Ltd. (“Chengdu
Dongteng Thin Film’ formerly known as Huafengyuan
(Chengdu) New Energy Technology Co., Ltd.) on 27
October 2017 and 23 March 2018, respectively, for the
provision of technical service to 120MW and 480MW
SHJ production lines, at an aggregate price of
RMB932.6 million.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

Proactively Exploring New Major Customers to
Diversify the Upstream Business (continued)

Chengdu Dongteng Thin Film Solar (formerly known as
Chengdu Huafengyuan) Project (continued)

In March 2018, the first production line of 120MW
was commissioned for pilot test. Currently, it is in the
process of ramping up its capacity, with the output of
7.245MW for the year 2018. Totally 394MW of the
480MW production line has been delivered with the
equipment delivery rate of 82%. As at the financial
year ended 31 December 2018, accumulated revenue
from the above production lines and technical services
contracts was approximately HK$1.662 billion.

On 2 May 2018, the Group entered into a sales
contract and a technical support and service
agreement with Chengdu Dongteng Thin Film, for the
provision of 1560MW MiaSolé CIGS thin film modules
production line and the corresponding technical
support and service, at a total price of RMB893
million. For the financial year ended 31 December
2018, the revenue generated from the contracts was
approximately HK$116 million.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

Proactively Exploring New Major Customers to
Diversify the Upstream Business (continued)

Nanjing Yineng Project

By 12 June 2018, the Group entered into a 300MW
Solibro CIGS thin film modules product line sales
contract and a technical support and services
agreement with Huaxia Yineng (Nanjing) New Energy
Co., Ltd ("Nanjing Yineng"”) for the provision of
300MW Solibro CIGS thin film modules production
line and the corresponding technical support and
services to Nanjing Yineng at the prices of RMB1.24
billion and RMB667 million respectively. Positive
progress has been made in project delivery. Part of
the equipment is now under installation, and stage
payments will be made subject to the progress of the
delivery. For the financial year ended 31 December
2018, revenue generated from this contract was
approximately HK$1.653 billion.

Heilongjiang Yineng Project

In 2017, the Group entered into a sales contract and a
technical support and services agreement with
Heilongjiang Huaxia Yineng New Energy Technology
Limited (“Heilongjiang Yineng”) for the provision of
300MW Solibro CIGS thin film solar energy modules
production lines and the corresponding technical
support and services. Positive progress has been
made in project delivery. Part of the equipment is now
under installation, and the stage payments will be
made subject to the progress of the delivery. For the
financial year ended 31 December 2018, revenue
generated from the contract was approximately
HK$1.193 billion.
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Upstream Business: (continued) B. Lk (&)

Proactively Exploring New Major Customers to BHBERTAESF ZEIELFFES(E)
Diversify the Upstream Business (continued)

Dezhou Yineng Project ZN ZEEE

In 2017 the Group entered into a sales contract and a RIBHRMEEMN S EFRBERZERA
technical support and services agreement with A(EMNGE])R-_E—+iT7—1H
Dezhou Yineng New Energy Technology Co., Ltd. EARE—HEMYELERBEHE B
("Dezhou Yineng") for the provision of 300MW Solibro H300MW Solibro CIGSE I8 A [5 &t 48 {4
CIGS thin film solar power modules production line SEREFEMEEBEMRSE  - BB KK
and technical support and services. Positive progress EHEREMER SN0 RBEBLELTE
has been made in project delivery. Part of the R BB ERBLSEER TR
equipment is now under installation, and stage H-HE-_ZEZ—N\F+-_A=+—HI1t
payments will be made subject to the progress of the BBEE NEREELHWKAL1.79E
delivery. For the financial year ended 31 December T ©

2018, revenue generated from the contract was

approximately HK$1.179 billion.

Downstream Business C. TmEX%

The downstream business of the Group mainly
includes development, design, integration and sales of
thin film solar power generation systems, mobile
energy application products as well as provision of
related services, including: (i) sales of distributed
power generation systems, which consist of
household rooftop power generation systems,
industrial/commercial rooftop power generation
systems, building-integrated solar energy (BIPV)
systems and solar energy agricultural application
systems; (ii) sales of mobile energy application
products; (iii) provision of construction and
maintenance services of solar power stations; and (iv)
EPC work.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)

The Group has introduced four types of household
distributed thin film power generation systems,
including (1) standard product series designed for
household use; (2) small-scale industrial/commercial
product series which utilize idle rooftops of industrial/
commercial buildings for small power stations; (3)
solar shed series applicable to sunshades and
gazebos; and (4) HanTile series power generation
modules which take the shape of the arched roof tiles
used in the traditional Chinese architecture for general
roofing.

With the core technology of the Group, its thin-film
solar products have been widely recognized by the
market. For the financial year ended 31 December
2018, the downstream business recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$1.70 billion.

Green Buildings Powered by New Energy

New energy buildings represent the development
trend of the global construction industry and are also
trendy and fashionable architecture. The Group
focuses on solar energy applications in construction
has launched innovative HanWall, HanTile and BIPV
projects, taking full advantages of thin film solar
energy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN SRR

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)
HanWall

In September 2018, the Group launched HanWall, an
innovative epoch-making thin film solar energy
product. HanWall innovatively “implants” the cutting-
edge thin-film solar technology into glass using the
most advanced glass-based CIGS thin film solar
technology in the world, to turn ordinary glass into
new high-tech green power generation building
materials. Featured by both safety and power
generation efficiency, it is the first “green power
generation wall system solution” in the world,
enabling buildings to actively produce energy without
emissions and reducing impact on the environment,
thus realizing a revolutionary breakthrough in the
application of solar energy in construction.

There are two types of HanWall: the lightproof “power
generation wall” and the light-transmitting “power
generation window’, with power generation capacity
of 140W each piece. As of September 2018, more
than 700 patents and patent applications were
produced during the development of HanWall
products. 3C certification in China and other
certifications of authorities from six countries and
regions around the world were applied and awarded
for HanWall. As a building material, HanWall is
adaptive to extreme variation of temperature ranging
from -40°C to 85°C, and can function normally under
various extreme conditions. It also comes with a 10-
year warranty, ensuring that power output will not be
less than 85% in 25 years.

Since its debut in the market, HanWall has attracted
great attention from all over the world. The Group and
Environmental Technology Solutions in Australia
entered into a sales agreement for the sale of
HanWall, opening a way to HanWall for the access of
international markets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEBNWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(€

Downstream Business (continued)
HanWall (continued)

Case: HanWall BIPV Project for Overseas Chinese
Town in Heyuan, Guangdong Province

The BIPV project for Overseas Chinese Town in
Heyuan, Guangdong Province, being the first project
of practical application for Hanergy's HanWall, has a
total installation area of approximately 2,648m? and
installed capacity of 236.7KW. Its average daily power
output can meet almost 30% electricity demand of
the building, and it is the largest HanWall project in
terms of installed capacity of a single building. The
contract sum of the project is RMB26 million.

Upon the implementation of the project, a
demonstration project combining HanWall power
generation system and construction will be
established, which will showcase a model for HanWall
products, especially the applications for constructions
in cities, demonstrating the best form of
representation of HanWall products in the utilisation
of solar power generation in cities - BIPV. In addition,
such practical application can also accumulate lots of
practical experience and data for HanWall modules,
which will be of great significance to the continuous
development and expansion of HanWall products. A
building becomes a veritable green building by
integrating with HanWall modules, realizing energy
conservation and emission reduction, which is a
perfect combination of economic benefits, social
benefits and ecological benefits.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN SRR

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)
HanTile

Following the introduction of double glass HanTile in
2017, the Group has further launched a series of
innovative products this year, including a new
generation of single glass triple-curved tiles, colored
HanTiles and tubular tiles, which are lighter and
thinner than double glass HanTiles. They also have the
benefits of high-efficiency power generation and high
level of building safety, realizing a perfect combination
of thin-film solar technology and traditional
architecture, thus creating significant commercial and
environmental values to the application of construction
materials.

So far, HanTile has been applied to various
architectural designs, including Swedish villas, nursing
homes in Jilin, Shunyi folk houses in Beijing, Sixian
folk houses in Anhui and buildings of Naxi Race in
Lijiang, Yunnan, and was officially introduced to the
European markets in the first half of 2018. During the
year, the Group entered into a HanTile pre-sale
agreement with Forest Global Stage (FGS)
International Group in Japan, and also launched
HanTile demonstration projects in Hong Kong villas for
further expansion in the market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)
HanTile (continued)

Case: The HanTile Demonstration Project of Hong Lok
Yuen Villa in Tai Po, Hong Kong

The HanTile Demonstration Project of Hong Lok Yuen
Villa in Tai Po, Hong Kong adopts the new generation
of single glass “HanTile” with an installed capacity of
8KW. The project is the first HanTile demonstration
project in Hong Kong, which has a good
demonstration effect as it is located at the main
thoroughfare of the mid- to high-end villa community

in Tai Po, Hong Kong.

Case: The HanTile Project of Taikoo Li Sanlitun in
Beijing

In 2018, the Group completed the HanTile project of
Taikoo Li Sanlitun in Beijing, with an installed capacity
of 16KW. After the installation of “HanTile” on the
rooftop, Taikoo Li Sanlitun in Beijing is not only
environmental-friendly and energy-saving, but has also
become a local commercial landmark with great
demonstration significance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN SRR

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)
HanTile (continued)

Case: The HanTile Project of Taikoo Li Sanlitun in
Beijing (continued)

Established in 1972, Swire Properties Hong Kong has
been committed to the development and management
of commercial, retail, hotel and residential properties,
with the development strategy focusing on the
development of superstructure complexes at major
transportation interchanges. Swire Properties has five
large-scale development projects in Beijing, Shanghai,
Guangzhou and Chengdu, of which Taikoo Li Sanlitun
and The Opposite House Hotel in Chaoyang District,
Beijing are the most prominent.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)
Building-Integrated Photovoltaic

Through the installation of thin film solar power
generation systems in form of solar energy tile roofs,
solar energy sunroofs, solar energy curtain walls, solar
energy railings, solar energy sunshades and solar
energy parking sheds, BIPV projects utilise solar
energy resource to provide clean and free electricity
for the building, and provide one-stop solutions for
product development, product supply, system design,
installation and operation and maintenance. This is a
way to achieve a combination of practical functions in
power generation and aesthetics architecture through
the construction of thin film solar power generation
buildings.

Case: Solar Energy Sunroof System in the Atrium of
Shanxi National Power Generation Dispatching
Complex Building

With the installation area amounting to 800 square
meters, the solar energy sunroof system in the atrium
of Shanxi National Power Generation Dispatching
Complex Building adopts large-size hollow BIPV
sunroofs. In this way, it does not only maintain its
attractive appearance, but also achieve energy
conservation and environmental protection, with the
size of a single module of approximately 8 square
meters. This is a demonstration project of the national
grid.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEBNWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)
Building-Integrated Photovoltaic (continued)

Case: Solar Energy Sunroof System in the Atrium of
Shanxi National Power Generation Dispatching
Complex Building (continued)

Using modules with high photoelectric conversion
efficiency, the project effectively utilizes the solar
energy irradiated on the surface of the building. By
virtue of the material properties of the dualsilver-layer
glass, which ensures high light transmittance while
reducing heat transfer coefficient by 21%, amply
reducing indoor temperature and reducing the
temperature difference between the northern and
southern sides of buildings. Air-conditioning power
consumption is expected to reduce by 15%. Currently,
the cell panels and electrical installation are basically
completed, and the project is now under pilot test for
the overall grid connection.

{1
it
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)

Roof-top Distributed Solar Power Generation
Market

The Group continues to devote great efforts to the
development and sales of roof-top power generation
systems, taking advantage of rooftop areas for the
construction of power stations using thin-film power
generation modules, and providing green energy
solutions. In 2018, the sales of rooftop power stations
contributed revenue of HK$594 million to the Group.

Case: “China Zun Building” Project in the Core Area of
Beijing CBD

Located in the core area of Beijing Central Business
District, China Zun Building is the highest landmark in
Beijing, with 108 storeys and a height of 528 meters.
The project utilizes 640 pieces of the Group's Solibro
modules, occupying the rooftops projection areas of
approximately 900 square meters with total installed
capacity of 92.8KW. In order to improve the wind
loading capacity and prevent the impact of extreme
weather on the thin film solar power generation
systems, the Company innovatively adopted a rail
mounting method of installation, ensuring that the
system would be safer and more reliable without
affecting the overall appearance of the building.

On 27 December 2018, the installation project of
China Zun Building was completed, and has become
the highest thin-film solar power station in Beijing
City.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)

Roof-top Distributed Solar Power Generation
Market (continued)

Case: Yancheng Haiwaihai Motor City Project in
Jiangsu

In April 2018, the Group entered into a 3MW sales
contract with Yancheng Huanghai New Energy
Development and Operation Co., Ltd. (B3 = 8587
FEELARIA),

Haiwaihai Motor City project in Jiangsu with a

in relation to the Yancheng

contract sum of approximately RMB52.6 million, out
of which, the amount of RMB15.78 million has already
been received. The project adopts the 240W flexible
thin-film cell modules from MiaSole, a R&D center of
Hanergy in Silicon Valley, the USA. This is the largest
distributed flexible thin-film solar power plant project
of Hanergy in the world. The installation was
completed and connected to the grid at the end of
December 2018.

Yancheng Haiwaihai Motor City, being the largest
automotive after-sales service market in northern
Jiangsu, occupies an area of 260 acres and offers
comprehensive services including purchase and sales
of used cars, auto supplies, auto beauty and repairs,
financial insurance, cultural exhibitions, auto

e-commerce and others.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)

Roof-top Distributed Solar Power Generation
Market (continued)

Case: Solar Power Flower Umbrellas Project in the
International Pavilion at the Beijing International
Horticultural Exhibition

The International Horticultural Exhibition 2019, Beijing,
China (referred to as “Beijing IHE") is one of the
international exhibitions organized by the Chinese
government (as the organizer) and Beijing City. As one
of the three core buildings within the exhibition and the
largest stadium construction, the International Pavilion
has a GFA of approximately 22,000 square meters.
Leveraging the “flower umbrellas” as its basic
elements, it connects steel bollards with overhanging
steel beams to create 94 “flower umbrellas” which
connect with each other on the top, presenting a
rooftop clustering with “flowers"” The “flower
umbrellas” consist of 6 aluminum veneers in the shape
of leaves. By setting the Group’s MiaSolé flexible solar
energy modules on top of the aluminum veneers, the
combination becomes flakes of solar energy flowers
with total installed capacity of 10KW. According to the
estimation, after installing Hanergy's flexible modules,
one flower umbrella can generate around 10,100 kWh of
electricity each year, reducing standard coal
consumption of 3.23 tones and carbon emissions of
9.41 tones, which are equivalent to planting 514 trees.
This result fully echoes the theme of “"Green life e
Beautiful Home" of Beijing IHE.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN SRR

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)
Hong Kong Ushers in Solar Energy Development

To promote the development of renewable energies in
Hong Kong, Hong Kong Government signed a Scheme
of Control Agreement for a term of 15 years with two
local power companies which came into effect in
2018. Pursuant to the Agreement, Hong Kong
Government requires the two power companies to
purchase electricity generated by renewable energies
from residential/industrial/commercial users which are
connected to the public grid at subsidized on-grid
tariff. With the implementation of this plan, the
number of residential/industrial/commercial users
installing solar power generation systems in Hong
Kong has been gradually increasing.

In 2018, the Group completed several rooftop power
station projects at various location in the New
Territories, Hong Kong, such as the Sha Tau Kok farm
project, container house MARKBOX project in Pat
Heung, Yuen Long and small village house projects in
Yuen Long were completed in the first half of 2018. In
the second half of the year, several projects including
the Sha Tin Rural Committee project, the warehouse
project in Pat Heung, Yuen Long and HanTile and SHJ
projects in Tai Po Hong Lok Yuen were launched. The
Group will continue to expand its solar energy
application business in Hong Kong aggressively
through the cooperation with distributors and
partners.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)

Hong Kong Ushers in Solar Energy Development
(continued)

Case: The 40KW Project in Sha Tau Kok, Hong Kong

In 2018, the 40KW Sha Tau Kok project in Hong Kong
was formally completed. The project adopts Hanergy's
MiaSole flexible thin-film modules with an installed
capacity of 40KW. As the project is categorised as a
system with an installed capacity ranging from 10KW
to 200KW, the project owner can sell the electricity at
HK$4 per kWh of electricity to the power companies
according to the Scheme of Control Agreement, and

enjoy a stable revenue stream for 15 years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN SRR

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) EREEE)

C. Downstream Business (continued) C. TH#ER#HE)
Hong Kong Ushers in Solar Energy Development BB B XL G R (F)
(continued)
Case: The Demonstration Project of SHJ Product at Tai 2 - B A S A E] Bl B SHE
Po Hong Lok Yuen Villas, Hong Kong #IEH
The SHJ demonstration project at Tai Po Hong Lok BEEKXIBFELE R ESHIT & E A R
Yuen villas in Hong Kong adopts SHJ high-efficiency FASHIE MU ABagcdHt iy
solar modules with an installed capacity of 9.3KW. The 9.3KW * 3ZIEH B & B B ASHIS WA
project, being adjacent to the HanTile demonstration SEREIER O MBERLNHER AR
project, is the first SHJ high-efficiency solar energy BRREBHREWE -

demonstration project in Hong Kong, and together

they demonstrate remarkable attraction.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)

Hong Kong Ushers in Solar Energy Development
(continued)

Case: The HanTile and SHJ Demonstration Project at
Tai Po Constellation Cove Villas in Hong Kong

The HanTile and SHJ demonstration project at Tai Po
Constellation Cove villas in Hong Kong adopts both
“HanTile” and SHJ high-efficiency solar energy
modules with an installed capacity of 6.9KW. By using
two types of innovative green building materials -
“HanTile” and SHJ high-efficiency solar energy
modules, the products are shown to the mid- to high-
end residential communities with a forward-looking
demonstration effect.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)
Entering the New Era of Mobile Energy

The new era of mobile energy is a result of the
constant development and progress of thin film solar
technology. Mobile energy is characterised by
decentralisation, better energy utilisation, and
improved efficiency compared with traditional
centralised power stations. In 2018, the Group
continued to make breakthroughs in several mobile
energy markets including green transportation,
aerospace and consumer goods.

Green Transportation to Create a Low Carbon City

Green Transportation solution aims to ease the tension
of energy supply for transportation and change the
overall layout of energy supply in the transportation
system. The thin film solar energy technology can be
applied to new energy vehicles, intelligent bus station
platforms, parking shed signaling systems, lighting,
highway energy, cruise port and others. Electricity is
generated during day-time and supplied through night
to bring down power supply requirement for urban
transportation and reduce energy consumption and
pollution.

In 2018, the Group signed a product strategic
cooperation agreement with China FAW Group
Corporation (“FAW"), a giant state-owned automobile
manufacturer directly under the Central Government.
Pursuant to the agreement, the parties commenced
multi-directional strategic cooperation on the theme of
“Green Energy and Energy Conservation’, and push for
the mass production of green vehicles through joint-
development, with an aim to make innovative
breakthroughs in the passenger vehicle market. In
addition, the Group also launched a project with Ruichi
Automobile Systems Co., Ltd. in the cooperation of
low-speed electric vehicles, marking a new milestone
in green transportation development driven by thin
film solar car roof panels.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)
Entering the New Era of Mobile Energy (continued)

Green Transportation to Create a Low Carbon City
(continued)

Case: Low-Speed Electric Vehicle Project of Ruichi

In May 2018, the Group entered into a sales contract
with Ruichi Automobile Systems Co., Ltd. (“Ruichi
Auto”) in relation to the installation of thin-film solar
roof panels for 100 Ruichi Ruiyi electric vehicle
samples for trial. Subsequently, the Group and Ruichi
Auto entered into another strategic cooperation
agreement totaling approximately RMB100 million to
provide solar energy solutions for a total of 49,300
units of six vehicle models with same car roof areas.
A total of 100 Ruichi Ruiyi electric vehicle samples
have already been delivered in June 2018.

Ruichi Automobile Systems Co., Ltd. is mainly
engaged in the research and development and
manufacturing of new energy vehicle-related products.
Taking advantage in its research and development
capability and product quality, it is ranked among the
top five low-speed electric vehicle enterprises in
China. The addition of Hanergy's thin-film solar roof
panels introduces a new element for Ruichi, and the
thin-film solar roof panel represents a “solar energy
range extender” to vehicles, which will help drive up
sales and enhance brand influence. This is a
representative and exemplary low-speed electric
vehicle project in China.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(G

Downstream Business (continued)
Entering the New Era of Mobile Energy (continued)

Aerospace: A New Breakthrough in Thin Film
Technology Applications

Solar-powered aerial vehicles mainly include drones,
spacecrafts, hot air balloons and airships, among
which, drones are the most typical applications widely
used in the military, civilian and commercial markets.
In 2018, by making full use of the thin-film solar chip
technology, the Group has commenced several
projects with aerospace giants including the National
Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) and
Boeing Company of the United States, making
remarkable progress in solar energy applications in the
aerospace field.

Case: Solar-Powered Unmanned Aircraft Project
Launched by Boeing

Alta Devices, the US subsidiary of the Group,
supported Aurora Flight Sciences, a subsidiary of the
aviation industry giant Boeing Company in the USA, in
introducing a solar-powered unmanned aircraft -
Odysseus. Odysseus has a wingspan of 74 meters,
covered with Hanergy’s Gallium Arsenide (GaAs) thin
film solar cells, which enable it to fly infinitely
powered by solar energy, and it has the largest
payload capacity of long-lasting solar aviation at
present.

Odysseus is currently in the process of ground
testing, upon the completion of which, it will be

delivered to Puerto Rico for flight testing by the end
of February 2019, and is scheduled to commence
flight operations in April this year, with an aim to fly
for three consecutive months nonstop.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)
Entering the New Era of Mobile Energy (continued)

Aerospace: A New Breakthrough in Thin Film
Technology Applications (continued)

Case: NASA Conducts A Test on the Group’s GaAs Thin
Film Solar Technology

Based on the years of cooperation with the engineers
from Hanergy's Alta Devices, Marshall Space Flight
Center (MSFC) of the National Aeronautics and Space
Administration (NASA) selected the GaAs thin film
solar cells of Hanergy's Alta Devices to participate in
the mission of The International Space Station Data
Experiment (MISE-X) in November 2018 and
conducted a test to assess whether it can be used in
NASAs low-Earth orbit missions in future, including
powering CubeSats.

Working jointly with NASAs scientists and suppliers,
the Group’s engineers developed nine pieces of
flexible GaAs solar cell modules using innovative
packaging materials. Upon completion of production in
the first half of 2018, these cells were delivered to
NASA for testing. In August, the integration of solar
cells and sample carriers was carried out at the Alpha
space facility in Houston, the U.S.A. On 17 November,
the experiment project was transported by NG-10
Antares rocket to the International Space Station, with
the Group's solar cells installed on the top side of the
International Space Station. This test will last for one
year, after which the solar cells will be sent back to
NASA and the Group for evaluation. Both parties have
developed scientific models to simulate the situation
of solar cells in orbit. The final sample evaluation will
facilitate the research team to improve their models
and enhance the accuracy of solar cells and packaging
efficiency during long missions in the future.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)

Diversified and Innovative Applications to Meet the
Huge Consumer Market

Through continuous technological breakthroughs and
innovative research and development, the Group has
developed a series of mobile solar energy products
applicable for consumer use, to meet the demand for
mobile energy solutions in different markets. In the
past few years, the Group has introduced the portable
thin-film solar energy-powered backpack “HanPack’
thin-film solar energy-powered paper “HanPaper’
portable thin-film solar energy emergency power box,
thin-film solar energy clothing, etc. by applying solar
energy power generation to daily life. In 2018, the
Group launched “Humbrella’] the first multi-functional
umbrella based on flexible thin-film solar power
generation technology in the world. It also launched
the Humbrella charity project “Lighting Africa’,
providing local areas with mobile energy solutions
through donation of “Humbrella” to the African
regions.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)

Diversified and Innovative Applications to Meet the
Huge Consumer Market (continued)

For the convenience of the customers in making
purchases of the Group's thin film power products, the
Group has established its own dedicated network of
channels for the sale of its products. These include the
self-operated official online shop website “Hanergy
Shop’ the online flagship store Tmall, the online
flagship store JD.com, other major e-commence
platform franchise stores, network distributor channel,
online agent channel as well as vertical industries and
website channels. The objective is to establish a
multifaceted sales channel platform with online and
offline, nation-wide coverage. In 2018, sales of PV
application products contributed a revenue of
approximately HK$28 million to the Group.

Precise Poverty Alleviation to Promote Economic
Development

In 2018, the Group continued to respond to the
national policy of “precision poverty alleviation’ by
making full use of the land resources of rural poor
households to help realize precision poverty
alleviation. The poor households who participated in
precise poverty alleviation not only can have the
ownership of solar energy-powered equipment, but
can also enjoy the economic benefits from feeding the
excess power generated to the grid after their own
use.

During the year, the Group continued to focus on solar
precision poverty alleviation projects and completed
the installation of PV systems for 21 villages in the
615KW PV poverty alleviation project of Boli County,
Qitaihe City, Heilongjiang Province, which has been
connected to the grid for power generation. The
estimated annual income per poor household was
approximately RMB3,000, practically helping to realize
poverty alleviation for the villages.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business (continued)

Precise Poverty Alleviation to Promote Economic
Development (continued)

Case: PV Poverty Alleviation Project of Guangshan
County, Xinyang City, Henan Province

The PV Poverty Alleviation Project of Guangshan
County, Xinyang City, Henan Province was completed
by Henan Company of the Group jointly with Henan
Wanyilian Environmental Technology Co., Ltd. (A&
ZERBERIFT AR AR, which was the first PV poverty
alleviation demonstration project in Xinyang City,
Henan. The project has an installed capacity of 6MW
with contract amount of RMB45 million, which has
been completed and connected to the grid. The
estimated annual power generation capacity will be
reaching 9 million kWh. It is planned to help each
documented poverty-stricken household in sustainable
poverty alleviation with every 5KW PV power station,
ensuring that each corresponding poor household of
the power station will have an annual income of
approximately RMB3,000, and helping the poor to
realize precision poverty alleviation in the region.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

D.

Delivery of Production Lines to Hanergy
Hydropower Group (formerly known as “Hanergy
Holdings Group”)

Apollo Precision (Fujian) Limited (“Fujian Apollo’ a
subsidiary of the Company) entered into two master
sales contracts (each of them “Master Sales
Contract”) with Hanergy Hydropower in 2010 and
2011, to sell equipment and entire production line for
the manufacturing of thin film solar energy modules to
Hanergy Hydropower, its subsidiaries and its affiliates
(“Hanergy Hydropower Group").
contracts are set out in the circulars dated 8 July 2010

Details of those

and 14 November 2011 respectively.

As at 31 October 2013, Fujian Apollo entered into
supplementary sales contracts of two Master Sales
Contracts with Hanergy Hydropower. Details of those
supplementary sales contracts are set out in the
circular dated 12 December 2013.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) X EIRE 2

D. Delivery of Production Lines to Hanergy D. [FEREKIREEE (FEIEEERE
Hydropower Group (formerly known as “Hanergy B ) RNEEZ(E)
Holdings Group”) (continued)

Master Sales Master Sales
Contract Contract
entered into entered into
in 2010 (as in 2011 (as
supplemented supplemented
in 2013) in 2013)
RZZ-2F RZE-—-%
HRIA HRIA
—B-Z=% —B-z=%
Brm wrm
IHERR IHERR
Total purchase capacity as stipulated BRTHEARMITENAHEEE:
in the sales contracts 3,000 MW 7000 MW
Purchase capacity of module equipment  RZZE—-\F+_-A=+—H
and production lines committed by BRKNETEEEARFER
Hanergy Hydropower Group as at A REREERER
31 December 2018 0 MW 0 MW
HKS mil HK$ mil
AEET AE¥T
Total contract sum ARALE 25,800 61,270
Total cumulative advance payment made #HZ-Z—-N\F+-A=1+—-H"
by Hanergy Hydropower Group as at B K NEEEEERENERS
31 December 2018 iEHES 0 0
Contract revenue recognised in: BERARYRA
For the year ended 31 December 2010 HE_Z-ZF+_fA=1+-HLFE 2,310 0
For the year ended 31 December 2011 HE-_Z-——F+_fA=1+-HLFE 1,446 1,009
For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE-Z-——F+-_A=1t-HIEE 0 2,756
For the year ended 31 December 2013 HE2-FT-—=-F+-_A=+-HIEE 0 3,243
For the year ended 31 December 2014 BE-ZE-NF+-_A=1t—-BItFE 3,102 2,853
For the year ended 31 December 2015 BE-_Z-R&ET-A=1t-BILEE 134 (88)
For the year ended 31 December 2016 BE-_Z—RET-A=t-BILEE 39 865
For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE-E—+E+-A=+-RLLEE 628 434
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-_Z-N\E+-A=1t-BILEE 0 0
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FUTURE OUTLOOK
Global Solar Energy Market

The year 2018 was a year of changes for the solar energy
industry. In early 2018, the U.S. government declared a
30% tariff on imported solar panels. On 31 May 2018, the
“Notice on Matters in Relation to Photovoltaic Power
Generation in 2018" (“531 Notice") was issued by the
Chinese government, which provided regulatory measures
for the developmental pace of the solar power generation
industry and attracted the global attention. The 531 Notice
stimulated the active sales efforts made by domestic solar
power generation companies to sell excessive inventories
to the overseas market. Coupled with the issue of
overcapacity, the global solar energy cost was reduced by
12%. Due to lower cost of equipment, the total investment
in the global solar energy industry was approximately
US$130.8 billion in 2018, representing a decrease of 24%
year-on-year.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)
Global Solar Energy Market (continued)

Despite the policy changes, the global solar energy market
continued to grow in 2018, driven by the markets in various
countries. According to Energy Trend, an international
market research institution, newly installed capacity of solar
energy amounted to 103GW in 2018 globally. China remains
the country which has the largest newly installed capacity
of PV in the world, followed by the United States and India.

The market remains optimistic about the prospect of solar
power generation industry around the globe. IHS Markit
expects that the global installed capacity of PV will increase
to 123GW in 2019, representing an increase of 18% as
compared with the estimated newly installed capacity in
2018. PV Infolink, a photovoltaic research institution, also
believes that the global solar market will recover in 2019.
The global PV installed capacity is expected to increase to
112GW. In particular, the demand in China is expected to
reach 40GW or above, and the India and US markets will
also see accelerated growth. The increase is mainly driven
by the diversified pattern of the global solar power
generation market. As the geographical coverage of the PV
industry has become more extensive, the PV installed
capacity will gradually increase around the world, especially
in emerging markets. Meanwhile, positive factors including
the gradual decrease of overcapacity, strong growth in the
demand overseas and the declining PV power generation
cost, have all contributed to the growth of global solar
power generation in 2019.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)
The Solar Energy Market in China

In 2018, China continued to take the leading position in the
world in terms of the newly installed capacity and
cumulative installed capacity of solar power generation.
According to the statistics of the Chinese National Energy
Administration (NEA), the cumulative installed capacity of
solar power generation in China reached 174GW,
representing a year-on-year increase of 34%; the newly
installed capacity was more than 44GW, of which, 23GW
was attributable to PV power stations and 21GW was
attributable to distributed PV.

According to the estimates of China Photovoltaic Industry
Association (CPIA), with gradual improvement of solar
power curtailment and electricity consumption, and the
advancement of the industry reform, the newly installed
capacity of PV in the country is expected to reach 40GW or
more in 2019, which is likely to rank first in the world again.
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Chart 1: Annual newly installed capacity of PV in 2011-2018 and newly capacity forecasts
for 2019-2025 in China (GW)
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

The Solar Energy Market in China (continued)

Currently, as modules have been gradually produced
domestically with increasing conversion efficiency, the
production cost of modules continued to decline, and
production output continued to increase. The national
production output of modules was 85.7GW in 2018,
representing a yearon-year growth of 14%. The production
output is expected to continue to increase in 2019.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Chart 2: The production of solar energy modules in China for 2010-2019 (GW)
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)
Relevant Policies in China

Action Plan for the Development of Intelligent
Photovoltaic Industry (2018-2020)

“The Action Plan for the Development of Intelligent
Photovoltaic Industry (2018-2020)" issued by six authorities,
including the Ministry of Information and Technology and
NEA on 19 April 2018 expressively states the acceleration
of the development of advanced manufacturing industry,
the enhancement of intelligent manufacturing of solar
energy industry, the promotion of profound integration of
internet, big data and artificial intelligence with the solar
energy industry, the encouragement of solar energy
intelligent applications in distinctive industry and the
facilitation for the development of China’s solar energy
industry towards the middle and high end of global value
chain.

Notice on Matters Concerning Easing Burden of
Enterprises in Renewable Energy Sector

In April 2018, NEA issued the “Notice on Matters
Concerning Easing Burden of Enterprises in Renewable
Energy Sector’]| which requires the stringent compliance of
the Renewable Energy Law to ensure the healthy
development of the renewable energy sector; the
optimisation of investment environment to reduce the
development cost of renewable energy exploitation;
implementation of the initiative of “simplified procedures,
supervision enhancement and service optimisation” for
public services in a bid to stimulate market. The notice
provides favorable conditions in respect of market
consumption and grid connections, land use measures,
financial supports and enhancement of government
services and functions for the renewable energy industry,
which will ease the investment and operational burden of
enterprises in the renewable energy sector, and lead to
further cost reduction of renewable energy.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)
Relevant Policies in China (continued)

Notice on Matters in Relation to Photovoltaic Power
Generation in 2018

On 31 May 2018, the
Photovoltaic Power Generation in 2018" was jointly issued
by NDRC, the Ministry of Finance and NEA, which stated
that no planned capacity projects for general solar energy

“Notice on Matters in Relation to

power stations construction is arranged for 2018, and 10GW
capacity is constructed for the distributed solar energy
projects, reducing the on-grid tariff.

As stated in the Notice, the policy aims to promote the
healthy and sustainable development of the photovoltaic
industry. Notwithstanding that the 531 Notice reduces the
subsidy level and regulates the newly constructed capacity
of PV power generation, the Chinese government's long-
term planning for the solar power generation industry and
the support of distributed solar power generation will
continue in promoting the development of solar energy
industry in China. The Group believes that the release of
the notice will motivate the transformation and innovation
of enterprises and optimize the layout of solar energy
industry.

Notice on Matters Concerning the Grant of Incentives to
Leading Bases of PV Power Generation

On 16 October 2018, the General Department of NEA
issued a letter requesting opinions on the “Notice on
Matters Concerning the Grant of Incentives to Leading
Bases of PV Power Generation” from relevant NDRC (NEA)
agencies in relation to the grant of incentives to leading

bases as stated in Guo Neng Fa Xin Neng [2017] No. 54.

The notice states that priority or bonus points, if applicable,
shall be given to the bases which strictly comply with the
requirements, produce as scheduled with output passing
the inspection for acceptance (including the second phase).
Three incentives of construction capacity totaling 1.5 million
KW are granted to the leading bases of PV power
generation in 2017

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

ARBE (%)
GEICE e A6 )
(BR=—F—NFHXRFELHBEENEL)

T-N\FHEA=+—H BRERZ  PK
*IZ TEBERERBBEEM(CE-N\F}E
REBEHEFEFENEN) -CRFRL BT
RH T \FEBAGRELHERRE R
HLEOFNMAAGEERZRNI0GW » I
B LEREE -

WMMCGRE T - ZBENENER TIREX
RITERERAIFHBEER - R E31RAE
RAEARE  REAREENLERRE B
HEBAHAGEREEETENRERERE S
HmARGEREENF  NBEBREFEK
BRTENER AEEREZATNEDF
HEEENERN  BRGREENITER
Bo

(BRARRERBE N ZERHEBERIBEA)

—NE+RA+RE BRERBHES AL
BRF(EAR AR BEEBE N RBH BB ER
BB B R Ak - BB RE T AL (2017 545R
FRONEREENRBEEHRERESRE
(RERB)MER -

GREEL  BAZEIBEEND TERIEEE
Z - RBREALBKABHEN (5ZH)

TH-_T -+t FXREESEBREML TIMEHE
1508 T RERK ﬁ@ﬁ@ﬂ@



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)
The Company’s Vision on Future Development

Implement the “One Base and Two Fronts” Strategy and
Expand Diversified Customer Base

The Group will continue to adopt the strategic deployment
of "One Base and Two Fronts” in the coming vyear, that is,
based on the continuous innovation of thin film solar
technology, and with “turnkey’ solutions for manufacturing
equipment and production lines on the left front, and
solutions for distributed energy and mobile energy on the
right front, it will firmly grasp the opportunities arising from
the extensive changes of global energy structure and the
rapid development of the thin film solar industry, focusing
on the upstream business of equipment production lines,
and the downstream business of distributed and mobile
energy.

In terms of upstream business, the Group will continue to
invest in the research and development of thin film solar
technology, and accelerate the localisation of thin film solar
equipment production lines, in an effort to achieve 100%
localisation rate of equipment production lines of all
technology lines of the Group. It will also continue to
promote the industrialization, marketization and
popularization of thin film solar technology through the
cooperation with mobile energy intelligent manufacturing
bases in different regions.

Regarding downstream business, in addition to the
traditional household and industrial and commercial rooftop
power generation systems, the Group will continue to focus
on new energy green buildings and mobile energy
applications, to build an ecosphere of mobile energy and
provide solutions for “Eco-City” through a comprehensive
layout of energy in cities. In addition, with the national new
energy development strategy, the Group has actively
engaged in precision poverty alleviation, by making full use
of the land resources of rural poor households to help the
poor to realize precision poverty alleviation with additional
income.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

The Company’s Vision on Future Development
(continued)

Continuous Innovation and Research and Development
to Make Further Breakthroughs

In response to the global trend of low-carbon, green and
clean energy, the Group has continued to innovate products
by leveraging on its innovative scientific research
capabilities. In 2018, significant progress in research and
development of thin film solar energy application products
was made. In April, the Group launched an innovative
product, a new generation of HanTile and “Humbrella’ the
first multi-functional umbrella based on flexible thin film
solar technology in the world. Its first batch of production
was donated to Tanzania for the charity project “Lighting
Africa” New mobile energy applications such as HanPack
and HanPaper were also introduced in June, attracting a lot
of market attention. In September, we launched another
disruptive new product - “HanWall’] which is characterizd by
its safety and power generation efficiency, and has become
the first “green power generation wall system solution” in
the world. Since the launch of such new products, we have
immediately attracted collaboration from Australia and
Japan, demonstrating that the Group has been recognised
by customers around the world through product innovation
and quality.

Looking forward to 2019, the Group will continue to put
more resources in the research and development of product
innovation, focusing on three major areas including housing,
usage and transportation, constantly develop and introduce
new thin-film solar energy solutions, in response to both
domestic and international market demand and in line with
green buildings and travel trends, and provide users with
more comprehensive and convenient mobile power using
experience, so as to further consolidate the Group's leading
position in the high-tech thin film solar industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

The Company’s Vision on Future Development
(continued)

Focus on Mobile Solar Energy Development and
Strengthen the Leading Position in Technology

In recent years, through continuous technological
breakthroughs and innovative research and development,
the Group has focused on the development of innovative
thin-film solar mobile energy applications, including foldable
thin-film solar power generation paper, power generation
pack, power generation umbrella and other portable mobile
energy products to satisfy the market needs. Hanergy has
endeavored to expand the application of thin-film solar
technology in more fields, and has applied thin-film solar
cells in various mobile transportations, including shared
bicycles, logistics fleets, unmanned aircrafts, solarpowered
vehicles and low-speed electric vehicles. With the energy
reform, a new way of life is forming and an exosphere of
mobile energy is being created to provide solutions for
“Eco-City"

In 2018, the Group entered into a product strategic
cooperation agreement with China FAW Group, to
commence multi-directional strategic cooperation on the
theme of “Green Energy and Energy Conservation” This is
an innovative breakthrough in the area of passenger vehicle
with the first solar energy sunroof. In addition, since the
Group's high-efficiency thin-film solar chip technology has
been favored by the National Aeronautics and Space
Administration (NASA) and Boeing Company, the giant in
the US aviation industry, various projects have been carried
out through the cooperation between the Group and NASA
and Boeing Company, promoting the in-depth application
and further expansion of solar energy technology in the
aerospace sector. The robust development of mobile solar
energy contributes to energy conservation, emission
reduction, environmental protection and cutting-edge
applications. The Group also intends to expand the business
and cooperation in this sector in the future.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

The Company’s Vision on Future Development
(continued)

Focus on Mobile Solar Energy Development and
Strengthen the Leading Position in Technology
(continued)

Looking forward to 2019, the Group will, leveraging on its
high-tech R&D capabilities and economies of scale,
continue to push forward the turnkey projects of thin film
solar production lines for mobile energy industrial parks and
other new clients in respect of our upstream business, and
expand the solar energy applications in areas including
distributed power and mobile energy for downstream
business, by actively exploring the diversified applications
of thin-film solar energy for the pursuit of further
innovations. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to capture
the opportunity arising from the state’s favourable policies
on clean energies and ride on the global trend of solar
energy power generation, by actively expanding domestic
and overseas businesses, and further capitalizing on its
leading role as a provider of high-tech thin-film solar energy
solutions, in order to bring thin film solar energy power
generation to a bigger market for unlimited number of
applications!
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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SUSPENSION OF TRADING

Trading in the Company's shares has been suspended with
effect from 10:40 a.m. on 20 May 2015. The Company
received a letter from the Securities and Futures
Commission (“SFC") dated 15 July 2015 in relation to the
Rule 8(1) direction of Stock Market Rules, in which SFC
directed the Stock Exchange to suspend trading in the
securities of the Company. As of 31 December 2018, the
shares of the Company remained suspended. A separate
announcement on further information, if any, will be made
in due course to inform the shareholders and potential
investors of the Company.

Amendments to the delisting framework under the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
“Stock
Exchange”) have been made, with the effect from 1 August

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

2018 (“Effective Date”). The transitional arrangements for
the amendments to the delisting framework will apply to
the Company. As the shares of the Company have been
suspended from trading for more than 12 months, in
accordance with Rule 6.01A(2)(b)(ii) of the Listing Rules, the
Stock Exchange may cancel the Company’s listing if trading
in the shares has remained suspended for 12 consecutive
months from the Effective Date. The 12-month period will
expire on 31 July 2019. If the Company fails to resume
trading in the shares of the Company by 31 July 2019, the
Listing Department of the Stock Exchange will recommend
the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange to proceed
with the cancellation of the Company’s listing. This is
subject to the Stock Exchange’s right to impose a shorter
specific remedial period under Rule 6.10 of the Listing
Rules where appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
M}EE n-J' HH& *ﬁ

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES REBEESRIMKEER

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had interest-bearing RZ-ZE—N\E+-_A=+—0  AE£EBEZ#H]T
bank and other borrowings of HK$686,793,000 (31 R E{hf B &K A686,793,000/ T (ZF—+
December 2017: HK$1,126,008,000) while the cash and H+=-H=+—H :1,126,008,000/%T) ' M
cash equivalents amounted to approximately ¥4 KESSEYWIA|E A359,049,000%8 T (=
HK$359,049,000 (31 December 2017: approximately T —+t%&+ - H=+—H : #2,496,760,000
HK$2,496,760,000). Gearing ratio (total debt less cash and #7x) R-_ZE—NE+-_A=+—0 &K
cash equivalent, tax payable, deferred income, other BELXR(EHKABRETLESEEY  E
noncurrent liabilities and deferred tax liabilities (“Net Debt”) #{IE - BEWA - HMhIERE & & RBELTR
over adjusted capital and net debt) as at 31 December 2018 EH&&E ([& m%r%ﬁj) A E R R EEF
was 49.00% (31 December 2017: 47.86%). %) B49.00% (ZZT—tF+=-A=+—8":
47.86%) °

TREASURY POLICIES AND EXCHANGE & B BUR & B 5 & H At & B
OTHER EXPOSURES

The Group’s monetary transactions and deposits continued AREBEZEETHNEREENEZT ARKE
to be in the form of US dollars, Renminbi and Hong Kong KB t#AE  AEEFEHEXRTHEKBITTE
dollars. The Group expected that the exposure to exchange X - B 3 7T {F (A 4 055 &) ©

rates fluctuation was not significant and therefore had not

engaged in any hedging activities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES RREE

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilites RZ-ZZ—N\E+-_F=+—8 ' AEEIET

as at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: Nil). MEAFREAB(ZE—+E+=-/A=+—08:
;) o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 the
Group's subsidiaries have charged assets as security for the
bank borrowings (The details are set out in note 26
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2018, information on sales
and purchases relating to the major customers and
suppliers is summarized as follows:

EEEKH
RZE-NFE+_A=1+—"BRZZE—+F
+ZA=+—8 AEEZHNBRAREEEE
ERERITERZERR GFEBEEMNE26
SRITREMM BER) -

FTEEFRHEER

BE-_Z- \$+-_A=t—BLFE BH
TBREFPRMER ZHE MRBEMBRNT -

Sales (Percentage over total sales)  $§& ((hEEEREA D)

The largest customer BARP
Five largest customers EREF

RE(ARRBEANLL)

Purchases (Percentage over
total purchases)

The largest supplier BAHER
Five largest suppliers AARHERS

At 31 December 2018, Shenzhen Tong Fu Shidai Trading Co.,
Ltd. was the Group's largest customer. All transactions
between the Group and the customer concerned were
carried out on normal commercial terms.

Other than Hanergy Holding and its affiliates (collectively
“Hanergy Affiliates”), none of the directors of the Company
(the “Director”), their associates, or any shareholder of the
Company which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital had a
beneficial interest in any of the Group's five largest
customers or five largest suppliers for the year ended 31
December 2018.
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EEEN SRR

PERSONNEL 8T

The number of employees of the Group as at 31 December R-ZZE—N\E+_A=+—R0B KX&EEZEE
2018 was 6,542 (31 December 2017: 4,250) of whom 3,334  A81A6,642A (ZE—+F+-_HA=+—8:
(31 December 2017: 695) were office administration staff. 4,250A) » EA3,334A (ZZE—+tF+ = A
Remuneration of employees and directors are determined =+—H :6955A) ARAZTHAE - BT R
according to individual performance and the prevailing EZZHBHIERBREARELRTRMME ZHEITH
trends in different areas and reviewed on an annual basis. &8P MET  WEHFEETHR - NEBE A
The Group has also contributed mandatory provident fund, EBI{EH&ES RERSHEHZ  WiIRHEER
retirement funds and provided medical insurance to its - AEERBEEANABERRELEERREXRE
employees. Bonuses are awarded based on individual A& FALE/ES ML -
performance and overall Group performance, and are made

to certain employees of the Group.

Remuneration of employees and directors are determined EBINEFHHHZBEARKEERTRBEZ
according to individual performance and the prevailing B{TH2BAMET UWEFHETH - A&
trends in different areas and reviewed on an annual basis. BERAE IT{ELEES MERS HF - WiRH
The Group has also contributed mandatory provident fund, E&E R -

retirement funds and provided medical insurance to its

employees.

Bonuses are awarded based on individual performance and AEERBENAERRENERREXRE MM

overall Group performance, and are made to certain HTAEEEESZEWIEL -
employees of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual
report together with the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
During the year under review, the Group's revenue and
operating profit were derived principally from the
manufacture of equipment and turnkey production lines for
the manufacture of both amorphous silicon based and CIGS
thin film solar photovoltaic modules and sale of solar power
stations and rooftop power stations.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of operating segment information of the Group
during the year are set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018 and the state of the Group's affairs as at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages
126 to 318.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend to declare a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND BRREFASRETEHRERRER
CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FiE

To ascertain the entitlement to attend and vote at the AEBETHFEENR-Z—AEA+-B(EH
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on =)BITrBREAEAe((RERELAE]) R
Wednesday, 12 June 2019 (the “AGM"), the register of R& FREY &K  AQRABER S —NEX
members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 7 AB+B(EHA)E-_ZE—NE~A+-H(E
June 2019 to Wednesday, 12 June 2019 (both dates HI=)(RiEEEME) HEHEREZLFE
inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares will be RZEBHEAETSRBETMRHBLZD o
registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AFAEREHERRFREReT RN HIEZ -
AGM, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied FEEZZBFEAREBERBAAKRE mEBAR
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Z—ZT—AFEXANB (EHN) TFNUE=+H
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in  #] REARRZEARMNDBLEL N REE
Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Z#HEERAGF @it AFEEF2FAEER
Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not  183%4 M 13224& o

later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 6 June 2019.

SHARE CAPITAL % 2

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and ARAF 7 R4 RERENE RN S EIS RS
share options during the year are set out in notes 28 and FHWig A FEHRKRMT28%29
29 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF BE - HERBER LHES
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, #HEZE-ZE—N\E+-_A=+—HILEE &R
redeemed or sold any of the Company's listed securities for Ak EFRMBATMERS - B HEFT
the year ended 31 December 2018. MARRA 2 ETEF o
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In accordance with the reporting and announcement
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
Group had the following continuing connected transactions
during the year:

(1

Agreements with Sichuan Hanergy

During the period from September 2017 to September
2018, Beijing Juntai Innovation Technology Co., Ltd
(“Beijing Juntai”), a subsidiary of the Company,
entered into certain agreements with Sichuan Hanergy
Photovoltaic Ltd (“Sichuan Hanergy”), a subsidiary of
Hanergy Mobile Energy Holding Group Co., Ltd, in
relation to the leasing of equipment, and the rental of
office premises, factory premises and staff dormitory
in Shuangliu County, Sichuan Province, the PRC.

Details of the agreements are disclosed below:

(i) Equipment lease agreement

On 15 September 2017 Beijing Juntai entered
into an equipment leasing agreement with
Sichuan Hanergy, pursuant to which Sichuan
Hanergy would lease the production line no. 5
with equipment associated to Beijing Juntai for a
term of one year from 16 September 2017 to 15
September 2018. The monthly rental for the
production line was RMB310,500. On 1 July
2018, Beijing Juntai entered into an equipment
leasing agreement with Sichuan Hanergy,
pursuant to which Sichuan Hanergy will lease the
production line no. 4 with equipment associated
to Beijing Juntai for a term of one year from 20
July 2018 to 19 July 2019. The monthly rental for
the production line is RMB100,000.

(ii) Tenancy agreement for office premises

On 15 September 2017 Beijing Juntai entered
into a tenancy agreement with Sichuan Hanergy,
pursuant to which Beijing Juntai would rent an
office premises owned by Sichuan Hanergy for a
term of one year from 16 September 2017 to 15
September 2018. The monthly rental for the
office premises was RMB19,680.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(1)

Agreements with Sichuan Hanergy (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Tenancy agreement for factory premises

On 15 September 2017 Beijing Juntai entered
into a tenancy agreement with Sichuan Hanergy,
pursuant to which Beijing Juntai would rent a
factory premises owned by Sichuan Hanergy for
a term of one year from 16 September 2017 to
15 September 2018. The monthly rental for the
factory premises was RMB275,880. On 18
September 2018, Beijing Juntai entered into a
tenancy agreement with Sichuan Hanergy,
pursuant to which Beijing Juntai would rent a
factory premises owned by Sichuan Hanergy for
a term of one year from 30 September 2018 to
29 September 2019. The monthly rental for the
factory premises is RMB194,898.

Tenancy agreement for staff dormitory

On 15 September 2017 Beijing Juntai entered
into a tenancy agreement with Sichuan Hanergy,
pursuant to which Beijing Juntai would rent a
staff dormitory owned by Sichuan Hanergy for a
term of one year from 16 September 2017 to 15
September 2018. The monthly rental for the staff
dormitory was RMB10,800. On 26 July 2018,
Beijing Juntai entered into a tenancy agreement
with Sichuan Hanergy, pursuant to which Beijing
Juntai would rent a staff dormitory owned by
Sichuan Hanergy for the period from 15 July
2018 to 15 September 2019. The monthly rental
for the staff dormitory is RMB8,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS #(EBREXRS (&)

(continued)

(1)

MiaSolé Service Agreement

On 7 March 2016, MiaSolé Hi-Tech Corp. (“MiaSolé Hi-
Tech”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and MiaSolé, a wholly owned subsidiary of Hanergy
Holding, entered into a service agreement (the
“Service Agreement”) pursuant to which MiaSolé Hi-
Tech agreed to provide to MiaSolé business and
commercial management, accounting and finance,
legal, purchasing/procurement, and other general
administrative services necessary for the operation of
MiaSolé’'s business as a purchasing agent for
transacting product and direct material sales between
the customer and vendor base.

Pursuant to the Service Agreement, MiaSolé shall pay

to MiaSolé Hi-Tech a monthly fixed fee of US$67500
from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018.

The details of the transactions were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 8 March 2016.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company

had reviewed the above continuing connected transaction

(I) = (II) and confirmed the transaction had been entered into:

(M

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Company;

either on normal commercial terms or, if there were
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge
whether they were on normal commercial terms, on
terms no less favourable to the Company than terms
available to or from (as appropriate) independent third
parties; and

in accordance with the relevant agreement governing
them on terms that were fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to

report on the Group's continuing connected transactions in

accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance

Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements

Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial

Information and with reference to Practice Note 740

Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst &

Young have issued their unqualified letter containing their

findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing

connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in

accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy
of the auditor’'s letter has been provided by the Company to
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

BEBRERS ®)

$Qﬂ2@i#ﬁﬁ%$ﬂ§ﬁtﬂ%%%@

B - (INEERZ S

1) RAAFATER—MERBIZALTY

2) H-BELEZX SINERHTELE
REUTCR TR —BELGER AR
HARNRMERBEREABIE=Fi2
o HEBYEHBEREEER)
TR R

3) BESEZZRSHEBHE- a%
BB EEIBATAE  BHAAA
BRE - BB R -

AATVZEM %k & 500 B LB E S B

BB DG EM 2 BB E D LA E30005
QﬂungﬁigﬁﬁfW%éﬁuﬁmﬁ%

THELNSEEBHALTAOREREE LT
Bt 5B 2R S B AR AR E 2
SEREXIHFELRE - WKEHMEBHRC
RIE LT HRAIFE14A 56F % 1 ERE L &

WA

RARER EXFARBECREBEI M
BzRBRE&ER - ARBCAB BB AR

L\$Z§&Eﬁtﬂﬂ¥22aﬂﬂi°

EEARETEMARAR



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Principal terms of Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the terms of the share option scheme adopted
by the Company on 28 August 2007 (the “Share Option
Scheme”), the Company may grant option to (i) any director,
employee or consultant of the Group or a company in which
the Group holds an equity interest or a subsidiary of such
company (“Affiliate”); or (ii) any discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include any director, employee or
consultant of the Group or an Affiliate; or (i) a company
beneficially owned by any director, employee or consultant
of the Group or an Affiliate; (iv) any customer, supplier or
adviser whose service to the Group or business with the
Group contributes or is expected to contribute to the
business or operation of the Group as may be determined
by the Directors from time to time to subscribe for the
shares of the Company.

The Share Option Scheme is set up for the purpose of
attracting and retaining quality personnel and other persons
and providing incentive to them to contribute to the
business and operation of the Group. To this end, the
Directors may specify the minimum period, if any, for which
an option must be held or the performance targets, if any,
that must be achieved before the option can be exercised.

Share options may be granted without any initial payment
for the share options at an exercise price (subject to
adjustments as provided therein) equal to the highest of (i)
the nominal value of the shares;(ii) the closing price per
share as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheet on the date of the grant of the share option; and (iii)
the average closing price per share as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the grant of the
share option.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Principal terms of Share Option Scheme (continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the company shall not exceed 10% of the share capital of
the Company in issue on 28 August 2007 the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme, unless a refresh
approval of the shareholders is obtained. At a special
general meeting of the Company held on 11 June 2010, the
shareholders of the Company have approved to refresh the
10% limit. As at the date of this report, the total number of
shares available for issue upon the exercise of all options
granted or to be granted under the Share Option Scheme is
461,224,947 (representing 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of passing the resolution to
refresh the 10% limit).

The maximum number of the shares (issued and to be
issued) in respect of which share options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme to any one grantee in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the share capital of
the Company in issue on the last date of such 12-month
period unless approval of the shareholders of the Company
has been obtained in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Share Option Scheme was approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 28 August 2007 and has
expired on 27 August 2017 The exercise period of an option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not be more
than ten years from its date of grant and may include the
minimum period, if any, for which such option must be held
before it can be exercised.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) B ETE 2)
Principal terms of Share Option Scheme (continued) BRESTEHZTERR(E)

The exercisable period of the share options granted was FIEHERENTEHERAARESATNE
determined by the directors of the Company each time HERER LT - RIEBREZIEE HER
when the options were granted. Holders of share options  #/EA AR A NTTEEIARITE H B MR
granted under the Share Option Scheme may only exercise

their options during the exercisable periods as follows:

Maximum
percentage of
exercisable
Date of grant Exercisable period share options
A{TEEIRAE
BB TS ZLERBEDL
27/10/2014 27/10/2014-31/10/2015 10%
ZZT-NWE+AZ+ER ZE—NOF+AZTLHEZET—AF+A=+—H
1/11/2015-31/10/2016 10%
—E-AFT-A-AE-FT-AFTA=+-8
1/11/2016-31/10/2017 10%
—E-RFt+—A—BE=Z—tF+A=+—H
1/11/2017-31/10/2018 10%
—E—+tF+—A—BEZ—-N\F+A=+—H
1/11/2018-31/10/2019 60%
—E-NFt+—A—BEZ—NF+A=1+—H
30/1/2015 30/1/2015-29/1/2016 10%
—ZT-H¥—HA=+H —E—hAFf—A=tHAE-ZE—X"F—A=1+ANA8
30/1/2016-29/1/2017 10%
—E-RF-A=Z+tHRE=ZE—tF—A=+NIH
30/1/2017-29/1/2018 10%
—E—+tF—A=t+HE=ZE—-N\F—HA=+A1H
30/1/2018-29/1/2019 10%
—E-N\FE—A=t+HEZZE—hhFE—HA=+A1H
30/1/2019-29/1/2020 60%
- NE-AZ+HE-_Z_TF—-HF_-_+A1AB
16/4/2015 16/4/2015-15/4/2016 10%
—E-hFMA+RA ZE-RAFMNA+AHEZZE—A"FWA+HHAH
16/4/2016-15/4/2017 10%
TE-RFNA+ABEZZE—tFMNA+HAA
16/4/2017-15/4/2018 10%
TE—+tFNA+ABEZZE-N\FNA+AA
16/4/2018-15/4/2019 10%
ZE-\FMNA+AHEZZE—NAFEmA+HHAH
16/4/2019-15/4/2020 60%

—E-NFRA+ABE-_ZE_EEWMA+HAH
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Movements of share options

Details of the movements in the share options granted

BREEw)
BRESE
ERNREERES BB ERE, #B BN

under the Share Option Scheme during the year are as | :

follows:

Movement of share options during the year
EREREZ2D

QOutstanding as QOutstanding as

Exercise at at
Eligible persons Date of grant price Exercise period 1112018 Lapsed 311212018
RZZ-NF RZ2-NF
-B-H tZA=t-H
RERAL RHAH B A AT B&H BRI
(HKS)
(¢7)
Director
g%
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie 27110/2014 1716 27/10/2014-31/10/2019 1,400,000 (200,000) 1,200,000
-Gt “E-PETACTERA ZE-MEF AT tAECE-AETAZ-R
Other employees 27/10/2014 1716 27/10/2014-31/10/2019 21,560,000 (3,800,000 17760,000
EftES “F-RETA-TEA Z3-MEHA-HHREE-AETA=T-R
30/1/2015 3.61 30/1/2015-29/1/2020 11,360,000 (4,220,000 740,000
“Z-R§¥-A=tH “E-RF-A=THAZ-Z-FF-A-TAR
16/4/2015 6.91 16/4/2015-15/4/2020 12,240,000 (4,960,000) 7280,000
“E2-TEMATRA ZE-R5MmA+AAEZE-ZFMATERRA
46,560,000 (13,180,000) 33,380,000
HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED EREREEEERRAA
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the consolidated financial statements set out on
pages 130 and 131.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’'s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders at 31 December
2018 were as below:

i
AEE 2 RERFRZEHIERENEI1308
RENERSHBREPGAEREDRA -

EERE KRR -_ZE—NE+_/A=+—
BA DR FREZHENOT

i

BES

Contributed surplus i

hl

2018 2017
—Z2-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
33,132 33,132

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
excess of the carrying value of the subsidiaries acquired
over the nominal value of the Company's shares issued in
prior years and reorganisation during the year ended 31
December 2009 which, under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended), is available for distribution to the
shareholders of the Company. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out
of contributed surplus if:

(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be

less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium account.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS BrRiEER

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the BEAEEFHIHELEERTEEZTRS
Company’s bye-laws (“Bye-laws”) although there is no ZAQGZATME|([RAE4ME]]) I EERE LS
statutory restriction against such rights under the laws in R 27 EE o

Bermuda.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT V¥ -BERERE

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment HREBZH%  HMERSBHERERNZ S5
of the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the HNLGAMEREMF13 -
consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED f@EREREARLFIE

Details of the borrowings of the Group outstanding at 31 RZZT—NF+_A=+—H8 KXEFBHERXE
December 2018 is set out in note 26 to the consolidated RZFBHNGATBEHRRNF206 - N T

financial statements. There is no capitalised interest in — \FIWEERLFE
2018.
PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES EFTEMRE QT

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 R-Z—N\&E+=-_A=+—8 ARG TEN
December 2018 are set out in note 1 to the consolidated BAGZaHEHNGEHBEHREMT -
financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY B RS E
A five year financial summary is shown on pages 319 and HEHBHEHNEI198 L FE320E o
320.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yuan Yabin (Chairman)

Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Si Haijian (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Huang Songchun (Financial Controller)

Mr. Xu Xiaohua

Mr. Zhang Bin

Mr. Wang Xiong (Vice Chairman)
(Resigned on 15 March 2018)

Mr. Lo Man Tuen, G.B.S., JP
Professor He Xiaofeng
Professor Zhang Qiusheng
Mr. Wang Dan

In accordance with the bye-law 87(1) of the Company’s Bye-
Laws, Mr. Yuan Yabin, Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie, Mr. Si Haijian
and Mr. Huang Songchun will retire from office at the AGM
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the employing company within one year
without the payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

ANNUAL REPORT 2018

S
FAREEAREAHZEEMT :

RuWrE(£E)
WIS (FEE)
ABREE(EEHTE)

BNERE (WHEE
HERELLE

R KL
THEE(FHEE)

(RZFB-NF=HA+HAFHF)

EmseE, G.B.S, X F#1t
]/ N IR

SR AEHIX

IRRLE

BIBEARAZRAARRAISES7(1fF - REW L
£oM-IBEL - AIBRELENERFLLR
RERBFARE LRE HEEERLBEEER
EAE -

BRAERERRBFASLEECESHE
BARBLEETAMB AR ZEARF A
E—FALTHE CEERERIN MELEZ
RIEER -

—T-)\FFHy 87



88

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES

As at 31
executive of the Company had interest or short position in

December 2018, the directors or the chief

the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQ")) as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the

EEzRO#ER

RZB-NF+ZA=+—B ARAIEFHL
TETBRAEBEARARAREBERZE(EER
EHMBEGRD (TESRBEGG]) EXVE)
ZBetn ~ BB RESFH ER TSR A
RAREBESF LB ERIIFB2REAFEZE
Rtz EmIRE  IRBEEMERZHAA
RABES EWAR(TEmARRA) M8+ FrE
LEMBOTAEFETESFRHNFRESTA
(MEESTRI ANEARRARBEEBHAXHHA
BRAR ([T 2 e SOXBEINIMT ¢

Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as follows:

Number of
underlying shares
under derivatives

Percentage of

issued share

Number equity/share capital

Name of Director Capacity held of shares options  Total interests (%)

fTETAER BB

BT zHBERE RABDL

EEpg BEEH ROEE BREHE AHER (%)

Mr. YUAN Yabin Beneficial owner 20,220,000 (L) — 20,220,000 (L) 0.048
RoWEE ERABEA

Dr. LAM Yat Ming Eddie  Beneficial owner — 1,200,000 (L) 1,200,000 (L) 0.003
H—IBtEL ERAEBA

Mr. HUANG Songchun Beneficial owner 1,248,500 (L)

BINEESE ERBEBA

Interest of spouse 1,657,500 (L) — 2,906,000 (L) 0.007
fLB s

Mr. XU Xiaohua Beneficial owner 6,000,000 (L) — 6,000,000 (L) 0.014
REEEL S ERABA

L Long positions &

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company had
registered an interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations that was required to be recorded
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” in the report of the Directors and
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, no
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed Share Option
Scheme above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance concerning the management or
administration of the whole or any substantial part of any
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

ANNUAL REPORT 2018

EEvROERS @)

BREXFREEN R-_FT-N\E+=A
=t+—B ARRZEERTIETBRABHE
RAR R REARBAE 2By - MERDHE
FHECEATARTERARAREESK
MEGPIFEI2GAEFE cBRMZERIX
B IREBEEETAANEG AR MERAZ

R A -

EENEXRGRzER

BREFERGE(FERER S| REAaHRKRW
B4R BTN RFHE B RFREMERE - AR
ANEEAMNBARMET L ESEETER
HEEUEREARSLERAR -

BEROSESF 2L

B EXBRER B —HREEN RFEAE
{ATBY 8 - AR B S E A ] Y /B8 2 ) S AT SZ A
Mz BREEEANABEARNRBHEREM
ENERE Z B S B 5 M AR A & o

EERBRBEEE

FRAY BT FEEMNERALAZEHAE
MERBIRBZERNEERTHRAR °

89



90

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement scheme are shown in
note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group's retirement scheme contributions charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year amounted to
approximately HK$127692,000 (2017: HK$43,254,000).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2018, the register of substantial
shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO shows that other than the interests
disclosed above in respect of certain directors and chief
executives of the Company, the following shareholders had
notified the Company of relevant interests in the issued
share capital of the Company.

R RGHE
AEEZRAHBFBERRNGEMBREM T
2.4

REE AGEBHEREGE2EWRERNGZ
NEBERNRE 2 H R4 A127,692,0007 7T
T ZE— 4 : 43,254,00087T) -

FERR

KoB-NE+ZA=+-B AAFRES
%R E D B3R R 2 S BREAME
OB LXFRBENETEERAARLE
FHA 2 #30  THRE BB AA R AR
FA AT E TR 2 R -

Percentage of
issued share

Interests in capital
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares (%)
HE#1T
[ NI= o
RREHB ERME Iz 17 e 25 (%)
Mr. Li He Jun Interest of controlled corporation 20,807,772,921 (L) 49.37
FHALE FrizEdlEE 2 s
3,122,000,000 (S) 7.41
Mr. Li Weijun Beneficial owner & Interest of 10,321,493,276 (L) 24.49
FEHEE controlled corporation (Note 1)
EnlA ARESDEE 2R (Hta1)
ItREZHSEESEMR A Interest of controlled corporation 10,341,329,376 (L) 24.53
FrzEdlEE 2 s (Note 1)
(Hat1)
b mIEE NIREAR AT Interest of controlled corporation 10,341,329,376 (L) 24.53
Pz AR 2 e (Note 1)
(Ktzt1)
Hanergy Hydroelectric Beneficial owner & Interest 10,341,329,376 (L)
Power Group Limited* of controlled corporation (Note 1) 24.53
ERKNEEBREEERAR EREEARFFEGEER #Ea (Htz1)
¥ Formerly known as Hanergy Holding Group Limited
RITER LT EE AR QA
HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED ZRERREERER AR
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued) FERR @)
Percentage of
issued share
Interests in capital
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares (%)
HE#T
=
BRERERE EEME %17 fE 2 (%)
EREIE IR AR AT Interest of controlled corporation 10,341,329,376 (L) 24.53
Pz 6K 2 fE 2 (Note 1)
(Hat1)
RS BRERIEIRABE A F  Interest of controlled corporation 20,107,772,921 (L) 4771
FrizEdlEE 2 e 2,822,000,000 (S) 6.70
Hanergy Investment Beneficial owner & Interest of 19,805,088,921 (L) 46.99
Limited controlled corporation 2,822,000,000 (S) 6.70
EnEE ARMIEGIEE 2
Hanergy Option Limited Beneficial owner 2,966,785,603 (L) 7.04
EmEEA
GL Wind Farm Investment  Beneficial owner 1,973,684,104 (L) 4.68
Limited EnlEEA 400,000,000 (S) 0.95
L Long positions &
S Short positions K&
Note: B E

1. These shares comprise the Second Tranche of 1,473,458,688 1.
Subscription Shares at the Subscription Price of HK$0.12 per
Subscription Share and the Third Tranche of 1,473,458,688
Subscription Shares at the Subscription Price of HK$0.10 per
Subscription Share will be issued and allotted pursuant to
Subscription Agreement dated 20 May 2010 and the
subsequent Supplementary Agreement.

ZERBRNBEERE-_T—ZTFRA
ZHBFNzREBEREGZE R R E
FUABTT R AR B 2 5 —#Ht A H£1,473,458,688
RRBERD - SRABRH0I12BETRE=
#t & #£1,473,458,688X R EE AL 1D - TR
A% 70.105% 7T ©
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been
notified any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO
as at 31 December 2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the corporate governance practices of the
Company is set out on pages 93 to 107 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules as at the date of this report.

CHANGE OF PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

The Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong
has been relocated to Room 2204-06, 22/F World Trade
Centre, 280 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
with effect from 13 August 2018.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young was appointed by the Directors to conduct
audit on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2018. A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to reappoint Ernst & Young as the auditors
of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Yuan Yabin
Chairman

Beijing, the PRC, 29 March 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERAHRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES TEERE

The Board is dedicated to provide effective and responsible ZZE€8B& A

leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and é%; EZNAMER
collectively, must act in good faith in the best interests of HRE 2 &EMR 7%1

the Company and its shareholders.

The Board has established the following committees to
oversee different areas of the Company's affairs. The
composition of the Board and the committees are given
below and their respective responsibilities are discussed
later in this report. The terms of references of these
committees adopted by the Board are published on the
Company's website (www.hanergythinfilmpower.com).

As at 31 December 2018, the members of the Board and
the committees are as follows:

YN T HEMRRBEEZE
1D %pﬁi TE AKX RA

EFEEERUNTZREGEEARATRER
ZEH- i%Aﬁxié”@Z}ﬂiéﬁﬁ/\Ti

ﬁﬁﬁ%@ ZBEBNARET

Mimilt o % E

BEgvBRESECEETSRM LEHF NN

2 B #3uh (www.hanergythinfilmpower.com) ©

E@Z)ﬂi,ju—l—

Audit Remuneration

—NFE+ZA=t—H EFeRKZE

Nomination

Committee Committee Committee
EREEE FMEES REEES
Board BExg
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Yuan Yabin (Chairman) ROWEE(EE)
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie M—I51E+
(Vice Chairman) (&1 F/E)
Mr. Si Haijian AR EE
(Chief Executive Officer) (B/EHTE)
Mr. Huang Songchun ENHELE
(Financial Controller) (U HBE)
Mr. Xu Xiaohua TREEZE S A4
Mr. Zhang Bin SR ST A
Independent non-executive BAUFHITES

Directors
Mr. Lo Man Tuen, G.B.S., E XA, G.B.S.,

JP A F#i+ v v v*
Professor He Xiaofeng fa] /N2 2R v v v
Professor Zhang Qiusheng Rk A % v* v/ v
Mr. Wang Dan THEE v/ 4 v

* Chairperson of the committee ZE &% &
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TRERAHRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

The Board sets the Group's objectives and strategies and
monitors its performance. The Board also decides on
matters such as annual and interim results, major
transactions, director appointments, dividend and
accounting policies. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility of managing and overseeing the Group’s
day to day operations to the Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Directors of the Company and respective
directors of principal subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Yuan Yabin is the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Si
Haijian is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. There
are clear divisions among their responsibilities with a view
to achieving a balance of power and authority. The Chairman
provides leadership to the Board in terms of formulating
policies and strategies. The Chief Executive Officer of the
Company has the overall responsibility of implementing the
decisions, policies and strategies approved by the Board,
and overseeing the Group’s business and operations.

The Company had received annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive directors as regards their
independence to the Company and based on the contents
of such confirmations, considers that each of the
independent non-executive Directors is independent to the
Company.

The company secretary of the Company assists the
Chairman in setting the agenda of board meetings and each
Director is invited to present any businesses that they wish
to discuss or propose at the meetings. All Directors have
timely access to all relevant information of the meetings
and may take professional advice if necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRSE

THE BOARD EES

During the year ended 31 December 2018, Board meeting HEZ-ZE—N\F+-A=+—HILFELET
ErgealRRRE EFHEFBUOT

and general meeting were held with details of the
Directors’ attendance set out below:

Attendance/No. of meetings

HERE BBXE
Board meeting General meeting
Directors B=E EEg23 BREXE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Yuan Yabin RIEWiE4E 717 1/1
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie M—IBE L 7/7 1/1
Mr. Si Haijian AL E 7/7 11
Mr. Huang Songchun EMEFELE 717 11
Mr. Xu Xiaohua TREEE SR 4 7/7 1/1
Mr. Zhang Bin SRMSE A 7/7 11
Mr. Wang Xiong THEE
(Resigned on 15 March 2018) (RZE—N\E=A+HH
L) N/AZ & N/A i A
Independent non-executive BIYFHITES
Directors
Mr. Lo Man Tuen, G.B.S., JP EXH %k, GB.S., X F#1t 717 1/1
Professor He Xiaofeng EEN=ZE €5 7/7 1/1
Professor Zhang Qiusheng oR A 717 11
Mr. Wang Dan TREE 7/7 11
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TRERAHRE

THE BOARD (continued)

Under the Bye-laws, all Directors are currently required to
offer themselves for re-election by rotation at least once
every three years. All Directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election at the first general
meeting after their appointment.

Under the Bye-laws, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting.
According to the Listing Rules, every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

The Directors will continuously review and improve the
corporate governance practices and standards of the
Company to ensure that business activities and decision
making process are regulated in a proper and prudent
manner.

During the year, the Chairman had at least annually held
meetings with all independent non-executive directors
without the executive directors present.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 15
June 2018, the chairman of the Board and the members of
all board committees, together with the external auditor of
the Company were present to be available to answer any
question to ensure effective communication with
shareholders of the Company.

Every newly appointed director of the Company had
received a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on
appointment. Subsequently any briefing or continuous
professional development will be provided to ensure that
Director has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of his
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing
Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERBE

THE BOARD (continued)

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. During the year, in-house seminar
was conducted covering the topics on insider dealing, false
trading, price rigging, disclosure of information about
prohibited transactions, disclosure of false or misleading
information inducing transactions, and stock market
manipulation. Directors participated in the following

BEEg %)

AREBBEST2ARBEIEBRBBINLE
KB AEB R  FAGETABATE
NEBREANRBRD  ERRS  REER K
BREARREZRZEN BREERIAREN
ZERAFEETRS  UARFBFHTIHEAL
EXZR2HETHIEI

trainings:

Types of Trainings
Directors = EHER
Executive Directors HBTES
Mr. Yuan Yabin ROEWEE S, R
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie M—ISiE T S, R
Mr. Si Haijian AERELE S, R
Mr. Huang Songchun BEINELE S, R
Mr. Xu Xiaohua TREEEE S A4 S, R
Mr. Zhang Bin SR ST A S, R
Independent non-executive Directors BIYKHITES
Mr. Lo Man Tuen & X 4 A S, R
Professor He Xiaofeng (BN~ €53 S, R
Professor Zhang Qiusheng RN AEHR S, R
Mr. Wang Dan FREAE S, R

S: Attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums
relating to directors’ duties

R: Reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the
economy, general business or directors’ duties, etc.

To the best of knowledge of the Company, there is no
financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships among members of the Board.

Appropriate insurance to cover against liability of the

Directors and officers of the Company was arranged and
will be renewed annually.
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TRERBE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company was established to
review the Group’s financial reporting, risk management,
internal controls and corporate governance issues and make
relevant recommendations to the Board. As at 31
December 2018, the Audit Committee comprised four
independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of the
Audit Committee possesses appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under the Listing Rules. Please refer
to biography section of Directors for further details of the
committee members.

The Audit Committee may elect to ask the external auditors
to attend its meetings. During the year, the Audit
Committee has met with the external auditors with no
executive Directors present.

BEREEE
ARRZEVEZBETIKLIABRNASE 2 M
B ERERE  ANEEREEEREE
THERSRIEEEZE R-T-N\F+=
A=+t—RB BERZEBeERERBIUIFRNT
EX -ERZEEIRABLTRAMREZ
BERRER AR B EEERAH
FRZBeRBZE—SHBFRL2HNESEE
—ff o

ERZEQUERRYINERBMHFERLSE -
RAFE BERZESCEINERBMBITY
BEHTESTHR 2GS -

No. of meetings attended

HESERE
Mr. Lo Man Tuen & X 5 A 2/2
Professor He Xiaofeng Al R R 2/2
Professor Zhang Qiusheng Rk IR 2/2
Mr. Wang Dan EHEE 2/2
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERBE

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The services provided by Ernst & Young and other audit
firms and the fees thereof for the year ended 31 December
2018 and 2017, respectively, were as follows:

BB

KB MEBARE MG EBINEE
2\ FRIB—+F+A=T—HLF
BoRlRMRELEEBERNT -

2017
Statutory Annual EEFE —E—
Ernst & Young TG TR E T FT
— Agreed upon procedure -HERF 4,594 3,460
— Annual audit and special audit —-FEEZNERERZ 22,352 15,915
— Other service —H AR 8,975 320
Other audit firms for the audit and other Efth &t EHM 2 EZLE
related service o & B8 IR 75 7015 3,075
42,936 22,770

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was
established to review the remuneration of Directors and the
Group's salary policy. A majority of members are
independent non-executive Directors. To minimize any
conflict of interest, any member who is interested in any
given proposed motion is required to abstain from voting on
such motion. During the year under review, the
Remuneration Committee had reviewed the Group's policy
and structure for all remuneration of Directors, and the
remuneration of new Directors on appointment.

On 15 June 2018, each of the executive Directors entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of
three years, subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company
and the Listing Rules, with their existing directors’ fees and
remuneration.
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TtEEBRRSE
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued) YMEES ()
No. of meetings attended
HESBRE
Mr. Lo Man Tuen & 3 e A 2/2
Professor He Xiaofeng EENZE €5 2/2
Professor Zhang Qiusheng oR T A 2/2
Mr. Wang Dan EFNEE 2/2

With reference to the respective duties and responsibilities KREZEEZEARNANEF BERBEURS
of Directors in the Group as well as the prevailing market FImR%E U TEE 288 (BEHFE2 R
condition, the monthly remuneration (including salary and EZ®4%) HFAENT :

director’s fee) of the following Directors were adjusted as

follows:
Monthly remuneration
Name of Directors (Including salary and director’s fee) Effective Date
EEnR BAMESEBRFERESES) M BH
(HK$)
(&)
Mr. Lo Man Tuen 50,000 1 April 2018
& M i A —E-NFHHA—H
Professor He Xiaofeng 50,000 1 April 2018
fa] /N EHIR —ET-NFMNA—AH
Professor Zhang Qiusheng 50,000 1 April 2018
SR K A A% —E-NFMHHA—H
Mr. Wang Dan 50,000 1 April 2018
EREE —E-NFHA—H
Mr. Yuan Yabin 374,518 1 May 2018
REWEE —T-N¥HEHA—H
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TRERAHRE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company was established
with specific written terms of reference to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board at least
annually, to make recommendations on the procedures and
criteria for appointment of Directors and to implement
those that are adopted by the Board. All members are
independent non-executive Directors.

The Company has a Board Diversity Policy to enhance the
quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees
increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. In designing
the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

REZEES
ARARERURBZEGUAZSHAERE
HE BIBFER - REFQZRE BR
AR MR FES 2 RRF REARBEZS
PREZEMRMAELZE 2BKEDHRBY
FMTES-

ARFCRMEETENEZTTEEREUEAT
FEE - RERKEVYEHRR ARARAE
FERESTIREREREBRRAFSELR
MR ARBELEFTENER  KLZHE
EREFEXEZ L BRETRRER
Fik XERBEER Bk FELR K
B AMBNREFEH -EFGMAEZETHUA
AEABREA - ROBEREFEEKNEZ TN
HHRSBEEREERAL -

No. of meetings attended

HESERE
Mr. Lo Man Tuen E XA 1/1
Professor He Xiaofeng Al NE IR ”n
Professor Zhang Qiusheng R A IR 1/1
Mr. Wang Dan EHEE 1/1

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
had reviewed the structure of the Board and the re-election
of Directors at the annual general meeting of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate

governance duties with its written terms of reference as

set out below:

(a)

(d)

to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to review the Company's compliance with the code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

No corporate governance committee has been established

and the corporate governance report has been reviewed by

the Board in discharge of its corporate governance function.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The annual and interim results announcement of the

Company are published in a timely manner and within three

months and two months respectively of the year end and

interim periods.

The responsibility of Directors in relation to the financial

statements is set out below.

It should be read in

conjunction with, but distinguished from, the Independent

Auditor’s Report on pages 113 to 125 which acknowledges

the reporting responsibility of the Group’'s Auditor.
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TRERAHRE

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)
Annual Report and Accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the annual report and financial statements of
the Company to ensure that these financial statements give
a true and fair presentation in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting Policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements, the Group has applied appropriate accounting
policies that are consistently adopted and made
judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent
in accordance with the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group
keeps accounting records which disclose the financial
position of the Group upon which financial statements of
the Group could be prepared in accordance with the
Group's accounting policies while monthly updates giving a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Company's
performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail had
been provided to all Directors.

Safeguarding Assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities within
the Group.

Going Concern

The Directors, after due and careful enquiries and by
performing the necessary due diligence work to assess the
credibility and the capacity of the Hanergy Affiliates, are of
the view that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future
and that, for this reason, it is appropriate for the Group to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements.
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TRERBE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has an overall responsibility for maintaining a
sound and effective risk management and internal control
system (the “System”) of the Group. The System is
designed not only to achieve the Group's objectives with
facilitating an effective and efficient business operation to
ensure a reliable financial reporting and compliance with
applicable rules and regulations, but also to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance on preventing
material misstatement or loss as well as managing and
minimizing risks of failure in operational system. The risk
management process includes risk identification, risk
evaluation, risk management measures and risk control and
review.

The Group's business, financial conditions and results may
be affected by risk and uncertainties pertaining to the
Group’s business. Certain significant risks have been
identified through the process of risk identification and
assessment.

The Board should at least annually conduct a review on the
effectiveness of the System including all relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

The Directors, through the Audit Committee and the
internal audit department, have continued to review the
effectiveness of the System. The System is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. Controls are monitored by management review and by
a programme of internal audits.
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TRERAHRE

COMPLIANCE WITHTHE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

During the year, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Directors will continuously review and improve the
corporate governance practices and standards of the
Company to ensure that business activities and decision
making process are regulated in a proper and prudent
manner.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules (the “"Model Code”).
specific enquiry to all Directors, the Directors confirmed

Having made

that they had complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted by the
Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening a Special General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to the Bye-law 58, a special general meeting may
be convened by the Board upon requisition by any
shareholder holding not less than one-tenth of the issued
share capital of the Company and the securities being held
carrying the right of voting at any general meetings of the
Company. The shareholder shall make a written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company at
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the
shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal
regarding any specified transaction/business and its
supporting documents.
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TRERAHRE

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Convening a Special General Meeting by Shareholders
(continued)

The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting within
two (2) months after the receipt of such written requisition.
The Company shall serve requisite notice of the general
meeting, including the time, place of meeting and
particulars of resolutions to be considered at the meeting
and the general nature of the business.

If within twenty-one (21) days of the receipt of such written
requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
special general meeting, the shareholder shall do so
pursuant to the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act of Bermuda.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary of the Company at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong, specifying
the shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her
contact details and the proposal he/she intends to put
forward at general meeting regarding any specified
transaction/business and its supporting documents.

Making Enquiry to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries, either by post, by
facsimiles or by email, together with his/her contact details,
such as postal address, email or fax, addressing to Board of
the Company at the following address or facsimile number
or via email:

Room 2204-06, 22/F, World Trade Centre,

280 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong,
Fax: (852) 2635 1337

Email: ir@hanergythinfilmpower.com

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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TRERBE

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Convening a Special General Meeting by Shareholders
(continued)

All enquiries shall be collected by the Company Secretary
who shall report to the Executive Directors periodically on
the enquiries collected. The Executive Directors shall review
the enquiries and assign different kinds of enquiries to
appropriate division head/manager for answering. After
receiving the answers of all enquiries from the relevant
division head/manager, the Company Secretary will collect
the answers for the Executive Directors’ review and

approval.

Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company’'s shareholders communication policy aims to
enhance the corporate communication effectively between
the shareholders, and the Board and the senior
management of the Company through various official
channels so that the shareholders can access the

Company'’s public information equally in a timely manner.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEBERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yuan, Yabin (“Mr. Yuan”), aged 50, was appointed as
an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board on 20
May 2016. Mr. Yuan also acts as director and legal
representative of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Yuan obtained a bachelor degree in engineering from Harbin
Institute of Technology in 1990 and a master degree in
business administration from Tsinghua University in 2003.
Prior to joining Hanergy Holding Group, Mr. Yuan has
worked in CPPCC National Committee and Capital
Aerospace Machinery Corporation. Mr. Yuan worked in
Hanergy Holding Group Limited (ZREIEMEB AR AR)
from 2013 to 2018. Mr. Yuan also act as the Director and
President of Hanergy Mobile Energy Holding Group Co., Ltd
(2B BRRIEREEBRAF]).

Dr. Lam, Yat Ming Eddie (“Dr. Lam”), aged 50, joined the
Board as an executive Director on 15 May 2014 and was
appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Board on 20 May
2016. Dr. Lam also acts as director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Dr. Lam has years of experience in banking
and financing. Dr. Lam is a post-doctorate in Financial
Engineering from the Shanghai Jiaotong University and
holds a doctor of philosophy degree in Finance from the
Hong Kong Chinese University. Dr. Lam is also a Chartered
Financial Analyst, Certified Financial Planner, Fellow of
Institute of Public Accountants (Australia) and Fellow of The
Institute of Financial Accountants (United Kingdom). Dr.
Lam has worked at various financial institutions, including
China CITIC Bank
International, BCT, Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation, and
Standard Chartered Bank.

CITIC Securities International,

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEBERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Si Haijian (“Mr. Si”), aged 40, joined the Board as an
executive Director on 21 December 2015 and was
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
on 20 May 2016. Mr. Si also acts as director and legal
representative of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Si obtained a bachelor’'s degree in accounting from
Shandong College of Economics (LU Z2ER) in 2002 and
an MBA degree from Beijing Jiaotong University (1t R 3@
AKE) in 2008. From 2016, Mr. Si is studying in Doctor of
Management in Beijing Jiatong University (It i@ AE).
Mr. Si is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, a Certified Internal Auditor and a
Certified Public Accountant of the PRC. Mr. Si has
extensive experiences in financial management and general
management. He joined Hanergy Holding in April 2014 and
worked for Hanergy Global Solar Power & Applications
Group as chief executive officer.

Mr. Huang Songchun (“Mr. Huang”), aged 53, was
appointed as an executive Director and the Financial
Controller of the Company on 21 December 2015. Mr.
Huang also acts as director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Huang obtained a bachelor’s degree in
economics from Northern Jiatong University (1b75 3338 A £2)
(currently known as Beijing Jiatong Universitydb J 32 i@ A £)
in 1988. Mr. Huang worked in Guangshen Railway Company
(BIRE AT (currently known as Guangzhou Railway
(Group) CompanyEME (@) A7) from 1988 to 2004.
Mr. Huang worked in Hanergy Holding Group Limited (ZAE
1R & B AR A A]) from 2004 to 2018.

*  For identification purpose only

ANNUAL REPORT 2018

HITES (%)

AEREE(TAXE]) 40 R-_T—1F
T AT HANMAEZSREERTES X
RIE-—RFAA-+HEZERARAER
WITE - AIEENREERREE THE LA
BERAAREK -RAIRER-_ZZT_FIEU
REBESRETEEXELEU YN _FTF
NERFLERRBASIHERELENMN - B
“E-RER AEARILERRBABEEE
BELEM - AAERSRERFARSEE

i - AIEARASENMBEENEE
EELR R_T-OFOAMAERZR
LEZEREERARNEREEERATE

ERERE(ERE]D 3% R-ZT—HF
T A+ —HEZERARANITERTRY
BRE FEEEANEETARAETHERRZ
EXZ -FR-NA/\N\FRBLLITRBAE (R
BALRXBRB)EEEEL B "4
R—ANNFE-FTTOF GERNERE K
RnE (REAREMER (RE) RF) &L
ERZZETHNFE_T— \FAEBRRNELER
SEBERRQA -

109



110

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEBERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Xu, Xiaohua (“Mr. Xu”), aged 40, was appointed as
an executive Director on 20 May 2016. Mr. Xu obtained a
master degree in microelectronics and solid- state
electronics from Institute of Semiconductors, Chinese
Academy of Sciences in 2004. Mr. Xu joined Apollo
Precision (Fujian) Limited in 2010 and currently acts as
management personnel of the Company. Mr. Xu is currently
responsible for the domestic operations of Hanergy's
flexible industrial application department and research and
development of new technology for Hanergy's equipment
business department. Mr. Xu also acts as director and legal
representative of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhang Bin (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 54, was appointed as
an executive Director on 1 October 2016. Mr. Zhang also
acts as director and legal representative of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zhang obtained a master
degree in engineering from the Beihang University in 2009.
Mr. Zhang has around 30 years’' experience in corporate
brand and sales management. Mr. Zhang had served as the
Vice President of Jomoo Kitchen & Bathroom Appliances
Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhang is currently the Senior Vice President of
Hanergy Holding Group Limited.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Lo Man Tuen, G.B.S., JP (“Mr. Lo") , aged 70, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 4
September 2017. Mr. Lo is currently the chairman of Wing Li
Group (International) Ltd.. Mr. Lo also hosts a number of
posts such as the chairman of Wing Li Packaging Limited,
the chairman of Glory Sign International Limited and the
non-executive director of China Shandong Hi-Speed
Financial Group Limited (00412.HK), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. In respect of public
offices, Mr. Lo is a member of the 9th to 12th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. In addition, Mr. Lo is the vice chairman of Sub-
committee of 12th Foreign Affairs of CPPCC National
Committee and the vice-chairman of 12th All-China
Federation of Industry and Commerce. In 2013, Mr. Lo was
also appointed as the executive director of Hong Kong
Association for the Promotion of Peaceful Reunification of
China. In 2015, Mr. Lo was appointed as the president of
China Peaceful Development General Summit of Hong Kong
Macao Taiwan Diaspora. Mr. Lo was also nominated as the
honorary life chairman of Chinese General Chamber of
Commerce of Hong Kong in 2016. Mr. Lo is currently the
vice chairman of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas
Chinese (ACFROC). In recognition of his years-long
contribution to the society, Mr. Lo was awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star, Silver Bauhinia Star, Bronze Bauhinia Star,
Medal of Honour and Justice of the Peace.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEBERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Prof. He Xiaofeng (“Prof. He"), aged 63, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 4 September
2017. Prof. He obtained a Bachelor’s degree and a Master'’s
degree in Economics in 1982 and 1984 from Peking
University, respectively. He is currently the professor of the
Department of Finance, School of Economics of Peking
University GERABLHEEBISHMEZR) since August 2000
and has been a doctoral supervisor since August 2001 and
a director of the Research Center of Financial and Industrial
Development of Peking University (1t A KE2 4 ghed &= ¥ 3 R
354 00) since August 2005. He has taught in the School
of Economics of Peking University (1t RAZ2 4L ET) since
1984. Prof. He has also has served as a council member of
China Enterprises Investment Association (B2 E R
) and deputy director of Financial Enterprises Investment
Committee (£ BIMBEIZREZ EE) from 2006 to present, vice
chairman of Beijing Private Equity Association (1t IR E
HEL%E) from 2008 to present, has served as an
independent director of E Fund Management Co., Ltd. (%7
EESEEAMRAA) from 2010 to May 2016 and served as
a director of Beijing Qingchang Power Technology Co., Ltd.
JERBGE N EMAR D BBRAF]) (SZSE Stock Code: 430057)
from February 2012 to February 2015, and has served as a
director of Beijing Fof Capital Co., Ltd from 2015 to
present. He was appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Beijing Capital Grand Limited (Stock Code: 1329) on
28 December 2016. He was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and Strategic Investment Committee of the
Beijing Capital Grand Limited on 21 December 2013.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEBERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Prof. Zhang Qiusheng (“Prof. Zhang”), aged 51, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 4
September 2017. Prof. Zhang obtained a doctoral degree in
Economics from Beijing Jiaotong University in 1992. He is
currently a second-grade professor of Beijing Jiaotong
University, the Dean of the School of Economics and
Management of Beijing Jiaotong University, the director of
the Centre of China Mergers and Acquisitions Research, a
member of course evaluation team of the Academic
Degrees Committee of the State Council, an candidate of
“Accountant Specialist Training Project” of the Ministry of
Finance and the Vice Chairman of China Federation of
Logistics & Purchasing. He is also a certified public
accountant and a certified tax counsel in the PRC. He
served as the vice mayor of Liuzhou of Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, and external directors of central
enterprises.

Mr. Wang Dan (“Mr. Wang”), aged 41, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 4 September
2017. Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor's degree in Law from
China University of Political Science and Law in 2001 and a
Master's degree in Law from University of Essex in 2004.
He currently is the director and the senior partner of The
Longan Law Firm, the part-time professor of China
University of Political Science and Law, a member of China
Banking Law Society, a member of association of
Bankruptcy Law Association of East Asia. He is the
independent director of listed companies in the PRC, which
is principally engaged in securities issuance and listing, re-
financing, re-financing of non-listed companies, venture
capital investment and private equity funds, internet and
the e-commerce and risk prevention of corporate law. He is
currently the legal counsel of various listed-companies,
listed companies on National Equities Exchange and
Quotations, larger sized state-owned enterprises and IT
companies. He also publishes the book “Legal Practices of
Electronic Commerce (& T @& ARZER)"

*  For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B AR EE

Ernst & Young KB B T Tel E5F : +852 2846 9888
22/F, CITIC Tower EBRRAEZEIR Fax 8 H& : +852 2868 4432
1Tim Mei Avenue s KE2212 ey.com

Central, Hong Kong

EY =«

To the shareholders of Hanergy Thin Film Power Group
Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Hanergy Thin Film Power Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 126 to
318, which comprise the consolidated statement of
and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

financial position as at 31 December 2018,

comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter
described in the Basis for qualified opinion section of our
report, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

As at 31 December 2018, included in the Group's trade
receivables and contract assets (previously known as gross
amount due from contract customers as at 31 December
2017) were amounts due from a third-party customer
amounting to HK$1,084,607,000 (2017: HK$1,816,927,000)
and HK$1,218,724,000 (2017: HK$865,448,000)
respectively. We were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence about the recoverability of the
Group's trade receivables and contract assets due from the
aforesaid third-party customer of HK$2,303,331,000.
Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any
provisions are required for these amounts. Any provision for
the expected credit loss of these balances would reduce
the net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2018 and
decrease the Group’s net profit for the year ended 31
December 2018.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code"),
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe

and we have fulfilled our other ethical

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. In addition to the matters described in the Basis for
qualified opinion section of our report, we have determined
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to
be communicated in our report. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment

As at 31 December 2018, property,
plant and equipment (“PP&E") of
HK$905 million contributed a
significant portion (79%) of the
Group's total non-current assets.
During the year, certain entities in
the Group that have large amount of
PP&E were in loss positions.

Management identified these
entities as different cash generating
units (“CGUs") and performed
impairment assessment on their
PP&E. Determining whether an
impairment indicator exists and
estimating the recoverable amount
requires management’s significant
judgements and estimates including
estimation of sales volume, selling
prices, manufacturing and other
operating costs, terminal value and
the discount rate. Actual cash flows
are likely to be different from those
estimated or forecast since
anticipated events sometimes do
not occur as expected and
unforeseen events may arise, and
their impact on estimates and
forecasts may be material.

The accounting policy, significant
accounting judgements and
estimates and disclosures about the
amount of provision and the balance
of PP&E are included in notes 2.4,
3, 8 and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

We discussed with management
about the business situation and
business plan of each CGU,
including reading of current sales
agreements or sales orders of
such CGUs, to assess
management's identification of
impairment indicators. We
assessed the key assumptions
adopted in the impairment
assessment, such as the sales
volume, selling prices and
manufacturing and other operating
costs by comparing with historical
trends and referencing to the
signed sales contracts and
evaluating management’s
adjustments in the future by
referencing to available market
information. We also involved our
internal valuation specialist to
assess the methodology and
discount rate applied in the
model. We reviewed the adequacy
of disclosure made in the Group's
consolidated financial statements
in respect of the impairment of
PP&E.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment of inventories
Inventories of the Group are
classified into raw materials,
photovoltaic (“PV") power
generation projects to be sold, PV
modules and PV application
products. The total amount of
inventories (before any inventory
provision) as at 31 December 2018
was HK$3,121 million and the
inventory provision provided was
HK$362 million (12% of inventory
balance before any inventory
provision). The carrying amount of
inventories contributed a significant
part (10%) of the Group's total
current assets as at 31 December
2018.

The estimation of the net realisable
value ("NRV") of these inventories
requires management to make
judgements based on these
inventories' ages, obsolescence,
future usage plan, estimated net
selling prices as well as inventory
disposal plans. Actual sales or
usages are likely to be different
from those estimated or forecast
since anticipated events sometimes
do not occur as expected and
unforeseen events may arise, and
their impact on estimates and
forecasts may be material.

The accounting policy, significant
accounting judgements and
estimates and the disclosures about
the amount of provision and the
balance of inventories are included
in notes 2.4, 3, 8 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

We obtained and understood the
progress of new projects
implemented in 2018 and
reviewed the subsequent usage
and sales of inventories in 2019
together with the management's
plan for the years after. We
reviewed the NRV calculation
provided by management to
assess the methodology, key
assumptions and parameters
used. We compared the price
estimated in the future sales with
the Group's historical data and
subsequent sales contracts. We
also reviewed the adequacy of
disclosure made in the Group's
consolidated financial statements
in respect of the impairment of
inventories.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of
financial assets

As at 31 December 2018, the
aggregate of trade receivables of
HK$3,935 million, contract assets of
HK$12,101 million and other
receivables of HK$4,102 million
contributed a significant portion
(70%) of the Group's total current
assets.

Assessing expected credit losses of
such assets is a judgemental area
which involved significant
management's judgement and
estimation on forecasting future
economic conditions.

The accounting policy, significant
accounting judgements and
estimates, and the disclosures
about the amount of provision and
the impairment approaches of trade
receivables, contract assets and
other receivables are included in
notes 2.4, 3, 8, 1718, 19 and 36 to
the consolidated financial
statements.

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

We obtained and evaluated
management’s assessment of the
expected credit loss of trade
receivables, contract assets and
other receivables, which was
based on the historical loss rates
by testing the debtors’ ageing
analysis, discussing with
management about the status of
significant overdue individual
debtor balances, reviewing the
historical settlement pattern and
subsequent settlement of
individual debtors, and evaluating
information such as actual or
expected significant changes in
the operating results of
customers, actual or expected
significant adverse changes in
market conditions that may affect
the business and customers'
financial position by reading public
available news and releases and
discussing with management for
the estimated impact thereon. We
also reviewed the adequacy of
disclosure made in the Group's
consolidated financial statements
in respect of the impairment of
trade receivables, contract assets
and other receivables.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

Revenue recognition for
construction contracts

The Group conducted several
construction contracts both in
Manufacturing segment to deliver
turnkey production lines for the
manufacturing of thin-film solar
photovoltaic modules and in
Downstream segment to construct
a series of solar power stations for
certain small to medium-sized
enterprises and poverty alleviation
projects. Revenue from these fixed
price construction contracts was
recognised over time, measured by
reference to completion of the
specific transaction assessed on the
basis of the actual costs incurred up
to the end of the reporting period as
a percentage of total estimated
costs for each contract.
Construction contract revenue
recognised during the period
amounted to HK$20,048 million,
which contributed a significant part
(94%) of the total revenue of the
Group for the year ended 31
December 2018.

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

We obtained and understood the
terms of the construction
contracts the Group entered with
its customers. We assessed the
completion percentage calculated
by management, including
assessing the total cost budgeted
by comparing with its historical
data for similar contracts and test
checked the actual cost incurred
to date to relevant equipment
purchase contracts, goods
delivery notes and allocated
labour costs for service rendered.
We performed physical
stocktaking to a selected samples
of production lines and house-hold
rooftop solar systems. We also
assessed the adequacy of
disclosure made in the Group's
consolidated financial statements
about the revenue recognition on
construction contract works.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

Key audit matter

Revenue recognition for
construction contracts (continued)
Revenue recognition on contract
work is dependent on the
estimation of the total outcome of
the construction contract, as well as
the work performed to date.
Significant judgements are required
to estimate the total contract costs,
comprising direct materials, the
costs of subcontracting, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion
of variable and fixed construction
overheads. Actual outcomes in
terms of total contract costs may be
higher or lower than those
estimated at the end of the
reporting period, which would affect
the revenue recognised in the
current period and in the future
periods.

The accounting policy and
significant accounting judgements
and estimates related to
construction contracts and
disclosures of contract revenue are
included in notes 2.4, 3 and 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
Sso.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor's report is Cheong Ming Yik.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEEkEMEEKER

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #ZE—ZE— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2018 2017
—E-N\fF —E—tF
HK$000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Revenue from contracts with HEFEHITARZWA
customers 21,251,772 6,147 385
Cost of sales SH & A AR (9,129,410) (3,472,144)
Gross profit ES 12,122,362 2,675,241
Other income and gains H b g A R i 7 224,130 76,470
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net H&MIE A G EE - F58 - (5,568)
Selling and distribution expenses  $H& &9 HE FH (854,160) (414,463)
Administrative expenses THER (2,250,896) (990,090)
Research and development costs  fiff 2% pk 4K (1,050,418) (621,678)
Other expenses Hi &R (578,673) (214,449)
Finance costs BEER (41,849) (59,339)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX i A& 7,570,496 446,124
Income tax expense FR{5 i 2 (2,377,428) (185,092)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REE R 5,193,068 261,032
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) REZHBEAIEEH 28
INCOME THAT MAY BE EEmzHMEE
RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR (8,
LOSS IN SUBSEQUENT
PERIODS:
Exchange differences on BMEBINEB 2 IELER
translation of foreign operations (532,085) 414,616
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AEEHME2E (BE),
(LOSS)/INCOME FOR Wz 0 MBRBIE
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (532,085) 414,616
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AEEE2HEWSATE
INCOME FORTHE YEAR 4,660,983 675,648




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

el kHt2EKER (E)

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #ZE—ZE— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ok FET FET
Profit/(loss) for the year JEMEAREEEF,(EE) :
attributable to:
Owners of the parent ISENEIE7 ¥ =N 5,193,017 261,099
Non-controlling interests FE5 A 2 51 (67)
5,193,068 261,032
Total comprehensive income/(loss) fEMEANEE 2 mE WS~
for the year attributable to: (E518) 488
Owners of the parent HATHA A 4,660,932 675,715
Non-controlling interests FE5E A% #E 2 51 (67)
4,660,983 675,648
HK cents HK cents
B JEN
EARNINGS PER SHARE BREEE AENL
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS BRAR
OF THE PARENT
Basic HAK 11 12.32 0.62
Diluted bl 11 11.62 0.60

Details of dividend are disclosed in note 10 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

(As at 31 December 2018 R—ZE— \F+_-_A=+—H)

2018 2017
—E-N\fF —E—tF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
ok FETT FE T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - RENMERE 13 904,619 581,302
Intangible assets EHEE 14 72,725 35,467
Available-for-sale financial At EEIEE
investments 15 - 66,097
Equity investments designated at 8 E AiZ A FET A HAM
fair value through other EPHB S ERIEE
comprehensive income 15 63,058 -
Restricted cash SR IR £ 22 18,403 4,104
Deferred tax assets EETIRE E 27 30,810 -
Other non-current assets HaIERBEE 58,971 85,471
Total non-current assets ERBNEEBE 1,148,586 772,441
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories B 16 2,758,652 1,689,670
Trade receivables E 5 W IR 17 3,934,877 7,232,791
Tax recoverable A g [B] 75 18 2,639 2,766
Gross amount due from contract JEWAREE 4%
customers 18 - 2,400,660
Contract assets SREE 18 12,100,913 -
Other receivables H th JE Y I8 19 4,101,976 1,437.143
Bills receivable EREiR 20 141,350 27363
Deposits and prepayments e RTEMNFKIE 21 5,500,390 3,369,336
Restricted cash PR HIER & 22 46,275 140,236
Cash and cash equivalents HeRAEEEY 22 359,049 2,496,760
Total current assets B A E MR 28,946,121 18,796,725
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and bills payables B 5 REBENFIE 23 5,172,070 1,737,876
Other payables and accruals HEmEMNZENESER 24 3,959,017 7.073,562
Contract liabilities aRBE 25 3,193,004 -
Interest-bearing bank and other SRITREMH EER
borrowings 26 195,837 597610
Tax payable JE 1 18 1,895,107 1,005,374
Deferred income IR E U A 32,637 20,447
Total current liabilities BB AR 14,447,672 10,434,869
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEEFHE 14,498,449 8,361,856
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEHEBERRBEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 15,647,035 9,134,297




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(continued)

mEPMBRRR (&

(As at 31 December 2018 R—ZE— \F+_-_A=+—H)

2018 2017
—E-N\fF —E—tF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
ok FET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Deferred tax liabilities RLEIBEE 27 1,975,262 478,048
Interest-bearing bank and other IRITRE MK B AR
borrowings 26 490,956 528,398
Other non-current liabilities HM3ERBAE 9,440 20,049
Total non-current liabilities ERBAFEERE 2,475,658 1,026,495
Net assets BEFE 13,171,377 8,107,802
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to the owners & A F#HE A B
of the parent
Share capital R& X 28 105,364 105,364
Reserves Eg] 30 13,065,426 8,001,902
13,170,790 8,107,266
Non-controlling interests JEERE R 587 536
Total equity T 4858 13,171,377 8,107,802

Si Haijian
ik

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

HITEFEREEHNTE

Huang Songchun
ERE

Executive Director and Financial Controller

HITEFRYBAE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—ZT— NF+_A=+—HBILFE)

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATEEARE
Share Capital Share Non-
Share premium — redemption Reserve  Contributed Exchange option  Accumulated controlling
capital account T6Serve funds surplus reserve TeSerVe losses Sub-total interests Total
RE  ROEEE EAEOGE GEe  EHER  EMRE ERERE 2R WGt HERER 48
HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK$ 000
FAT FAT FAT FAT AT AT AT FAT AT AT FAT
At 1 January 2017 NZE-t5-f-A 104,647 11,244,621 7684 135,089 53295 (606,091) 58177 (3657003 7340419 603 7341,022
Proit for the yeer REEEH - - - - - - - B0 26109 ()
Other comprehensive income for the year: REEEH2ERE:
Exchange differences on translation of ftEnsnasy
foreign operation EizZE = - - - - 414,616 - - 414616 - 414616
Total comprehensive income for the year FER2ENALE - - - - - Li4pt6 - 6109 616 ) 67568
Aopropriation of reserve funds RORES - - - 33,409 - - - (33,409) - - -
Exercise of share options (note 28(2) kEREH290) mn 10,840 = = s = s = 11,657 = 11,657
Share option expense BRiERx - - - - - - 19475 - 19475 - 19475
At 31 December 2017 WZE-F
t-A=+-A 105,364 11,315,561 7684 168,498 5329 191475) 71652 (3,429313) 8107266 536 8,107802




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(continued)

RERERER(E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #ZE—Z— NF+_A=+—HIFE)

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATREARE
Retained
Share Capital Share profits/ Non-
Share  premium  redemption Reserve  Contributed ~ Exchange option ~ [Accumulated controlling
capital account* reserve* funds* surplus* reserve* reserve* losses)*  Sub-total interests
2R
BRORA  RORER EAREEE REe  RERR  ERER  BRERR  (RRER) Mt RERER 48
HK$000 Hk$000 Hk$000 S 000 HK$000 HKS000 HKs000 HKS000 HKs000 HKS000 HKS 000
FE1 7E7 741 FE7 FAT FAL FAT FAL FE1 FAL FE1
At 31 Decernber 2017 RF-tF1+-A=1-B 105,364 11,315,561 7684 168,498 53,295 (191,475) 77652 (3429313) 8107266 536 8,107,802
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 15 (note 2.2 EREANERLER 2108
72 () - - - - - - - WPy 303 -
At 1 January 2018 (restated) NE-N\E-F-RE) 10534 1315560 7684 168,498 53,295 (191,475) 71652 (3,036,954 8,499,625 53 8,500,161
Profit for the year REEER - - - - - - - 5,193,017 5,193,017 51 5,193,068
Other comprefensive loss fortheyear: FEEEMREER
Exchange differences on translation of fEnsnEay
foreign operations EizR - - - - - (3,08 - - (5308 - (532,089
Total comprehensive income/lloss) for the year ~ AEE2ENE/(BiE) 2% - - - - - (63208 - 5193017 4,660,932 51 4,660,983
Appropriation of reserve funds RORES - - - 207452 - - - (207452) - - -
Share option expense BRERR - - - - - - 10,233 - 10,233 - 10,233
At 31 December 2018 WZE-NE
TtZA=1-A 105,364 11,315,561 7684 375,950 53,295 (723,560 87885 194861 13,170,790 57 13M3N
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves T ZEFRERBOESRAVEBERAIRZES
of HK$13,065,426,000 (2017: HK$8,001,902,000) in the f# 1813,065,426,0008 7L (= F — &
consolidated statement of financial position 8,001,902,000/ L) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERERRK

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2018 2017
—E-N\E T
Notes HK$'000 HK$000
Wiz FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KEBEERERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax: ot A g A 7,570,496 446,124
Adjustments for: S
Finance costs HBER 7 41,849 59,339
Interest income from banks and other BOMNEMARE=R
interest income from third parties ZEMFEWA 6 (71,922) (28,039)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EES®E 8 7,959 1,489
Depreciation of items of property, plant %% - BE K& #E
and equipment ZITE 8 108,279 66,548
Write-down of inventories to net FEMRET 2B FEE
realisable value 8 131,959 73,782
Reversal of inventories provision FER BN 8 (32,624) (10,874)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME  BENMK
plant and equipment BHZER 8 1,400 464
Impairment of property, plant and WE - BERRERE
equipment 8 53,933 45,522
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries & KT B 2 Bl & 18 8 - 5,568
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 R TR RE 8 192,701 934
Reversal of impairment of trade B SRR 2 REERE
receivables 8 (54,168) (1,399)
Reversal of impairment of other H o el 5008 2 R E B
receivables 8 (11,684) —
Product warranty provision EmRERE 8 261,609 38,468
Equity-settled share option expenses AR EENRMOERERY 8 10,233 19,475
8,210,020 717401
(Increase)/decrease in inventories TR,/ B (1,315,261) 45,665
Decrease in trade receivables B 5 EWZIER D 3,195,993 71,300
Increase in contract assets/gross amount AREE/TEWREREEF
due from contract customers FEEIE N (9,683,973) (735,958)
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables  HfElgZIE (&) /> (2,230,732) 18,649
Increase in bills receivable EY SRR N (118,684) (15,513)
Increase in deposits and prepayments &4 B IE (I 2 IEHE (2,388,067) (2,551,867)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash ZRHEBLELD /() 76,359 (100,738)
Increase in trade and bills payables 25 R EBE T HIEE M 3,612,497 324,499
Decrease in contract liabilities SRBERD (2,046,844) -
Increase in other payables and accruals — E i & 5iIB Rk fE st & B
141 2,059,005 4,682,584
Cash (used in)/generated from operations R&IER (FA)/EEzHE 4 (629,687) 2,456,022
Income taxes paid BT (109,280) (76,218)
Interest paid to banks and third parties  EMNETRE=HZH 8 (56,959) (44,465)
NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM  R&1RE (/) /EE2
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RERETFHE (795,926) 2,335,339




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
GREREREBEWEK (F)

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z—Z—N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Notes HK$'000 HK$000
Wiz FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REBERERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of available-for-sale financial ~ EEA[HEHEL K E
investments - (4,056)
Purchase of items of property, BREYE  BELEBEEE
plant and equipment (397,346) (99,307)
Purchase of intangible assets EEEVEE (50,336) (6,103)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—REHB QA - (17,586)
Disposal of a subsidiary & — R B AR - 9,011
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE  BE R&ZE
property, plant and equipment JHB ZFERIA 2,735 5,838
Interest received B U F & 65,752 25,286
Proceeds from disposal of intangible HEBTEEZFTSFUE
assets - 1,983
Purchase of financial products BESEE SR (855,969) (179,445)
Redemption of financial products EOSRER 297,877 106,471
NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING REZFBFERAZREREFE
ACTIVITIES (937,287) (157 908)
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—NEFE+ZA=+—HLFE)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
GREREREBE/K(B)

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE —

2018 2017
—E-N\fF T
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Wiz FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHHERE
ACTIVITIES
Advance (to)/from Hanergy Holding ERERR 2 (B 50) /ﬁ (1,180) 1,184
Advance (to)/from related parties BEALZ (BR),/ 87 (10,701) 30,130
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank RITHT S 1ﬁi”ZFﬁ=E'rfy’K
borrowings 57,064 53,050
Repayment of interest-bearing bank BRI BIER
borrowings (63,147) (68,619)
Proceeds from other borrowings due to & /REAEE A + 2 HibfERZ 15
related parties /TAIE 548 49,673
Repayment of other borrowings due to &8 48 R BA%E A £ 2 E i 5k
related parties (523,309) (4,116)
Proceeds from other borrowings due to &R EBBE=F 2 EMERZ
unrelated third parties P8 5E 199,560 199,153
Repayment of other borrowings due to  EE &R EBHE=H
unrelated third parties HinEx (88,600) (177.762)
Proceeds from issue of shares upon RITEBRERETRDZ
exercise of share options P15 3R - 71,657
NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM  REEE (ff) E£Z
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEREFHE (429,765) 154,350
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%{ﬁmz
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS D),/ EEE (2,162,978) 2,331,781
Cash and cash equivalents E?ﬂzfﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬂ,%
at beginning of the year 2,496,760 248,674
Effect of foreign exchange INETERES) 2 8 FHE
rate changes, net 25,267 (83,695)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRVBERESEEY
AT END OF THE YEAR 359,049 2,496,760
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF BeRBSEENERZ
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ﬁ*ﬁ
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in EUBMRARREGEA
the consolidated statement of financial m;;i&‘wﬁﬁzfﬁé&
position and consolidated statement of ~ H&EEY)
cash flows 22 359,049 2,496,760




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE —

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Hanergy Thin Film Power Group Limited (the
“Company”) is an exempted company with limited
liability incorporated in Bermuda. The address of its
registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place of
business is located at Room 2204-06, 22/F World
Trade Centre, 280 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were
principally involved in (i) the construction of turnkey
production lines for the manufacture of amorphous
silicon and Copper Indium Gallium Selenide (“CIGS")
based thin-film power modules (Manufacturing); (ii)
the technological development and production of
Gallium Arsenide (“GaAs”) thin-film power turnkey
production lines (Manufacturing); (iii) building ground-
mounted power stations or rooftop power stations for
sale and sale of thin-film power modules
(Downstream); (iv) the research, development and
sale of thin-film power application products
(Downstream); (v) sale of electricity (Downstream);
and (vi) providing engineering services (Downstream).

The Company's shares are listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Group's current operations are
principally based in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC” or “Mainland China”), the
Kingdom of Sweden (“Sweden”), the Federal Republic
of Germany (“Germany”), the United States of
America (the “United States”), and the United
Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern lIreland (the
“United Kingdom”).

—NE+_A=+—BLLFE)

RAREEER

R EREEEEARAT ([EAF])
REREFMRLAEREER AR

H o} 3% = BR th 4k AClarendon House,
2 Church Street Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda ° & B AN BB
izﬁ,“iiﬂ 2807)‘? B B 22182204-
06F ©

RARREMRBAR (RBIAEE]) -
FANETERBNEZVERRFREH
([CIGS ) BR ARG RAEGHEERE
EHEK(SE] ()& ([GaAs])
EERERELEGRITAE REE ([#
B (NREAGREEESHNETRSE
ShPAMESHE WIS ERAH ([T ¢ (iv)
M AEREEEIEZEERAER(T
B WMBEEE N (R Rvi#
TR (THD -

ARAIBRNDREBHEZIMER A
(TBXFr]) EHREM - AEBEEFUE
B PEARAMBE ((HEIKFERA
W) WARIE(RHRHE]) BESHA
HAE ([#E])  ZNEERE ([XE])
&ﬁ?ﬁ‘@&ibﬁﬁi%ﬁ%rafl((ﬁj)
REBREEEN -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

On 20 May 2015, the stock price of the Company
plunged 47% to HK$3.91 per share from HK$7.38 per
share before a suspension was announced by the
Company on that day. Then on 15 July 2015, the
Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC”) directed
the Stock Exchange to extend the trading suspension.
As at the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the trading of stock of the
Company is still suspended.

In October 2018, the Company has received a
proposal from Hanergy Mobile Energy Holdings Co.,
Ltd. (“Hanergy Mobile”), the intermediate holding
company of the Company, in relation to privatization of
shares of the Company. On 26 February 2019,
Hanergy Mobile and the Company jointly announced a
proposal on the privatization. By then, Hanergy Mobile
held 20,320,245,121 shares of the Company which
represent approximately 48.21% of the issued share
capital of the Company. Pursuant to the proposal, all
the shares held by the original independent
shareholders (“Scheme Shares”) will be cancelled
and, in consideration thereof, the original independent
shareholders will be entitled to receive one Special
Purpose Vehicle (“SPV") Share for each of the Scheme
Shares in replacement. There will not be any cash
payment by Hanergy Mobile and/or its concert parties
during the privatization process. A SPV will be
established in a jurisdiction outside the PRC with all
issued SPV Shares held by Hanergy Mobile and to
facilitate the future listing on a stock exchange in the
PRC. The implementation of the proposal will be
effective subject to fulfilment of certain conditions.
As at the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, there is no progress of the
aforementioned privatization.

AEREEER (&)

RZZE—RERA-+H EXRFIR
FBEHEEESN ARARERSE
B%7.388 T N 4T % EFIR3 1B IT o
“E-—RFtAT+HA BHERPES
BERZES ([BREY]) BB IME
REEFE RUSGREMBREZM
HHE  ARAREEENAER -

RZE—NFE+ A ARAFKE AR A
FREZERARZEERHEREIRERS
BAR (DEEBDER]) 28#% AR
BAERRAKROILELL - RZT—NF
ZAZTRAB EEBHERERAD A
HASHALEER BR ZERH
RER S N2 R]20,320,245,121 B B 15
EAR AR B ETRALI48.21% © RIFE
FRBYRFRAFEBNAERD ([5
ZRMHD BEE MIERRE  RRE
158 B BT EIR DS — IR B
WAE ([FHREMAT] RHKER -
LB BER ZEBHERERSHE
—RIPHFITIEHEEAMRE M —
MR o BB AR AR R BIEINK L - BT
BEBRTHKENARRMDAEEZS
BERFEA UAEBERRBBENIES
SGHEm -BRE 2 EBARFENRS TK
HREFAER - BEMEZELEATE
WwERBH LB EER -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. ARREBEER®)

INFORMATION (continued)

As of 31 December 2018, the immediate holding RZZE—N\F+_A=+—8'KX2Q7
company of the Company is Hanergy Investment JHEEZERATANEBREZES (&
Limited (“Hanergy Investment”), which was BREZHES]) ML 2Hanergy
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and Investment Limited ([ Hanergy
the ultimate holding company of the Company is j£#¢ Investment])) ' MAR R Z mEZERA
FHIRBI R BBRE AT (“Hanergy Photovoltaic”), which BIARPEKY 2 ERENLARREARA
was established in the PRC. Both the immediate AI(NEEXRKR]D - ARAIZEEZRA
holding company and the ultimate holding company of ARREERAREBEENE LA RR
the Company are ultimately controlled by Mr. Li Hejun. B cBEERR AR A ZHEEHA
In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate controlling TAZHELE HEEARAE %T
person of the Company is Mr. Li Hejun, who holds f& 7 273.86% °

73.86% of the issued share capital of the Company.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Details of the Group's principal subsidiaries are as

1. REAREEER (#)

MEARZEN

AEBTIZMBRAFBNT

follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/
registration and registered share capital/
business paid in capital Percentage of equity
Name HRRY/BDR  CROLE/ERREA/ attributable to the Group  Principal activities
£ £33k UL AEEEEREEAL  TERK
2018 2017
ZE-\F Pt
Hanergy Hi-Tech Power International BVI Ordinary US$1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited* EERAES ZAER1,000%T RARRK
EabRERERRAERAR
Hanergy Hi-Tech Power (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary US$77218,880 100% 100%  Investment holding and trading
En iR (B8 RAERAT B £A7377218 880K T of equipment and turkey
production lines
RAGRREERGREE
EER
Apollo Preision (Fujian) Ltd.* The PRC/ Registered RMB148,087820 100% 100%  Construction of tumkey
RRABRIZERRAR Mainland China it & 8 AK148,08782070 production lines
hE/ R REERER
Anollo Precision (Beijing) Ltd* The PRC/ Registered RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Construction of tumkey
IRETRR R ERERRAA Mainland China &4 4 A K 50,000,00070 production lines
hE/ B BRARELER
Apollo Precision (Kunming) Yuantong The PRC/ Registered RMB30,790,918 100% 100%  Construction of tumkey
Limited" . Mainland China ~ HHEA AK%30,790,91870 production lines
ERARERKRRBERAA eV T EREEEER
Apollo Precision (Kunming) Yuanhong The PRC/ Registered RMB20,000,000 100% 100%  Technical services of tumkey
Limited® Mainland China ~~ FEMERARK production lines
ERRGREERNRER AR hE/ R 20,000,0007T BEEERNRIRE
Hanergy Global Solar Power Group BVI Ordinary US$5,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited* ABRAEE £38/5,000,000% 7 RARR
ERAREREEEEERAR
HGSG-NA Land Power 1, LLC The United States Registered US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
X8 s & 7850,000% T ALK
Huaibei Qingyuan New Energy The PRC/ Registered RMB25,000,000 100% 100%  Solar power station
_ Development Limited® Manland China ~ EMAXARE ABRE
R RRERREERAR hE/ P ER 26,000,0007C
Shizong Qingyuan New Energy The PRC/ Registered RMB60,000,000 100% 100%  Solar power station
Development Limited* Mainland China ST EAARE NCEA
BRERMEEREERAR hE /P E R 60,000,007
Miasole Equipment Integration The PRC/ Registered RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Construction of turnkey
(Fujian) Limited® Mainland China & A AR#50,000,0007 production lines
ADREREER (BR)ERAA hE/ R RRREEER



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

PrEIREBER (#)

MEBARZER (E)

Details of the Group's principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

AEBTIZMBRAFBNT

(&)

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/
registration and reg|stered share capital/
business paid in capital Percentage of equity
Name Eﬂ’&mi/ﬁ‘ﬂﬁ Eﬁﬁ“ﬁ/&*ﬂ’&ﬂﬂi/ attributable to the Group  Principal activities
1 EBuY LU AREEERERAL  IERH
2018 2017
it SO T
Hanergy Equipment Technology Group The PRC/ Registered USD 1,069,640,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Co., Ltdf Mainland China ~ 3Eff .5 7°1,069,640,000% 7T RARRK
SR ERUHERARAT hE/hERY
Xinjiang Hanergy Thin Film The PRC/ Registered RMB200,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Solar Power Investment Lmted" Manland China S ERARE REER
HEENERARRREERAA R E /RN 200,000,0007¢
Solibro Research AB Sweden Paid in SEK170,395,229 100% 100%  Provision of research and
I B E7170,395,229 development service
LGS RUHE KA E RS
Guangdong Hanergy New Energy The PRC/ Registered RMB300,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
\nvestmem Co., Ltd.* Mainland China ~ #MARARE REER
ERE mﬁ?‘ SREARAA HE/RERL 300,000,007
Beijing Hanergy Household Thin Film The PRC/ Registered RMB470,000,000 100% 100%  Sale of rooftop power stations
Power Technology Co,, Lid* Mainland China S ERARS HEEESY
PRERF AR ERRARAT hE/RER 470,000,0007
Shanghai Hanergy Thin-Film Power The PRC/ Registered RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Sale of rooftop power stations
Co, Ltd! Mainland China AR ARE HEEREYS
HERNARETERLA hE /R 50,000,000
Sichuan Hanergy Thin-Film Power Co., The PRC/ Registered RMB60,000,000 100% 100%  Sale of rooftop power stations
Ltd.f Mainland China SMERARE HEEREL
W £ A RE TR AR hE /R 60,000,0007C
Hubei Hanergy Huazhong Thin-Film The PRC/ Registered RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Sale of rooftop power station
 Poveer Co, Ltg* Mainland China -~~~ ST AARH HEERTY
B EREPERYTERLA hE/PER 50,000,000
Liaoning Hanergy Thin-Film The PRC/ Registered RMB100,000,000 100% 100%  Sale of rooftop power station
Power Co., Ltd.f Mainland China SIS ARE HEEREN
BEYABITARLT hE/RER 100,000,0007C
Guangdong Hanergy Thin-Film Power The PRC/ Registered RMB600,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment and Development Co ltd*  MainlandChina  ERERXARE REZR
ERENEREERAGRARLA hE/RER 600,000,0007C
Juntai Innovation Bejing Technology Ltd.#  The PRC/ Reglstered RMB1,500,000,000 100% 100%  Construction of turnkey
ERAR (LR BEARAR Mainland China ~~ EMERARE production lines
VAT 1,600,000,0007C BREELER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

PrEIREBER (#)

MEARZER (F)
AEBTEMBRAFENT : (&)

Details of the Group's principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

140

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/
registration and registered share capital/
business paid in capital Percentage of equity
Name dMRL/ B0k  CRAEE/HRRE/ attributable to the Group  Principal activities
1 EHE EhER AREEEREAAN  ITER
2018 2017
- SYIEN T F
Solibro Hi-Tech GmbH Germany Paid in EUR25,000 100% 100%  Construction of tumkey
Gl E U 15,0008 7T production lines
ABELES
Hanergy Thin Film Power Application The PRC/ Registered RMB210,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Group Ltd.# Mainland China ~~ #REAARH REZR
ERERETERAEEERAA hE/ AR 210,000,0007C
Beijing Hanergy Thin Film Power The PRC/ Registered RMB60,000,000 100% 100%  Construction of tumkey
Ivestment Ltd* Mailand China ~ EMERARE production lines
FRENRRESRARRAA hE/ AR 60,000,0007C BREEEER
Beijing Hanergy Solar Investment Co., The PRC/ Registered RMB3,000,000,000 100% 100%  Construction of tumkey
Ltd? \ Mainland China ~ FHFERARE production lings
FRERARREBRAA hE/HEN 3,000,000,0007 BRRELER
MiaSole Hi-Tech Corp. The United States Paid in US$152,314,366 100% 100%  Manufacture of PV
%8 BUEA152,314,366% 0 products and equipment
SERRERRRE
Global Solar Energy, Inc. The United States  Paid in US$36,368,156 100% 100%  Manufacture of PV
%8 EIET36,368, 1665 7T products and equipment
SERRERREE
Savanna Solar Limited Ghana Registered GHC400,000 70% 70%  Construction of PV
né S 400,000 4E power generation projects
BRAREEER
Guangzhou Qiguang Solar Energy The PRC/ Registered RMB57,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of technology and
Technology Co. Lid* Mainland China &7 A& %57000,0007 marketing and application
ENRA RGN EARDE HE/RER sevice
Rt SR RERRS
Alta Devices, Inc. The United States Paid in US$148,310,328 100% 100%  Provision of research and
X8 EIER148,310,328% T development service
RERE R AR RS
Beijing Hanergy Thin Film Power Electrical ~ The PRC/ Registered RMB150,000,000 100% 100%  Engineering service
Engineering Limited® Mainland China AR ARK Tk
IRERERARRENIR hE /AR 150,000,000
BRAR
Fuhai Hanergy Hengyuan Thin Film Power  The PRC/ Registered RMB100,000,000 100% 100%  Solar power station
Limited* Mainlend Chine M RARE ABHEL
BAEERERIEARAA hE/ AR 100,000,000



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Details of the Group's principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

PrEIREBER (#)

MEARZER (F)
AEBTEMBRAFENT : (&)

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/
registration and registered share capital/
business paid in capital Percentage of equity
Name HMRL/ 2Rk  CROEE/ERRA/ attributable to the Group  Principal activities
1 ABuY LU AREEERERAL  IERH
2018 2017
ZE-\F e
Guizhou Hanergy Equipment The PRC/ Registered US$100,000,000 100% 100%  Construction of turnkey
Technology Co., Ltd.* Mainland China & 7100,000,000% 7T production lines
EMERRRRRERAF hE/hERY REERER
Guizhou Miasole Equipment The PRC/Mainland  Registered US$100,000,000 100% 100%  Construction of turnkey
Technology Co., Ltd. China H A 7100,000,000% T production lines
EMRRELEBREERAR hE/hERY BREELER
Beijing Xinjun New Energy Technology Ltd.* The PRC/ Registered RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
IRERHEEHBARAT Mainland China AR ARE REHER
hE/ AR 10,000,007
Shanxi Miasole Equipment The PRC/Mainland ~ Registered RMB1,000,000,000 100% 100%  Construction of turnkey
Technology Co, Ltd.* China AR AR1,000,000,0007 production lines
WEREZEERRRERAT hE/hERY RREEEER
Jiangsu Yancheng Gelaibao Equipment The PRC/Mainland ~ Registered RMB500,000,000 100% 100%  Construction of turnkey
Technology Co., Ltd.* China & A AR 500,000,000 production lines
THEGEKERANRBRAA hE/hERY REELER
Chuangxin Energy Technology The PRC/ Mainland ~ Registered RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Construction of turnkey
(Fujian Pingtan| Co., Ltd.* China &R AK¥50,000,0007 production lings
Bl RRR (BB TR ARAT hE/hERY BREELER
Fujian Juntai Energy Technology The PRC/ Mainland ~ Registered RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Technical services of turnkey
Co., Ltd* China AR AR #50,000,0007 production lings
BRARMRMHERAR hE/RERY BEEEGNRIRE
Jiangsu Hanjia Thin Film Solar Power The PRC/ Registered RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Sale of application products
Technology Ltd.? Mainland China & &8 A R #50,000,0007C HEERED
LHEZERAGEMRBRAR hE/RERY
Hanergy Thin Film Solar Power Investment  The PRC/ Registered RMB300,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Beijngl Ltd* Mainland China 7 &7 A X%300,000,00070 RERR
EVERARARE (bR ERAR hE/HER
Qinghai Hanergy Financing Lease Ltd.* The PRC/ Registered US$30,000,000 100% 100%  Finance Leasing
BEENREHERRAR Mainland China ~ £Efi} £ 23 730,000,000 BEHE
hE/PEA
Zhong Heng Neng Finance Lease The PRC/ Registered US$30,000,000 100% 100%  Finance Leasing
(Tianjin) Ltd* Mainland China &£ &A% 7£.30,000,0007 RERS
hERRERERE (RR)ARAR hE/hERY
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Details of the Group's principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

* Direct subsidiaries of the Company.
i Unofficial English translations for identification purpose
only.

The above table lists out the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and
cash equivalents of HK$359,049,000 and its current
assets were in excess of current liabilities by
HK$14,498,449,000 which, as set out in notes 17 and
18 to the consolidated financial statements included
trade receivables and contract assets with a total
amount of HK$16,035,790,000.

2.1

—N\NF+ZA=+—HIEFE)

PrEIREBER (#)

MERRZER (&)
AEFBTEMNBRRFENT : (£)
* AREZEEMEBEAR

# JEER KR CBE - BHHE -

ERINHEERA/EIBFEARNFERA
HBUAEEEREEFERD 2K B
NE-EERR REEMCHBLRARZ
FEECREBNITE

LA
WERBRERDBEZLESHOAE ([EF
BESMAG]) BEHcBEMBEREE
E'J(F?%Mﬁﬁ*ﬁﬂﬂj BREAAER
MBHEEL FEGFEAU(TEEE
SERD R2E) %Eﬁéﬁ;%@uﬂ? Al %

ERRNAMEO Z BRI ERTMEE -

RZE—NF+_A=+—H K&EH
BH & KH % EW359,049,000%8 7T

R EEELLTS A FE BN
14498449000%%(%2? B 765 2% P
F17%18)  mMBEERIEE 5 EWHIE
K& R & E # % A $£16,035,790,000/8
=



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 21 REEE®)

The directors of the Company are considering
measures to monitor and improve the cash flows of
the Group, including but not limited to the collection
of trade receivables due from its customers and to
obtain adequate external financing to support its
working capital and meet its obligations and
commitments when they become due.

The Group has carried out a review of its cash flow
forecast for the twelve months ending 31 December
2019. Based on such forecast, the directors believe
that adequate sources of liquidity exist to fund the
Group's working capital and capital expenditure
requirements, and to meet its short term debt
obligations and other liabilities and commitments as
they become due in the twelve months ending 31
December 2019. In preparing the cash flow forecast,
management has considered historical cash
requirements of the Group, as well as other key
factors, including anticipated cash collection from its
customers and the external financing to be obtained in
the twelve months ending 31 December 2019.

In light of the measures of the Group described
above, the directors of the Company are of the view
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to
finance its operations and is able to meet with its
liabilities as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, the directors of the Company
consider that it is appropriate to prepare these
financial statements on a going concern basis.

ARREERTEZEEERRREAEE
BenEviEm HEFETEAKE
BEZE 5 EWRIERERZ M IND
MEUTRHHELEBEES YN BB RET
BERA -

AEEEEMEHEZE-_T—AEF+=A
=+—BLE+=ZERZRERETEA -
REZERN EZRAAEBEHEBEN
MEBMERRMEHEEESREARAX
Zx HERNHEBEAREMABER
AHERBE=-T—hF+=A=+—8
I+ @A SR NEITZEET -
RERESRERANRG EBEEEEE
AEEZBARSERREMEERE -
BEH#E-_T-NF+ZA=+—H1
TZEAMNEHREFR S W E & ER
NP RLE o

ERERAKBES ARAEERA
ARERERNEEAS AREERE
305 B8 4 7 B4 2 BB < B
ANREERALEH B RE AR
ERRRRTBRY -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Comparative information

Certain comparative amounts as at 31 December 2017
have been reclassified to conform with the current
year's presentation.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2018.

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

21 REEE )

LB E R

EFR=_ZE—+tF+=-_A=+—Hzk
ReHFCETHDBEURAAEE 227
R e

BAMBREREBEARRRENE A A
BE-_Z—\E+-_A=+—BIt&E
2 ISR o

MEBARIARBERLREEHCE
B(ERGERER) -HAKERZ2 AR
REDEBMARZIO R ABRIE
BN LENEREHRKREN 2 #
FEEDR(ANRAENEREERE
REREBERMNEERE T 2AEEE)
AIREERAZER TR -

MARBERABMBERRERET KRR
BABUBENREERZH AAKHE
RAGERTHRRENHERNES
BFREHBEERER B

(a) BEERESZEMKRERFTAEAZ

ClEES &

b) HMARZHFELZEN: X

) ARBIREEREGCERTE-



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 21 REEE®)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

REEE(E)

MEBAREARECMBHRRNHREH
FHER YRA-HEFBRRRE K
BRARAZEEMASEIGEREZH
BAGAAR YHEGAAREZS
ZHIERIEZBRIE -

BaXHEM2ARE s &8O ALK
ERRAREA ARFERERMEMN
AERERERERZEERTF A
SERNEEEXREZRIRZERNE
ENABE RE Us AXEkBASR
EReREHEHE -

MRBFEMBRLBET  BREAM LML
MZEEHTE BEF-HAZR
HRNE AEESENRFEREKES
EEXEH -RMBRARZHARRERZR
BEMAREREEHE BEREOIZA
HE o

BEAREEKE—RNERQE ARG
HERLERIZMNBARNEE (B
BE) RAE - (VEFFEREENRE
B RiiEZMESMHNRAELZR
K HE R FT WA B B 2 1B - (i) B (R
BERREN A FERINBREENE
ABfaR SASEEZRENRE
ELBE AREMOELEAREME
e B D IR E M AR R EEH
DEERANREEN (WER) ER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 B EERKREZEH
AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised $%F\\%¢F§r E"]\E‘ﬁ%ﬁ%%;kﬁm—lt
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year's S E] RS BRI B AR B R E LA -
financial statements:

Amendments to Classification and Measurement EBMGRE URGSHZRE7ER
HKFRS 2 of Share-based HRE 2%  FE
Payment Transactions ZAEF] AR
Amendments to Applying HKFRS 9 Financial EBUERE M5B RIREERE 4
HKFRS 4 Instruments with ERIF 45  FREESA—HEFE
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts ZAEFTAR B THIEERE 9 37
THTA
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments ERERE 2HTA
£ERIIZE 9 58
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with EBUBRE KEEELAZ W
Customers 4RI 15 55
Amendments to Clarification to HKFRS 15 EBRBSRE BEEBHFHEERE
HKFRS 15 Revenue from ERHE 1557 16 HKXEEFLELZH
Contracts with Customers ZIEETAR s
Amendments to Transfers to Investment @R EEREYE
HKAS 40 Property F 40 K2 1B
FI 7R
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Translation &5 (BBt MBS Z RATEE
and Advance Consideration BiRE
“HELE
g) —RE
225
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1 and ZEFEE  BEYBREERE 15
2014-2016 Cycle HKAS 28 —E—ANF  REEBSIEAFE 28
R FE FENEFT AR
2
Other than as explained below regarding the impact of BRTITXYXHEEEBEBSMEHREELNFY
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 15 and Amendments to HKFRS 15, 5 BEAR M B REERE 1R REEM
the adoption of the above revised standards has had BHREERFILHR 2B R 2T EIN
no significant financial effect on these financial R EiiEETER S SRRIES
statements. AU E -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 S BERBEEZEE &)
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the new HKFRSs are O ME LRSS 2 EE K 2R

described below: N

(a) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (a) EERMEREEARSELHTE
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS EEUMEREERFE 2 T A
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and BREB ST ERFI95E2F T
Measurement for annual periods beginning on or A AR E K- —\E—
after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three B—Hsir %Gy EEHE  E
aspects of the accounting for financial ESRMTEAEYR2T =@
instruments: classification and measurement, A EREAE  RERY RSt .

impairment and hedge accounting.

(1) DEERFE

(1) Classification and measurement

The following information sets out the T REBEII R AT B A1
impacts of adopting HKFRS 9 on the W& R BOW KA MR
statement of financial position, including TE BEABEMEH
the effect of replacing HKAS 39’s incurred ERARIRBAEREAR
credit loss calculations with HKFRS 9's RER G EAEREE
expected credit losses (“ECLs"). EERBERAENTE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

22 S BERBEZRE (@)

(a) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued) (a) BEUKREERFSRLHT A
(#&)
(1) Classification and measurement (continued) (1) DBRTEFE)

A reconciliation between the carrying R—_ZFE—N\E—H—H8 &
AT EREIRETRE
BEREBI KRS ERFEIFR
ETE2HEREERNAT

amounts under HKAS 39 and the balances
reported under HKFRS 9 as at 1 January
2018 is as follows:

148

HKAS 39 measurement HKFRS 9 measurement
FREENE0RHE FRIBRERYR0E R
Category Amount  Reclassification ECL Amount Category
L 1 EfifE  RHGEER 11 il
Notes HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
Hit far Fér A Fér
Financial assets tHEE
Equity investments desigated ETARDTEFA
at fair value through other comprehensive  EH2ENE 2 RERE NA
income T4 - 66,097 - 66,097 AiOC !
(&)
(equiy)
From: Avaleble-forsale financiel B IELESRRE
Ivestments
(i 66,097
Avalble-forsele finncial mesiments ~ EHESBRE A
AFS? 66,097 (66,097) = = T
To: Equity invstments designate B ERBRATENA
atfarvalus through other Eh2ENR,
comprehensive income BiEsg
(i (66,097)
Trade receivables EGIHEY il L4R? 756,821 - - T456,821 ACt




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(1)

Classification and measurement (continued)

22 EHERBECRE (&)

(a)

BERMBREENFOREH T A

(#)

(1) DERFEGE)

HKAS 39 measurement HKFRS 9 measurement
EReENEN e FRIBRERUES 28
Category Amount  Reclassification ECL Amount Category
L} 1 EfOE  RHEEER 1 Lap]
No;es HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
Hit Y98 AT AL AT
Financial assets included i other TAERENGER RS
receivables and deposts SHEE L8R 150658 321,791) 1184757 A
To: Financial assets &t far value B RATEFARGRE
through other comprehensiveincome. Wz AREE i (301,791) - A
Bils receiveble BUZE 4R 2133 (27363)
To: Financil assets at far value B RATENALGRE
through other comprehensive income.~ ME74BAE
(i (27363)
Fiencialassets at fainvalue though. ~—~ RATEFAERRENE A
othier comprehensive income LEBRE 18R 349,164 349,164 FioC!
From: Financialassets included n B AR BEIGER
ofher receivables and deposts feemEE 1 0791
From: Billsreceivable g EhEE i 733
Resticted cash UG 4R 144,340 - 144,340 A
Cash and cash squivalents BERELZEN L8R 2,496,760 - 2,496,760 i
11,697929 - 11,697929
Other assets EhEE
Contract assefs AEE 1] 2,819,524 - 2819524
Total assets AELE 20,212,060 - 20,212,060
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(1) Classification and measurement (continued)

22 S BERBEZRE (@)

(a)

HKAS 39 measurement
EReENENSViE
Category

BERMBREENESREH T A

(#)

(1)

Amount Reclassfication

=114

aER

B(#&)

HKFRS 9 measurement
FRIBRERUE 8
ECL Amount Category

gl 1] EXOR  RHEEEE £ L]
Notes HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
Hit Tér Fér Tér Fér
Financial liabltes SHEE
Trede and bils payables AR REBERTE i 178787 - 1737876 i
Financial bl included in TARMERFER
ather payables and accruas FiER/SHER fi A 830516 - 830,516 A
Inerestbsaring bank and RREbheEs
other borrowings AC 1,126,008 - 1,126,008 A
Qther non-current liabilties EOEE AC 20,049 - 20,049 AC
3716449 - 3,716,449
Other Fabilfes Hfi5 R
Defered taxliites EthRRG il 609,733 - 609,733
Total abltes HELE 1,711,899 - 1,711,899
L FVOCI: Financial assets at fair value i FVOCI : I A FEFTAH
through other comprehensive income thEHKETEZ SR
BE
2 AFS: Available-for-sale financial investments 2 AFS : At HE S M E
3 L&R: Loans and receivables g L&R : B3 & fE YR k8
4 AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at 4 AC : IR AT EZ

amortised cost

CREERTRAE



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(1) Classification and measurement (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

This category only includes equity
instruments, which the Group intends to
hold for the foreseeable future and which
the Group has elected the option to
irrevocably classify upon initial recognition
or transition. The Group classified its
unquoted equity instruments as equity
instruments at FVOCI with no recycling of
gains or losses to profit or loss on
derecognition. Equity instruments at FVOCI
are not subject to an impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. Under HKAS
39, the Group’'s unquoted equity
instruments were classified as available-for-
sale financial investments and measured at
cost less impairment losses. The
reclassification is because these
investments are held as long-term strategic
investments that are not expected to be
sold in the short to medium term. Since
these investees were still under
construction phase without any operation
since the Group has invested in, therefore
their fair values approximate to their costs
as at 1 January 2018 without any fair value
changes being recognised as at 1 January
2018.

The gross carrying amounts of the trade
receivables, contract assets, financial
liabilities included in other payables and
accruals and the deferred tax liabilities
under the column “HKAS 39 measurement
— Amount” represent the amounts after
adjustments for the adoption of HKFRS 15
but before the measurement of ECLs.
Further details of the adjustments for the
adoption of HKFRS 15 are included in note
2.2(b) to the financial statements.

22 EHERBECRE (&)

(a) BEUBHESERBSRLHTA

(&)

(1) PERFEGE)

Wiz -

(i)

(ii)

bt FE B E A% E
RA R RFE KR
MERLBERAEE
ERENAHE SR
ZHEHTH - AEEKE
ERERZTIASER
BAFEFAEMEE
Wtz s TA - REIE
RIS O B S
FEEERR - BAFE
FEAE A 2 W s 2
s TABARBEEEY
75 i 5 4 Bl 595K 15 AL
BERHE - RIBEFB G
AISE399% - NEE 2 E R
EEZETAE2HERA
HHESBIKRE MK
RRMEREBEAE - B
HOoBZRARZER
ENHERPRBIKE
REHAERNTREHEA
HE - HRZERIEE S
BEASEEHRKZEENK
MEEZRERRLESE
B -REATEEEN -
E-NF-—A—-BZK
AiEE BRZZ—N\F
—A—BYE®EIEM
NEEEE -

BIE [ BB g 2R 539
SREtE 2B | (FBEREM
BB REERIZES
FEMARBRERTEE
HEEBEZMZEH8)
BIZESREKHE A
BEE st AEAMENK
BLREFERAZE®EA
EUARBELEREREZ
REAE - BB B
|E LR E155R 2 T A
ABEZE—PHBER
B R AR I FE2.2(b) ©

151



152

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(1)

(2)

Classification and measurement (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i) These are debt instruments at FVOCI with
recycling of gains or losses to profit or loss
on derecognition. This category includes
bills receivable and other receivables due
from a third party with a business model
whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows until the
bills and other receivables are matured and
selling financial assets with endorsement
to suppliers in order to settle the trade
payables due by the Group or redeem the
receivables before it is matured that meet
the SPPI criterion.

Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on trade

receivables, contract assets, other
receivables and bills receivable that are not
accounted for at fair value through profit or
loss under HKFRS 9, to be recorded based
on an expected credit loss model either on
a twelve-month basis or a lifetime basis.
The Group applied the simplified approach
and recorded lifetime expected credit
losses on its trade receivables and contract
assets. The Group applied general approach
and recorded twelve-month expected credit
losses on its other receivables and bills
receivables. The adoption of HKFRS 9 has
had no significant impact on the impairment

of the financial assets of the Group.

22 S BERBEZRE (@)

(a) BEMBHREEMBSRLHTA

(#)

(1)

(2)

DRNETE(E)
Hiat - (%)

(i) RAFEFAEMEZE
Wz BB ITA R LE
T 3R B [0 3B M 2R
BEBHD - WEHNBES
ZSHhREBZERER R
H YRR - R
AZBRDBBERE
ARERAEEEEER
H & Y 5% IR B DA R
EftEBmEETHES
MEE  NWEEARKEE
N2 B 5 ENRBELR
ZIH3 A0 B @ £F A SPPI%
A 2 WK IE o

B

BERMBREEANEIRRE
ARYIFEREEFLMBRE
ERIFIRILAFEF ABR
ARZEZRWFE AR
BE - HREKHERER
FRELRE A BRE
BT _EANFHBAE
EEBAKR -AEEREE
SERKFEREREERR
BHRHAREFRBHER
ARk A EBE H AR K
FREUEREER—RITE
ER+_—_EREHREEER
AR -BRAEBHBHREE
AIEOHARB e REE
MELEEXTE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11
Construction Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and
related interpretations and it applies, with limited
exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts
with customers. HKFRS 15 establishes a five-
step model to account for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15,
revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which an entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS
15 provide a more structured approach for
measuring and recognizing revenue. The
standards also introduces extensive qualitative
and quantitative disclosure requirements,
including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations,
changes in contract asset and liability account
balances between periods and key judgements
and estimates. The disclosures are included in
notes 3 and 5 to the financial statements. As a
result of the application of HKFRS 15, the Group
has changed the accounting policy with respect
to revenue recognition in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the
modified retrospective method of adoption.
Under this method, the standard can be applied
either to all contracts at the date of initial
application or only to contracts that are not
completed at this date. The Group has elected to
apply the standard to contracts that are not
completed as at 1 January 2018.

22 EHERBECRE (&)

(b)

ERMBREENFIHKEEFEF
BRI R 25

BEMBREERFE 165 R EER]
BREEGHENFNREXRS
A~ BR G ERFE18RMA K
BER R X (BRDEBIIMERIN) &
ARAEREPRITARZEA -
BEMBREENE1REL —E
AHRA BERERITARZK
AN - REFEMHHRE LA SE
1657 - WARRIRE BT B R
EmZRETEFPASKEZER
R - BAM B HwEEAF 155
RA B E RERRATRHE NG
BACRTIA » ZER RS AEIZ K
EURTEERBERTE  BREIKA
BA - BRETEE TRERZ
AREENRBEREGEHRNET I
REZHE RAEFHER - KEE
FLEU BE 7% R M EE3 M6 - R FE
REEVHERELEINE16S - A&
B2 s ARE R E S R MY AT
24N EFTHR °

AEBRNBBHMBEREERF15
R RAKETEIE - REUT
% RAERERRNRERB B
ZAEAREEBEBRNE B HAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

The cumulative effects of the initial application of
HKFRS 15 was recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of accumulated losses at 1
January 2018. Therefore, the comparative
information was not restated and continues to
be reported under HKAS 11, HKAS 18 and related
interpretations.

22 S BERBEZRE (@)

(b)

BERMBEREEUESEKEES
BRI aE (F)

BRVNAEREEHGREELF
169 2 R R ERRRERFAER
RZZ-NF—A—-HOHENER
FRYELHOSEEE - E it - LA R
BEY DREBEEFESFEREN
5 BA S EAF18R K AMR
BHREER -

Set out below are the amounts by which each
financial statement line item was affected as at
1 January 2018 as a result of the adoption of

TRATEBIRANE S IR E £
FIEER —_E—NE—HA—H
EUBHRRBEETE ISR

2

HKFRS 15:
Increase/
(decrease)
#m, R
Notes HK$'000
B o TH&T
Assets BE
Trade receivables 2 5 e I8 (1a) 224,030
Contract assets EREE (1a), (4) 2,819,624
Gross amount due from contract WA REFE %58
customers (1a), (4) (2,400,660)
Total assets BEBE 642,894
Liabilities aE
Contract liabilities cREE (3) 5,239,848
Other payables and accruals HuEMZIERESTER  (1a), (3) (5,120,998)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBE & (1a) 131,685
Total liabilities BERE 250,535
Equity =
Accumulated losses EiTEiE (1a) (392,359)




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

22 EHERBECRE (&)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with (b) BERUBREZEAFIGHRXGEF
Customers (continued) BRI 25 (B)
Set out below are the amounts by which each TRAAHAREMNE B EREZEL
financial statement line item was affected as at FIRER_FT—NEFE+ = A
31 December 2018 and for the year ended 31 =t+—BREE_ZE—/\F+=A
December 2018 as a result of the adoption of =t BLEFEZZUKEHRKRER
HKFRS 15. The adoption of HKFRS 15 has had no B HMABNBRE
impact on other comprehensive income or on the ZRIZ 15 A HMEE KRS A S
Group's operating, investing and financing cash Brie KELMBERESREW
flows. The first column shows amounts recorded B2 -F—RATRBRESEY
under HKFRS 15 and the second column shows BRELELFIGREB & F
what the amounts would have been had HKFRS “HRAIRARNKRENET BT BEHRE
15 not been adopted: HERIZFE1BEF 2 S
Effects on the consolidated statement of profit HEE_T—N\F+=-_A=+—H
or loss and other comprehensive income for the tEEFeEakEMETEKEER
year ended 31 December 2018: 2R
Amounts prepared under
REATERGH S8
Previous Increase/
HKFRS 15 HKFRS  (decrease)
BEB0E
REER BEFBY #m/
15 % BIREEA (Rl 2)
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mt FAT FAT FAT
Revenue from contracts with BEFEHIIER 2
customers WA (1a) 21,251,772 20,849,315 402,457
Gross profit EH 12,122,362 11,719,905 402,457
Selling and distribution HERDIHER
expenses (1a) (854,160) (666,448) 187712
Profit before tax T A a A 7570,496 7.355,751 214,745
Income tax expense T3z (1a) (2,377428)  (2,344,274) 33,154
Profit for the year KEE 5 5,193,068 5,011,477 181,591
Increase/
HK Cents HK Cents  (decrease)
#m/
Al AL (R 2)
EARNINGS PER SHARE BARBEE AEWS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO BREF
OWNERS OF THE PARENT
Basic BN 12.32 11.89 0.43
Diluted HE 11.62 11.22 0.40
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 B BRERKECEE (&)
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with (b) BB BHREEAFEISHKKXEES
Customers (continued) AW (FB)
Effect on the consolidated statement of financial YR —_ZFE—NE+-_A=+—H&
positions as at 31 December 2018: EMBIRAR T E

Amounts prepared under

BEBEUTEAFH 2 SHE
Previous Increase/
HKFRS 15 HKFRS (decrease)

BEER BEEEM #m/
$15 % BHREER (H2)

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHEIT FHEIT FHET
Trade receivables B 5 e EIA (1a), (4) 3,934,877 3,695,878 238,999
Gross amount due from
contract customers A E A =F k-] (1a), (4) - 11,937455 (11,937455)
Contract assets EREE (1a) 12,100,913 - 12,100,913
Total assets BERR 30,094,707 29,692,250 402,457
Contract liabilities ERBE (3) 3,193,004 - 3,193,004
Other payable and H b S FOE K&
accruals JEErE R (1a), (3) 3,959,017 6,964,309 (3,005,292)
Deferred tax liabilities  iEEFTE & (& (1a) 1,975,262 1,942,108 33,154
Total liabilities BfELHE 16,923,330 16,702,464 220,866
Net assets BESE 13,171,377 12,989,786 181,591
Retained profits B 15 = A (1a) 1,948,611 1,767,020 181,591
Total equity TR 7 48 58 13,171,377 12,989,786 181,591
The nature of the adjustments as at 1 January N-E—NEFE— A —BZREEEE
2018 and the reasons for the changes in the BRR-_E—NE+-B=+—AH8
statement of financial position as at 31 SR =S BRI REE T

December 2018 and the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2018 are described
below:

“NE+-A=+—BLEFEZ#E
mRHEMEPERERELNT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

(1)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when or as the
control of the asset is transferred to the
customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the
contract, control of the asset may be
transferred over time or at a point in time.
Control of the asset is transferred over time
if the Group’s performance:

- provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

- creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

= do not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed
to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of
the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation is measured
based on the Group's efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of the performance
obligation, by reference to the contract
costs incurred up to the end of reporting
period as a percentage of total estimated
costs for each contract.

22 EHERBECRE (&)

(b) BERMBREERESHEXEEFF
BRIRy K a5 (F)

(1) WARER

WARBENEZEHEBEEE
EPRHER - BT AR KK
FERRARKER BE
2 42 ) 8 AT BE BB B R SR K
—BHER - -HAKENE
METAEURTHRE RMEBEEM
PRI RER R

~ AEFRABBEREE
A 45 B M IR 4 2 B
BRI

- EBEAREEANRRIER
RABEPESNZE
B

- EAXAKEEXMAIEDN
EEYESANEEREHR
HEtRghARBEHES
A o il 17 4 F W A
SEEREXZFEA

fie B EE B0 42 Bl B Y — BB A
NEH - AW ARTKIET
FRABHEETZEERAR
HMEER SR KARE
FEUS & B 1% 1 2 B B A

N

SRETROEEZEER
AEBARITRNEEZX
HEBRA 2BREHARR
SREMRODELSRARA
A RBEHRAZES
Pt e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

(1) Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

Accounting for revenue from
construction contracts

The Group conducted several
construction contracts both in
Manufacturing segment to deliver
turnkey production lines for the
manufacturing of thin-film solar
photovoltaic modules and in
Downstream segment to construct a
series of solar power stations for
certain small to medium-sized
enterprises and poverty alleviation
projects.

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 15,
revenue from fixed price construction
contracts is recognised using the
percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the
proportion of costs incurred to date to
the estimated total cost of the
relevant contract.

Upon adoption of HKFRS 15, the
Group's performance creates or
enhances an asset or work in progress
that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced, thus the
Group satisfies a performance
obligation and continue to recognise
revenue over time, by reference to
completion of the specific transaction
assessed on the basis of the actual
costs incurred up to the end of the
reporting period as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each
contract. The adoption of HKFRS 15
has had the following impact on the
opening accumulated losses as at 1
January 2018:

22 S BERBEZRE (@)

(b) BRMBBREERESHEXEEFF
BRI aE (F)

(1) WARR(E)

@

HEPFZEITERERZ
WA BIA SRR

AEED RIS RED F
KT ETZ 0
TAR Ao hlg&iE
I RAEEARGRE LR
AHSERBELER
RRETHNERRE
—RIKEGREEWEIAR
KBHEA °

R 7S B 75 s %
B 1555 A - & & B 1%
ERAaRZWATIER
TLAEDERR I
2EHEZHOELZ
KA BBER 2 EE
LR 2 L BIET= o

BN B S B 75 3R 5 22 R
E155%% AEEZE
HWEESRANEHEE
EEAEIRAFAE
PiEHzEERERETL
Bl ASER—
BREANBITRANERE
L2BFEER S 2T
BR(EEHEREZR
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ZERBHFTRAZE
2 LR Af) 4 4B BE R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

(1) Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Accounting for revenue from
construction contracts (continued)

22 EHERBECRE (&)

(b) BERMBREERESHEXEEFF
BRIRy K a5 (F)

(1) WARERE)

(a) HBEFZIEREFZ
WA BIA LR ()

Accumulated

losses

REtEE

HK$'000

FET

Closing balance as at 31 December 2017 R-_ZE—tF+_A=+—H (3,429,313)
Z AR

Adjustment from adoption of HKFRS B N\F—A—HEKA 392,359

15 on 1 January 2018 (note) BEM B ImEERNFE 165 2

AR (P EE)

Opening balance as of 1 January 2018 RZZE-—NF—R—RHZ (3,036,954)

Note:

The adjustment was arising from 1) the
change of accounting for assurance type
warranties for the construction of turnkey
production lines which are previously
accounted for as part of the total estimated
budget costs under HKAS 11, whereas now
are accounted for as deferred liabilities to
be recorded in other payables according to
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets, and 2) the change
of accounting for uninstalled materials for
the construction of turnkey production lines
which was previously accounted for as
contract costs and included in the
calculation of the percentage of
completion, however now was excluded
from the measurement of progress and
was recognised as revenue to the extent of
actual costs incurred for the uninstalled
materials with no corresponding profit to
be recognised. It is on the basis that the
costs incurred for these uninstalled
materials are not proportionate to the
Group’'s progress in satisfying the
performance obligation.

Wit -

BREABRTHN) BR
BEELERIARERE
ARBMES - REFL
GETERE115 - REBRF
EAMBAGTREKRAN
Bz 8o A MR
EEB R ERIE37R
B AR ERAARE
E - HBRBRRERER
H AN RIBEARR : &2)
BREELEERZIAR
KM 2 \BREMES -
REEME LA R K
AETERBE DT EAN
B R B AEE
FPER . BRRZEMH
EEZEBERRAARE
WA RA & R MR
Ao HABEDZERLEK
MORHEE & Z AN B K &
EETEENEEKLL
Bl -

159



160

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE —

—NE+_A=+—BLLFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

(1) Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

Accounting for revenue from
construction contracts (continued)

Note: (continued)

Besides the abovementioned changes
arising from adoption of HKFRS 15, the
Group provides service type warranties to
customers that are distinct in the turnkey
production line construction contracts. The
customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance as the Group provides
such kind of service type warranties and
thus revenue is to be recognised over time
upon rendering of such kind of services.
The Group determines to measure the
progress of such stand-ready service type
warranties according to actual costs
incurred and if no cost incurred during the
warranty period then the service type
warranties will be recognised as revenue at
the time upon the maturity of the warranty
period rather than straight-line basis since
the estimated service type warranties are
minimal to the total contract amount of the
turnkey production line construction in
overall. The adoption of HKFRS 15 has had
no impact on the Group's revenue
recognition for the service type warranties
that are separated from the turnkey
production lines construction.

22 S BERBEZRE (@)

(b) BRMBBREERESHEXEEFF
BRI aE (F)

(1) WARR(E)

@
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WABIALR ()
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z

—N\NF+ZA=+—HIEFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

(1) Revenue recognition (continued)

(b)

(c)

Sale of goods

The Group's sale of goods include
sales of solar PV panels and PV
application products.

The Group’s contracts with customer
for the sale of goods generally include
one performance obligation.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is
recognised at the point in time when
control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of
the goods. The adoption of HKFRS 15
has had no impact on the Group's
revenue recognition for sale of goods.

Sales to distributors

The Group sells rooftop solar power
systems through distributors.

Under HKFRS 15, the Group assesses
there are two distinct performance
obligations for the sales to
distributors: (i) sale of rooftop solar
power systems is recognised at the
point in time when control of the
rooftop solar power systems have
been transferred to the customers,
generally upon the delivery of these
systems; (ii) installation service is
recognised as revenue upon
completion of the installation
considering the installation period is
very short and limited within 3 to 10
days. The adoption of HKFRS 15 has
had no impact on the Group’s revenue
recognition for sales to distributors.

22 EHERBECRE (&)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

(1)

(2)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(d)  Sale of electricity

Under HKFRS 15, revenue from sale
of electricity is recognised at the point
in time upon transmission of
electricity to the electricity purchasing
companies or provincial grid
companies. The adoption of HKFRS 15
has had no impact on the Group's
revenue recognition for sale of
electricity.

Significant financing component

Generally, the Group receives short-term
advances from its customers including both
the turnkey production line construction
contract customers and downstream
distributors. Using the practical expedient
in HKFRS 15, the Group does not adjust the
promised amount of consideration for the
effects of a significant financing component
if it expects, at contract inception, that the
period between the transfer of the
promised good or service to the customer
and when the customer pays for that good
or service will be one year or less.

Meanwhile, when the Group constructs
turnkey production lines for its customers,
revenue is recognised over time with
corresponding contract assets and trade
receivables being recognised. The Group
expects that full collection can be obtained
from the customers within one year or less
when the corresponding revenue is
recognised for the turnkey production line
construction contracts, and therefore, using
the practical expedient in HKFRS 15, no
significant financing component involving in
the Group's execution of construction
contracts is recognised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

(3)

(4)

Advances received from customers

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 15, the
Group presented advances from customers
in connection with the Group’'s turnkey
production line construction contracts and
downstream distributors under other
payables and accruals in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Upon adoption of HKFRS 15,
reclassifications have been made from
other payables and accruals to contract
liabilities for the outstanding balance of
advances from customers. Advances from
customers of HK$5,239,848,000 that
previously classified under other payables
and accruals has been reclassified to
contract liabilities as at 1 January 2018.

Gross amount due from contract
customers

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 15, where
contract costs incurred to date plus
recognized profits less recognized losses
exceed progress billings, the surplus is
treated as an amount due from contract
customers. The Group’s gross amount due
from contract customers for contract work
was related to the Group's construction of
turnkey production lines, construction of
solar power stations for certain small to
medium-sized enterprises and poverty
alleviation projects.

Upon adoption of HKFRS 15,
reclassifications have been made from
gross amount due from contract customers
to contract assets. Gross amount due from
contract customers of HK$2,400,660,000
has been reclassified to contract assets as
at 1 January 2018.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 BEMENFcEMNE BB

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not early applied any of the new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to Definition of a Business?
HKFRS 3

Amendments to Prepayment Features with
HKFRS 9 Negative Compensation’

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 (2011) Associate or Joint Venture?

HKFRS 16 Leases’

HKFRS 17 Insurance contract®

Amendments to Definition of Material?

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment
HKAS 19 or Settlement’
Amendments to Long-term Interests in
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture'’
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 3,
2015-2017 Cycle HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and
HKAS 237

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

= No mandatory effective date yet determined but

available for adoption
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 BEME S *cEMNEBTE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about these HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The
amendments clarify that for an integrated set of
activities and assets to be considered a business, it
must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business
can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments
remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of acquiring the business and
continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on
whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The amendments have also
narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods
or services provided to customers, investment income
or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether
an acquired process is substantive and introduce an
optional fair value concentration test to permit a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 January 2020.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives
and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The
standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities
for most leases. The standard includes two elective
recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of low-
value assets and short-term leases. At the
commencement date of a lease, a lessee will
recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the
lease liability) and an asset representing the right to
use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e.,
the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the
right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class of property,
plant and equipment to which the revaluation model is
applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased to
reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced
for the lease payments. Lessees will be required to
separately recognise the interest expense on the
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the
right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to
remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of
certain events, such as change in the lease term and
change in future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognise the
amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as
an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor
accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from the accounting under HKAS 17
Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the
same classification principle as in HKAS 17 and
distinguish between operating leases and finance
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 BHE#{EEFEMNEBTE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to
make more extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17.
Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either
a full retrospective or a modified retrospective
approach. The Group will adopt HKFRS 16 from 1
January 2019. The Group plans to adopt the
transitional provisions in HKFRS 16 to recognise the
cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained profits at 1 January
2019 and will not restate the comparatives. In
addition, the Group plans to apply the new
requirements to contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and measure
the lease liability at the present value of the remaining
lease payments, discounted using the Group's
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial
application. The right-of-use asset will be measured at
the amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to the lease recognised in the statement of
financial position immediately before the date of initial
application. The Group plans to use the exemptions
allowed by the standard on lease contracts whose
lease terms end within 12 months as of the date of
initial application. During 2018, the Group has
performed a detailed assessment on the impact of
adoption of HKFRS 16. The Group has estimated that
right-of-use assets of HK$2,934,750,000 and lease
liabilities of HK$2,904,750,000 will be recognised at 1
January 2019.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. The amendments clarify that
materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of
information. A misstatement of information is material
if it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions made by the primary users. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 January 2020. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments
involve uncertainty that affects the application of
HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax
positions”). The interpretation does not apply to taxes
or levies outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it
specifically include requirements relating to interest
and penalties associated with uncertain tax
treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses (i)
whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity makes about
the examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities; (iii) how an entity determines taxable
profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an
entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.
The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively,
either fully retrospectively without the use of
hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of application as an adjustment to the opening equity
at the date of initial application, without the
restatement of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January
2019. The interpretation is not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

The acquisition of subsidiaries and business under
common control, where applicable, has been
accounted for using merger accounting method. The
financial statements of the businesses under common
control are prepared for the same reporting period as
the Company, using consistent accounting policies.

The merger method of accounting involves
incorporating the financial statement items of the
combining entities or businesses in which the
common control combinations occurs as if they had
been combined from the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the control of
the controlling shareholder. The net assets of the
combining entities or businesses are combined using
the existing book values from the controlling
shareholder’s perspective. No amount is recognised in
respect of goodwill or the excess of the acquirers’
interest in the net fair value of acquirees’ identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of investment at the time of common control
combination.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income include the results of each of
the combining entities or businesses from the earliest
date presented or since the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under common
control or since their respective dates of
incorporation/establishment, where this is a shorter
period, regardless of the date of the common control
combination. All intra-group balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra- group
transactions and dividends are eliminated on
consolidation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Business combinations, other than business
combinations under common control, are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair
values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition- related costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGTTHEME®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group's previously
held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other
items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair
value at the end of each reporting year. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGTTHEME®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and
best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly
Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, contract assets, financial
assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or
cash-generating unit’'s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGTTHEME®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit
or loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write-off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

3% — 5%

4% - 20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% - 33%
20% - 25%
over the shorter

Land and buildings
Plant and machinery

Motor vehicles

Leasehold improvements
of lease term or
20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss
of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress represents plant and
machinery under construction, which is stated at cost
less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated.
Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
installation. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be finite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGTHTHEBME#)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are
not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the
useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Technology know-how

Purchased technology know-how (including general
contractor licence) is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of 5 to 20
years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and
its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to
measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the
inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased
asset is capitalised at the present value of the
minimum lease payments and recorded together with
the obligation, excluding the interest element, to
reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under
capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land lease
payments under finance leases, are included in
property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over
the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to profit or loss of the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income so
as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases,
but are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is
the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net
of any incentives received from the lessor are charged
to profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on the straight- line
basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases
are initially stated at cost and subsequently
recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGTHTHEBME#)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset's
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's
business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January
2018)" below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI"”) on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

This category is the most relevant to the Group. The
Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

o The financial asset is held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows, and

o The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost
includes the Group's trade receivables and financial
assets included in other receivables and deposit
excluding other receivables due from a third party
which is classified as financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGTHTHEBME#)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income if both of the
following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling, and

o The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

For debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss and computed in the same manner as for
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The
remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognised in other
comprehensive income is recycled to profit or loss.

The Group’s debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income include bills receivable
and other receivables due from a third party.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to
classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which
case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject
to impairment assessment.

The Group elected to classify irrevocably its unlisted
equity investments under this category.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
investments. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs that are attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case
of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit
or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. After initial
measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income and gains in
profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in finance costs for loans and in other
expenses for receivables.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGTTHEME®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-
derivative financial assets in unlisted equity
investments. Equity investments classified as available
for sale are those which are neither classified as held
for trading nor designated as at fair value through
profit or loss.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability
in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,
such investments are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention
to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near
term are still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group
may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the
assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-
for-sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the
date of reclassification becomes its new amortised
cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that
has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or
loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the remaining life of the
investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the
maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining
life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the
asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then
the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and
policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what
extent it has retained the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs"”) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual cash
flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or
effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGTHTHEBME#)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

General approach (continued)

For debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group applies the low
credit risk simplification. At each reporting date, the
Group evaluates whether the debt instruments are
considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable
and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In addition, the Group considers
that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 90 days
past due.

The Group generally considers a financial asset in
default when contractual payments are 1 year past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and contract assets which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

General approach (continued)

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs;

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs;

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGTTHEME®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or the group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment
may include indications that a debtor or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and
observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses individually whether objective
evidence of impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Group determines that no objective evidence of
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset
in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
(continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is
measured as the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset's original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the loss is
recognised in profit or loss of the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the
allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to other expenses in profit or loss
of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred on an unguoted equity instrument
that is not carried at fair value because its fair value
cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset
that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of
such an unguoted equity instrument, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’'s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGTTHEME®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a
group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as
available for sale, objective evidence would include a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment below its cost. The determination of what
is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement.
“Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period in
which the fair value has been below its original cost.
Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in profit or loss of the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income — is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in
profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. Impairment losses on
equity instruments classified as available for sale are
not reversed through profit or loss of the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Increases in their fair value after impairment are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or
“prolonged” requires judgement. In making this
judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors,
the duration or extent to which the fair value of an
investment is less than its cost.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGTHTHEBME#)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9

applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as loans and borrowings or payables, as appropriate.
The Group determines the classification of its financial
liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings and other non-
current liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings and payables are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGTTHEME®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled,
or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis and, in case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

The non-current assets of the photovoltaic power
generation projects that are included in the scope of
consolidation and are held for sale are classified as
inventories and are measured in the same way as
other inventories, including the borrowing costs
capitalised until they are ready for use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Inventories (continued)

If a photovoltaic power generation project held for sale
has been in operation for over one year and has no
corresponding purchase commitment, purchase option
or similar agreements, the non-current assets related
thereto are transferred from “Inventories” to
“Property, Plant and Equipment” in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’'s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and bank balances comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTHHEBE©)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used
for the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a
capitalisation rate has been applied to the expenditure
on the individual assets. There was no capitalisation of
interest at 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. No final dividend was proposed during the
year (note 10).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present value
at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Provisions for assurance-type warranties granted by
the Group are recognised based on sales volume and
past experience of the level of repairs and returns,
discounted to their present values as appropriate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions (continued)

The Group typically provides warranties for general
repairs of defects that existed at the time of delivery
of the turnkey production lines and household solar
power stations pursuant to the respective contracts.
These assurance-type warranties are accounted for
under HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets. The Group also provides a warranty
of one to two years beyond fixing defects for the
turnkey production lines that existed at the time of
sale. These service type warranties are sold bundled
together with the construction of turnkey production
lines. Contracts for bundled sales of turnkey
production lines and a service-type warranty comprise
two performance obligations because the promises to
transfer the turnkey production lines and to provide
the service-type warranty are capable of being
distinct. Using the relative stand-alone selling price
method, a portion of the transaction price is allocated
to the service-type warranty. Revenue of such service-
type warranty is recognised over time according to
actual costs incurred, and if no cost incurred during
the warranty period, then the service type warranty
will be recognised as revenue at the time upon the
maturity of the warranty period.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGTTHEME®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair values
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Government grants (continued)

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January
2018)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of the goods or services are transferred
to the customer at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGTTHEME®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January
2018) (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

The Group's principal activities consist of (i)
construction of turnkey production lines for the
manufacture of both amorphous silicon-based and
CIGS based thin film solar photovoltaic modules and
the technological development and production of GaAs
thin film power turnkey production lines, and (ii)
construction of solar power stations, rooftop power
stations, household system, small to medium-sized
enterprises (“SME") commercial systems etc., and
sale of solar power stations, operation of rooftop
power stations, sale of solar photovoltaic panels,
photovoltaic application products and electricity, and
provision of engineering services.

(a) Accounting for revenue from construction
contracts

The Group conducted several construction
contracts both in the Manufacturing segment to
deliver turnkey production lines for the
manufacturing of thin-film solar photovoltaic
modules and in the Downstream segment to
construct a series of solar power stations for
certain small to medium-sized enterprises and
poverty alleviation projects.

The Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset or work in progress that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced,
thus, the Group satisfies a performance
obligation and continues to recognise revenue
over time, by reference to completion of the
specific transaction assessed on the basis of the
actual costs incurred up to the end of the
reporting period as a percentage of total
estimated costs for each contract.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January
2018) (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Sale of goods

The Group's sale of goods includes the sale of
solar PV panels and PV application products. The
Group's contracts with customers for the sale of
goods generally include one performance
obligation. Revenue is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

Sales to distributors

The Group sells rooftop solar power systems
through distributors. The Group assesses that
there are two distinct performance obligations
for the sales to distributors: (i) the sale of rooftop
solar power systems is recognised at the point in
time when control of the rooftop solar power
systems has been transferred to the customers,
generally upon the delivery of these systems; (ii)
the installation service is recognised as revenue
upon completion of the installation, considering
that the installation period is very short and
[imited within 3 to 10 days.

Sale of electricity

Revenue from the sale of electricity is
recognised at the point in time upon
transmission of electricity to the electricity
purchasing companies or provincial grid

companies.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January
2018) (continued)

Significant financing component

Generally, the Group receives short-term advances
from its customers, including both the turnkey
production line construction contract customers and
downstream distributors. Using the practical expedient
in HKFRS 15, the Group does not adjust the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of a significant
financing component if it expects, at contract
inception, that the period between the transfer of the
promised good or service to the customer and when
the customer pays for that good or service will be one
year or less.

Meanwhile, when the Group manufactures and delivers
turnkey production lines to its customers, revenue is
recognised over time with corresponding contract
assets and trade receivables being recognised. The
Group expects that full collection can be obtained from
the customers within one year or less when the
corresponding revenue is recognised for the turnkey
production line construction contracts, and therefore,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15, no
significant financing component involving in the Group's
execution of construction contracts is recognised.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 January
2018)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following
bases:

(@) from the manufacture of turnkey production
lines, construction of solar power stations for
certain small to medium-sized enterprises and
poverty alleviation projects, on the percentage of
completion basis, pursuant to which costs to
complete a contract are estimated and revenue
is recognised based on the estimated progress
to completion, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Construction contracts

"

(applicable before 1 January 2018)" below,
depending on the structure and terms of the

arrangements;

(b) from the sale of good which is recognised when
the goods have been delivered and title thereto
has been transferred;

(c) from sales to distributors, two identifiable
components of the revenue shall be considered:
(i) sales revenue of delivered rooftop solar power
systems is recognised when the rooftop solar
power systems have been delivered; and (ii)
installation service revenue is deferred and then
recognised as revenue when the installation
service is performed;

(d) from the sale of electricity, revenue is generally
earned and recognised upon transmission of
electricity to the electricity purchasing
companies or provincial grid companies;

(e) from the rendering of services, when the
services are rendered;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 January
2018) (continued)

(f)  interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset;
and

(g) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

Contract assets (applicable from 1 January 2018)

A contract asset is the right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services transferred to the
customer. If the Group performs by transferring goods
or services to a customer before the customer pays
consideration or before payment is due, a contract
asset is recognised for the earned consideration that
is conditional.

Contract liabilities (applicable from 1 January 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer. If a customer pays
consideration before the Group transfers goods or
services to the customer, a contract liability is
recognised when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract.

Construction contracts (applicable before 1 January
2018)

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract
amount and appropriate amounts from variation
orders, claims and incentive payments. Contract costs
incurred comprise direct materials, the costs of
subcontracting, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed construction
overheads.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Construction contracts (applicable before 1 January
2018) (continued)

Revenue from fixed price construction contracts is
recognised using the percentage of completion
method, measured by reference to the proportion of
costs incurred to date to the estimated total cost of
the relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as
they are anticipated by management. Where contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the
surplus is treated as an amount due from contract
customers. Where progress billings exceed contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses, the surplus is treated as an amount
due to contract customers.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-
settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to profit or loss of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGTTHEME®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-
vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an
award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as
if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award is
recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met.

However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification
of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or
loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which
operate in the PRC are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute to a certain percentage of their payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE —

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company's functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation
of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss of
the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the
Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the
transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of other comprehensive income are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation,
the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss of the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

24 TEETTHERE @)

S (&)

REENEEIBHEEE  ERIRA
FRIEERAERMKERENFEERE
ESFERBENERR 1R FHH
RAKENRERRNKEELENEE
BEEXFERABEMNA Y - W5
FUBEERMNR WAREEE N
FUBMEB-ERMNKENRZAE -

AT EIMBRE CNEERTIETIA
SINEB - NBERKR ZFEBZE
ERBERNBESHRZRBITERRE
RET MxFEBZEMEZEEER
AR 2 BT EXRRE BB T ©
FREfCERZEAN M2 m Rt
W WRINEREE R - RHEBINE
B AEZBESNEHTZEELEZA
WamHBorNBaRkEMEERERZE
R

REARERERRMS  BINIBL
AZRERENRRASREERAZER
EXxpELEBT BFRALELZEH
MERARREREVRZFE 2 NEF
BERMERBIT



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. *

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Judgements (continued) ik (&)

(i)  Revenue from contracts with customers (i)

The Group applied the following judgements that
significantly affect the determination of the
amount and timing of revenue from contracts
with customers:

(a) Identifying performance obligations in a
bundled sale of equipment and
installation services

The Group provides installation services
that are bundled together with the sale of
rooftop solar power systems to distributors.

The Group determined that both the rooftop
solar power systems and installation are
capable of being distinct. The Group
determined that the promises to transfer
the rooftop solar power systems and to
provide installation are distinct within the
context of the contract as historically the
Group used to deliver rooftop solar power
systems separately without installation
service to the distributors. The Group is not
providing a significant integration service
because the presence of the rooftop solar
power systems and installation together in
this contract do not result in any additional
or combined functionality and neither the
equipment nor the installation modifies or
customise the other. In addition, the rooftop
solar power system and installation are not
highly interdependent or highly interrelated,
because the Group would be able to
transfer the rooftop solar power system
even if the distributor declined installation.
Consequently, the Group allocated a portion
of the transaction price to the delivered
rooftop solar power systems and the
installation services based on relative
stand-alone selling prices.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Judgements (continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(b)

Consideration of significant financing
component in a contract

The Group constructs turnkey production
lines for its customers. In general, the
construction of turnkey production lines is
estimated to be completed within two
years with a warranty period of one to two
years. Under rare situations, such as the
construction of factories for the turnkey
production lines being delayed, the
construction period may be extended. The
credit period to customers is usually short
and limited to only days from different
milestones as specified in the contract. The
Group recognises revenue arising from the
construction contracts over time, by
reference to completion of the specific
obligations assessed on the basis of the
actual costs incurred up to the end of the
reporting period as a percentage of total
estimated costs for each contract. The
Group considers that the turnkey production
lines are constructed based on the
construction plans mutually agreed with
customers and the customers have made
periodic payments to the Group which
follow the progress of completion of the
performance obligation, and therefore
concludes that there is no significant
financing component to these construction
contracts in overall.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Judgements (continued)

(ii)

Deferred tax liabilities

The Group recognised deferred tax liabilities of
HK$1,273,709,000 (2017: HK$344,194,000) for all
the foreign-invested subsidiaries’ undistributed
earnings. Under the prevailing income tax law of
the PRC and its relevant regulations, dividends
paid by PRC enterprises out of profits earned
after 31 December 2007 to non- PRC tax resident
investors are subject to PRC withholding tax of
10%. A lower withholding tax rate of 5% may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between the PRC
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The
Group in the past was charged with withholding
tax at a rate of 5% when those PRC subsidiaries
distributed profits to their holding companies
outside Mainland China. Therefore, the Group has
applied 5% to provide for withholding taxes on
retained profits distributable by those subsidiaries
established in the Mainland China in respect of
their earnings generated from 1 January 2008 in
prior years. Pursuant to the <Notice Regarding
Certain Issues of “Beneficial Owner” in Tax
Treaty> issued by the State Administration of
Taxation on 6 February 2018 and effective from 1
April 2018, there are certain adverse factors
against the Group to be entitled with a 5% lower
withholding tax rate for future distribution of
profits based on management’s current best
estimation, and therefore, the Group has changed
to apply the rate of 10% to provide for withholding
taxes on retained profits generated from 1
January 2008 in the current period (note 27).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESTHHERMS

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (&)

(continued)

Judgements (continued) FIE (&)

(iii) Operating segment (iii) A& 5
The Group currently has certain business units AREBBREREZERMATP
based on their products and services to be RERBEE TEBEL  FFK
provided to the customers and each business BRBANAKEDE RELELE
unit is identified as an operating segment. DEF HRETEEDEERLE
Among these operating segments, certain BRI  BIEEMZIEE RIEM
operating segments have similar economic 2R HEEBREUHEZE - B -
characteristics, including the nature of the REEBRBENEEAHABE—KE
products and services to be provided, the nature DEBeRZBE—NF+_A=+—
of the production processes, etc. Therefore, the B AEBAEEMEEGHLEED
business units could be aggregated into a single 2 EERESEHE R T KD - &
operating segment. As at 31 December 2018, BHEEDBHAERBANABET R
there are two aggregated operating segments ENHHEFKEENK - #E—05F
which are the Manufacturing segment and BENRGE P IERERM T4 -

Downstream segment. Each of the aggregated
operating segments meets the quantitative
thresholds to be identified as reportable
segments. Further details are given in note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)
Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,
are described below.

(i)  Construction contracts

As further explained in note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group's
revenue from the construction contracts is
recognised over time, by reference to completion
of the specific obligation assessed on the basis
of the actual costs incurred up to the end of the
reporting period as a percentage of total
estimated costs for each contract.

Significant judgements are required to estimate
the total contract costs, comprising direct
materials, the costs of subcontracting, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of variable
and fixed construction overheads. Besides,
significant assumptions are required to estimate
the total contract costs that will affect whether
any provision is required for the onerous contract.
The estimates are made based on past experience
and knowledge of project management.

Actual outcomes in terms of total contract costs
may be higher or lower than those estimated at
the end of the reporting period, which would
affect the revenue and profit recognised in future
years.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING <k

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(ii) Impairment assessment on property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets of the Group are reviewed by
management for possible impairment when
events or changes in an operating environment
indicate that the carrying amounts of such assets
may not be fully recoverable. In determining the
recoverable amounts of these assets, expected
cash flows to be generated by the assets are
discounted to their present value, which involves
significant levels of estimates relating to sales
volume, selling prices, manufacturing and other
operating costs, terminal value, growth rates and
the discount rate. When a decline in an asset'’s
recoverable amount has occurred, the carrying
amount is reduced to its estimated recoverable
amount. Further details are given in notes 13 and
14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING <k

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii) Provision for expected credit losses of trade
receivables, contract assets and other
receivables

The Group’'s management determines the
provision for impairment of trade receivables
(note 17) on a forward-looking basis. The ECL is
determined based on the Group’s historical loss
rates over the expected life of the trade
receivables with similar credit risk characteristics
and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates.
Other receivables (note 19) is considered for
12-month expected credit losses based on
consideration of the credit risk stage, the
payment term arrangement and subsequent
settlement pattern. Contract assets (note 18) will
not be transferred to trade receivables unless
the construction work are completed and
payment milestone is reached pursuant to the
construction contracts, which is the time when
the Group has unconditional right to receive
considerations. The Group assesses that the
contract assets have substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade receivables for the
same types of contracts. In making the
judgement, management considers available
reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information, such as actual payment received
from customers during the subsequent period,
actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of customers, actual or
expected significant adverse changes in market
conditions. At every reporting date, the historical
loss rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed by the
Group's management. As at 31 December 2018,
the provision for impairment on trade receivables
and other receivables were HK$203,401,000
(2017: HK$59,473,000) and HK$12,139,000 (2017:
HK$24,536,000), respectively.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iv) Impairment assessment and net realisable
value of inventories

Inventories of the Group are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Management
conducts assessments on the net realisable
value of inventories by reference to their age,
obsolescence, future usage plan, estimated net
selling prices as well as inventory disposal plans.
If the actual selling prices of inventories are
substantially less than those expected due to an
adverse market condition or other factors, an
impairment loss on inventories may result.
Further details are given in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(v) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provision
in the period in which such determination is
made.

Recognition of deferred tax assets, which related
to tax losses and deductible temporary
differences, depends on management’s
expectation of future taxable profits that will be
available against which the tax losses or the
asset can be utilised. The outcome of their actual
utilisation may be different. Further details are
given in notes 9 and 27 to the consolidated
financial statements
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the executive
directors for their decisions about resource allocation
to the Group's business components and for their
review of the performance of those components. The
business components in the internal financial
information reported to the executive directors are
determined according to the Group’s major product
and service lines.

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their products and
services and has two reportable operating segments
as follows:

- construction of turnkey production lines for the
manufacture of both amorphous silicon-based
and CIGS thin-film solar photovoltaic modules
and the technological development and
production of GaAs thin-film power turnkey
production lines (“Manufacturing”);

- construction of solar farms, rooftop power
stations, household systems, small to medium-
sized enterprises (“SME"”) commercial systems
etc., and sale of power stations, operation of
rooftop power stations, sale of solar photovoltaic
modules, application products and electricity, and
provision of engineering service (“Downstream”)

Management monitors the results of the Group's
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit or loss,
which is a measure of adjusted profit or loss before
tax. The adjusted profit or loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group's profit before tax except
that certain of the interest income and head office and
corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z

(continued)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4,

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, equity

investments at fair value through other comprehensive

income, and other unallocated head office and

corporate assets as these assets are managed on a

—NF+ZA=+—BIFE)

EEDBER ()

NHEETEREEMBAEE BEAY
Bt \EftzERa s BaREREM
ANBEERERELEREE RARXK
FEEDEREE -

group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities and
other unallocated head office and corporate liabilities

as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties

at the then prevailing market prices.

DA E TFJE%EL%IEE1 KE MR
TREBERIECEEE RERZSE
BEDERER -

DEHEHEENSERER ZRITHEHE
ETFE=TREMRZHEEE

IRS e

Year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z-—N\F Manufacturing Downstream Total
TZA=+t—-HLEE HiE T &5
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FAET FET
Segment Revenue (note 5) 2 BB (HiEED)
Sales to external customers RANEE P E 19,551,539 1,700,233 21,251,772
Segment Results DBEE 10,329,707 (2,651,401) 7,678,306
Including: BIE
Interest income B A 8,527 26,128 34,655
Finance costs isER (31,846) (6,380) (38,226)
Research and development costs  Aff 3k AR (865,891) (184,527) (1,050,418)
Reconciliation of segment results: 7' &5Z4& 4 f
Segment results DEEE 7,678,306
Interest income AU A 372267
Unallocated other income and AR EHEM KA R
gains 10,057
Finance costs HBER (3,623)
Corporate and other unallocated ¥ R EM A D EH
expenses (151,511)
Profit before tax 7% 5 i A 7,570,496
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(For the year ended 31 December 2018 &= =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REITWER #)

(continued)
As at 31 December 2018 R-E-N\%F Manufacturing Downstream Total
+=HA=+—H HiE T &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Segment Assets PHWEE 29,483,927 3,739,099 33,223,026
Reconciliation: Hk -
Elimination of intersegment 31 85 7 2P el JE U 38
receivables (3,375,405)
Equity investments at fair value &2 FEE AH 2K
through other comprehensive Ll ERERE
income 63,058
Deferred tax assets ERERBEE 30,810
Corporate and other unallocated ~ (*# R EMAD R EE
assets 153,218
Total assets BEMBT 30,094,707
Segment Liabilities 2HEE 14,381,438 3,795,159 18,176,597
Reconciliation: #Hik
Elimination of intersegment 4§59 BB 1 B A+ 208
payables (3,375,405)
Deferred tax liabilities ELTHIEARE 1,975,262
Corporate and other unallocated ¥R EMADEEE
liabilities 146,876
Total liabilities BEAT 16,923,330
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5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 &= =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BEIWER )

(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018 HZE-T-—N\£ Manufacturing Downstream Total
TZB=t—BLEE HiE T ik &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET

Other Segment Information HittaBER
Reversal of impairment of trade & 5 fE UK FIE 2 5 & # @

receivables - (54,168) (54,168)
Impairment of trade receivables & 5 EW X IB R & - 192,701 192,701
Write-down of inventories to net #7755 = o] #3355 &

realisable value 38,684 93,275 131,959
Reversal of inventories provision 713 & &% % El (32,624) - (32,624)
Reversal of impairment of other = i & Ut 20 18 5l {8 # @)

receivable - (11,684) (11,684)
Impairment of property, ME - BB REERE

plant and equipment - 53,933 53,933
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 55,639 60,111 115,750
Reconciliation: #Hik
Corporate and other unallocated ¥R EMANFEITER

depreciation B

and amortisation 488
Total depreciation and amortisation #72 K # ¢4 4858 116,238
Capital expenditure * BARRL* 328,000 236,199 564,199
Reconciliation: #Hik
Corporate and other unallocated ¥ R E AR D R

capital expenditure EENGET 1,893
Total capital expenditure EARR S B5 566,092
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, * BARYEEANEDE BELSEE

plant and equipment and intangible assets.

MEWEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFHFER (#)
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2017 HZE-T—tfF Manufacturing Downstream Total
TZB=t—-HLEE g T Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Segment Revenue aBUEA
Sales to external customers RINDEFHEE 4,241,755 1,905,630 6,147,385
Segment Results EES 1,477,711 (965,260) 512,451
Including: B
Interest income FEUWA 6,177 2,130 8,307
Finance costs MEER (563,112) (6,227) (59,339)
Research and development costs A A AR (569,910) (51,768) (621,678)
Reconciliation of segment results: 7 E524& #14 -
Segment results DL 512,451
Interest income AL B A 19,732
Unallocated other income and RO EE MM A R ME
gains 55
Corporate and other rEREMRIEER
unallocated expenses (86,114)
Profit before tax 7 A i 446,124




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

IR

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, RBEFTWER (2

(continued)

As at 31 December 2017 RZE—+tF Manufacturing Downstream Total
+tZA=+-—H g T Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Segment Assets PHWEE 16,898,967 5,328,399 22,227366
Reconciliation: Hk -
Elimination of intersegment 31 85 7 2P el JE U 38
receivables (2,848,995)
Available-for-sale financial AHHESRIKE
investments 66,097
Corporate and other unallocated R EMANEEE
assets 124,698
Total assets BEMEHE 19,669,166
Segment Liabilities SEHEE 8,433,987 5,327,729 13,761,716
Reconciliation: Hk -
Elimination of intersegment 18597 2Pl FE < 3008
payables (2,848,995)
Deferred tax liabilities BLEHEAE 478,048
Corporate and other rEREMRDEERE
unallocated liabilities 70,595
Total liabilities SYEEGE 11,461,364
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(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

(continued)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REITWER #)

Year ended 31 December 2017 HZE-T—tfF Manufacturing Downstream Total
TZA=+—-HLEE g T At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Other Segment Information HittaBER
Reversal of impairment of 2 SR 2R ERR
trade receivables - (1,399) (1,399)
Impairment of property, ME - BB REERE
plant and equipment - 45,5622 45,522
Impairment of trade receivables & 5 EMFHIER(E - 934 934
Write-down of inventories FERRZERFEE
to net realisable value 39,170 34,612 73,782
Reversal of inventory provision TFERER D (9,661) (1,213) (10,874)
Depreciation and amortisation W& R 22,231 45,410 67,641
Reconciliation: #ik
Corporate and other unallocated ¥R EMADIEHER
depreciation and amortisation b5 396
Total depreciation and amortisation # & k4 $ 44 5 68,037
Capital expenditure® BARRL* 128,293 26,523 154,816
Reconciliation: #HhE
Corporate and other unallocated % % E b R DAL AR
capital expenditure X 41
Total capital expenditure EARY B 154,857
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, * BRAEYBEANBYE BELE

plant and equipment and intangible assets.

BRELEE -
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(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, RBEFTWER (2

(continued)

Geographical information ith & &
(@) Revenue from external customers (a) ZREINRERZWA
2018 2017
—E2-N\EF —T 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Mainland China R A 3 21,148,504 6,110,236
United Kingdom L 1,801 1,551
United States ZH 40,597 30,355
Europe &M 56,152 4,234
Others H A 4,718 1,009
21,251,772 6,147,385
The revenue information above is based on the EXZWABRTRBELNE MK
locations to which the goods were delivered or REREZ A ES o

the services were provided.

(b) Non-current assets b) FERBEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Mainland China FR R A 494,615 315,213
United States EE 537,807 365,272
Hong Kong BB 1,962 566
United Kingdom HE 6,742 10,254
Others HAth 13,5692 15,039
1,054,718 706,344
The non-current asset information above is based EXZERBEEERDRIEEE
on the locations of the assets and exclude equity ZHEMZES - BABEEAFEE
instruments at fair value through other STAEMETMKE 2 BRAT AR
comprehensive income and deferred tax assets. BEFIHEE o
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(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REITWER #)

(continued)

Information about major customers FREETEEFZ2EHR

2018 —E-N\F

Revenue of HK$3,077441,000 was derived from sales W A3,077,441,000/% 7T 75 2R B il & 5 &P
by the Manufacturing segment to Shenzhen Tong Fu FARYITREERRE S ER AR ETH
Shidai Trading Co., Ltd. &

2017 —T—+tF

Revenue of HK$2,463,821,000 was derived from sales K A 2,463,821,000/8 7T Jh 3k B &L 5 =26
by the Manufacturing segment to Shandong Zibo MILREEZEEEREEERAGIET
Hanergy Thin Film Power Ltd. HE °

Revenue of HK$1,262,618,000 was derived from sales U A1,262,618,0005% 7T, T3 3K B & 385 9 26
by the Manufacturing segment to Jingzhou Shunbai mAIMIEAERGREE NDER AR EITH

Solar Power Company Limited. ==
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(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

St

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH

CUSTOMERS

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information

Set out below is the disaggregation of the
Group's revenue from contracts with customers
and the reconciliation with the amounts

disclosed in the segment information:

5. HEEFHEITGRZKWA

(i) DHFBAEHR

TXHEIAREETFRETAR.Z
WARDHFRRER D BERAKE
TRZHER

Year ended 31 December EHEZZ—N\F Manufacturing ~ Downstream Total

2018 TZB=t—BLEE i T Aot
Segments a2 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET

Type of goods or services & = R% E R
Contract revenue of turnkey EELEZARKA

production lines 19,510,942 - 19,510,942
Contract revenue of solar ABGREEI RKEHEE

power stations and &REA

poverty alleviation projects - 536,809 536,809
Sale of solar photovoltaic HE A58 L RE AR

panels 40,597 514,218 554,815
Sale of rooftop solar power  $HERETEAG L E 5

systems - 594,493 594,493
Sale of photovoltaic HEXRERAEmM

application products - 28,021 28,021
Sale of electricity HEEN - 26,692 26,692
Total revenue from contracts BEF &2

with customers LON 3| 19,551,539 1,700,233 21,251,772
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(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

5. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 5. REFHITERZWA @)
CUSTOMERS (continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) DHFBAERE)
Year ended 31 December HE-ZE-N\%§ Manufacturing Downstream Total
2018 TZA=t—-HLEE R T i @5t
Segments Al HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET
Geographical markets 1 & T 45
Mainland China B A 3 19,510,942 1,637,562 21,148,504
United Kingdom HE - 1,801 1,801
United States EE 40,597 - 40,597
Europe BM - 56,152 56,152
Others HAh - 4,718 4,718

Total revenue from contracts B2 F &I & E 2

with customers LON | 19,551,539 1,700,233 21,251,772
Timing of revenue BRBAKE

recognition
Construction contracts BER HERE

delivered over time RNERER 19,510,942 536,809 20,047,751
Goods or services transferred RE—EZERAD @

at a point in time 5 mak AR 40,597 1,163,424 1,204,021

Total revenue from contracts EEF RIS E 2
with customers LON:t | 19,551,539 1,700,233 21,251,772
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(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

5. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 5. EEFHITESRZBA @)
CUSTOMERS (continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) DIFBAERE)
Year ended 31 December 2017 HEZT—t&+-A=+—AH1t
FIE
HK$'000
FHET
Contract revenue & R A 4,845,660
Sale of solar photovoltaic panels $HE KN aE SR E AR 62,742
Sale of rooftop power stations HERTBAREES UL 1,199,987
Sale of photovoltaic application products  $5& A ERE @ 7,751
Sale of electricity HESE 31,245
6,147,385
The following table shows the amounts of TRETRBEHVFAEGREE
revenue recognised in the current reporting BRI AR E AR Z AR

period that were included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

2018
—E-N\F

HK$000
FET

Revenue recognised that was RBEPIFAERBEZ
included in contract liabilities at the BRI ALE :
beginning of the reporting period:

Contract revenue of turnkey BEXEFARKBA
production lines 2,711,214
Sale of rooftop solar power systems $5EEBAGEZR & 340,285

3,051,499
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(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

St

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (continued)

(i)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’'s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Construction contracts

The Group conducted various construction
contracts both in Manufacturing segment to
deliver turnkey production lines for the
manufacturing of thin-film solar photovoltaic
modules and in Downstream segment to
construct a series of solar power stations for
certain small to medium-sized enterprises and

poverty alleviation projects.

The Group’s performance obligation is satisfied
over time, as the Group creates or enhances an
asset or work in progress that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced. The
payment is generally due within 3 days to 90
days from the date of billing.

Sale of goods

The Group's sale of goods include sales of solar
photovoltaic panels and photovoltaic application
products. The performance obligation is satisfied
upon delivery of the goods. The payment is
generally due within 3 days to 180 days from the
date of billing.

3,

HEFEITERZWA ()

(ii)

BREE

FARNEERANRE ARSI
T

ERER

AEE 7D Bl 5B E D 7 & T 2 H
ETZTENERAR - LADRIE
RIERABGR S RATSERE
ELERERETH/IERRER—
RO KGR EWHARIKERR -

BEAKREAERRANEHAEE
BRESRABREFEN CEE
FERTE AEER-REEA
BITRORME MR —BRRABEER
B HEAEFI3E =90H 28 -

HEER

AEBZHEEERBIEHEE NG
KAREMBERAXKRERER - BYH
EERRNTERBEET - TR—K
REAZEZEAHRF3AZE180H 24 -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ¥R AR Y RE

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z

St

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (continued)

(i)

Performance obligations (continued)
Sales to distributors

The Group sells rooftop solar power systems
through distributors. The Group assesses there
are two distinct performance obligations for the
sales to distributors: (i) the performance
obligation of sale of rooftop solar power systems
is satisfied upon the delivery of these systems;
(i) the performance obligation of installation
service is satisfied upon completion of the
installation considering the installation period is
very short and limited within 3 to 10 days. The
Group usually receives payment in advance from
distributors, except for certain distributors with
significant amount of transactions, where
payment is generally due within 7 days to 14

days from the date of billing.

Sale of electricity

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
transmission of electricity to the electricity
purchasing companies or provincial grid
companies. The payment is generally due within
30 days from delivery.

There are unsatisfied performance obligations
resulting from the fixed-price turnkey production
lines construction contracts. The aggregated
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
performance obligations as at 31 December 2018
is HK$37,051,021,000.

There are unsatisfied performance obligations
resulting from the fixed-price construction
contracts of certain solar power stations and
poverty alleviation projects. The aggregated
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
performance obligations as at 31 December 2018
is HK$351,585,000.

3l

—N\NF+ZA=+—HIEFE)

HBEFEITERIZWA (@)

(i)

BHEEE)
HETFEHE

AEEBRCHEIHEETAEAGE
R - AEETAEHMIEE TEHEY
FEMBIRMNBEAOERML: (MHE
EBEAGERAZEROARERRA
ZEZRKRT  (IBRREHR
BBR3EI0AURA  RERK
ZBRABERTHEEREET A
SEBE B LHETE L WE FRIE
ETRGEERAZCHEHRIN -

MR — R BEEABHRT7HE
21453 -
HEE S

BHEENEEENTRESHA
AREREBARBEST - 1 H—
RIS B REE30E A o

HREEERZBELERERA
B AEEEERABTZIRAE
KoM E-—NEFE+=_A=+—
H "EEZERABTBROELZ
435 S {B1%537,051,021,000/8 7T, ©

HREEERZE T KIZEE R
KEBAERAER AEEHEAR

BIIZBENEH R_FT—N\F
T-A=1t—R8 2EEZEARE
TRENEBEZRAXZERA

351,585,000/ T °
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(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

5. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 5, BEFEITESRIZWA#)
CUSTOMERS (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations (continued) (i) BHEEGE)
Management expects that the majority of the ERERY  EXAEEZSARE
above disclosed transaction price of these TERR-E—N\F+_A=+—
unsatisfied contracts as of 31 December 2018 B2RGERRITDBR=ZZ—AN
will be recognised as revenue in 2019 and 2020. NZE_EFEABWA -
6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. Hl ARz
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows: HEa AR oTaT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank interest income (note 8) RIT A B A (f1:#8) 42,008 11,761
Other interest income (note 8) H b F) 2 YA (f17£8) 29,914 16,278
Government grants* 8K # Bk 58,643 11,544
Gain on provision of services R AR 75 2 W as 65,030 16,378
Gain on sale of spare parts SHET I 2 W 9,441 =
Foreign exchange differences, net  [E X Uiz - H5 17,872 -
Others H b 1,222 20,509
224,130 76,470
3 Government grants are tax refunds, funds for the & BT B E B EA AR X 2 K&
research and innovation works and the daily operation BB AR LEF TEALA
of the Group’s subsidiaries to which the related BEEMERRBZHARES °

expenses have already been incurred.
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it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

7 B¥EBA

MEBERZAMT

2018 2017
—E-N\HF —E—+F
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FHEIT
Interest on other borrowings from FEfTRAEE A T H b E 2 F &
related parties 6,572 18,534
Interest on other borrowings from I EEBE=HHMERZ
unrelated third parties B 25,107 30,014
Interest on bank borrowings RITEER B 10,170 10,791
Total interest expenses B HERR 41,849 59,339
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

8. BiAlmF

IHH :

AEBEZHAEMERR, (GtA) T3

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank interest income (note 6) SRITR BURA (B 226) (42,008) (11,761)
Other interest income (note 6) E AR BUA (B 226) (29,914) (16,278)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR EE - 5,568
Auditors’ remuneration ZERED B
Audit service ZE R 29,367 16,300
Others HAty 13,569 6,470
Amortisation of intangible assets mREESE (Wit14)
(note 14) 7,959 1,489
Depreciation of items of property, ME BMEREKREBERZ
plant and equipment (note 13) e (HiE13) 108,279 66,548
Employee benefit expenses**: EERMBR*>:
Salaries, allowances and benefits e RUREYHN=
in kind 1,556,816 816,403
Employment termination benefits & B BEIg AR A
included in administrative expenses (3t AfTER &) 169 18
Pension schemes BIKEETE 127,692 43,254
Equity-settled share option expenses BA#E 25 45 & w9 R% (D ER ki
53 10,233 19,475
Sub-total NEt 1,694,910 879,150




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 8. BLADEFM (4
2018 2017
—E-NE —E—tF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Research and development costs i B2 Ak 2N 1,050,418 621,678
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses, net [EH (M%) /184  SE458
(note 6) (Ktit6) (17,872) 1,802
Impairment of property, plant and Y% BE R ERE
equipment* (note 13) (B17E13) 53,933 45,522
Loss on disposal of items of property, &% - ME RREEE
plant and equipment* Z B 1,400 464
Write-down of inventories to net FEMBZER &5 FE
realisable value 131,959 73,782
Reversal of inventories provision FERBERLO (32,624) (10,874)
Impairment of financial and contract &RIEENREREEZRIE
assets, net: FEE
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 W TR A
(note 17)* (Btiz17)* 192,701 934
Reversal of impairment of trade B 5 W IR R E D
receivables (note 17)* (HtaE17)* (54,168) (1,399)
Reversal of impairment of other E A W SRR R E B [
receivables (note 19)* (Ht7£19) * (11,684) -
Sub-total AN 126,849 (465)
Minimum lease payments under KEHE HEHRES
operating leases:
Land and buildings T RIEF 338,589 252,738
Equipment B 5,851 3,975
Product warranty provision EEmiIRE B (B a224(v))
(note 24(v)) 261,609 38,468

These items are included in “other expenses” on the *
face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income of the Group.

**  This item include the directors’ and chief executive’s *x
remuneration and key management emoluments of the

Group. (note 12)

ZEHRBFAANEEFEBRE REM
2HERERZ[EMERIA -

ZEBEAEBNEERTETHRA
E?FM\&IE%EAEM@ o (W7
12
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

INCOME TAX

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda and
conducts its principal activities through its subsidiaries
in the PRC and other countries. The Company, under
the current laws of Bermuda, is not subject to tax on
income or capital gains. The Hong Kong profits tax
rate was 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) during the year
reported. The Company’s Hong Kong subsidiaries have
both Hong Kong-sourced and non-Hong Kong-sourced
income. The latter is not subject to Hong Kong profits
tax and the related expenses are non-tax-deductible.
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was made as
such operations did not generate any assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.
Furthermore, there are no withholding tax in Hong
Kong on the remittance of dividends.

Effective from 1 January 2008, the PRC's statutory
corporate income tax (“CIT") rate is 256%. Certain of
the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC were designated
as “High New Technology Enterprises” and were
entitled to a preferential CIT rate of 15%. The
Company’s other PRC subsidiaries are subject to
income tax at 25% on their respective taxable income
as calculated in accordance with the CIT Law and its
relevant regulations except for Apollo Precision
(Kunming) Yuanhong Limited (“Apollo Kunming”). In
2013, Apollo Kunming received written confirmations
from the local tax bureau that Apollo Kunming was
taxed on a deemed profit method based on the
deemed profits at the 25% statutory tax rate. The
deemed profit was determined at 10% of the sales of
Apollo Kunming. The Company's subsidiary in Sweden
is subject to income tax at a rate of 22%. The
Company's subsidiary in the United Kingdom is
subject to income tax at a rate of 19%. The
Company's subsidiaries in the United States are
subject to income tax at a rate ranging from 27% to
29.84%. The Company’s subsidiaries in Germany are
subject to corporation tax at a rate of 15.825% and
trade tax at rates ranging from 12.6% to 20.3%. Taxes
on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in
which the Group operates. No provision for income
tax was made for the overseas subsidiaries as there
were no assessable profits during the year.

s

AABRBEREFMAYL  TEB/EF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

INCOME TAX (continued)

Under the prevailing CIT Law and its relevant
regulations, any dividends paid by the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries from their earnings derived after 1
January 2008 to the Company’'s Hong Kong subsidiary
are subject to a 5% or 10%, depending on the
applicability of the Sino-Hong Kong tax treaty, PRC
dividend withholding tax. For the Group, the historical
applicable rate is 5%. Pursuant to the <Notice
Regarding Certain Issues of “Beneficial Owner” in Tax
Treaty> issued by the State Administration of Taxation
on 6 February 2018 and effective from 1 April 2018,
there are certain adverse factors against the Group to
be entitled with a 5% lower withholding tax rate for
future distribution based on management’'s current
best estimation. Accordingly, lack of solid supportive
evidence to be entitled with the 5% lower withholding
tax rate, the Group has changed to apply 10% in
current year to provide for withholding taxes on
retained profits generated since 1 January 2008 by its
PRC subsidiaries. (note 27)

The major components of income tax expense in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are:

FrEs @)

BEBERITREMGHEREBAZER -
RZZBEZNF—A—H%B AQAZH
BHBARARAARZEANER A
Rz EMEEBFTEZRE B5%
5K10% R F &R R E B R ETE
HEzEABR RAEEMS BE
HRAMER% BEERRBERN =
E-NEF-AABBHGRE=ZZT—\F
mMA—BEZNCEARTREBER X5
BN BHERENRSE) RREREE
ARREGRT FEETERASEH
ARKEZH%NREBMHH RN E
THRABRZ ARV EELEEBEIHE
B5%MEBEBBMBHE  AEERR R
BRI BARE -—TEENF—A—
BREEANRBESN RAFERAIEZ
10%EB R - (Hfa227)

krg # 22 T Wz R A AT S A B
XM EBEEKIBAR

2017
—E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Current tax: B ERAFH IR -
The PRC A
Income tax expense for the year AEERMERS T 1,036,764 107,489
Deferred tax charge: FER TS B ¢
Current year (note 27) NEE (Hi227) 1,340,664 77,603
Total tax charge for the year RNEEHBLZ LHBE 2,377,428 185,092
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

9. INCOME TAX (continued) 9.

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable
to profit before tax at the PRC statutory tax rate which
the Company’s majority subsidiaries are domiciled to
the income tax expense at the effective tax rate is as

FrEs @)
BRE(AATREADSHE D TEM
FiEs) 2 kR R 5 EEB R AT E R A
AR EE Y A ERA AR YE
T

follows:

2018 2017
=E-N\F —ET—LF
HK$’000 HK$°'000
FET FET
Profit before tax % A1 Y Al 7,570,496 446,124
Tax at the PRC statutory tax rate RHEEEBEGFTE 2R 1,892,624 111,531
Effect of differences in international R % Bl B2 & 3t #4 BE B s 2
and domestic preferential tax rates MEZR 72 (704,719) (241,217)
Expenses not deductible for tax DGR3 12,730 4,794
Effect of superdeduction on PRC HEMREREAEERZ
research and development costs F (33,272) (8,861)
Deferred tax assets not recognised R FEZIELERIEEE
for impairments and REMEREER
other temporary differences 59,604 41,480
Tax losses not recognised RIER 2 Tt I8 B 18 594,127 529,711
PRC dividend withholding tax o B B 2 71 AT 99 R A TR
D) 920,371 (51,411)
Utilisation of temporary differences @A A F EAR I MERER 2 5
not recognised in prior periods =R (358,338) (200,974)
Others HAb (5,699) 39
Income tax expense FriS®iF 2,377,428 185,092




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

10. DIVIDEND

11.

The board of directors does not recommend to declare
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018
(2017: nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to
owners of the parent and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 42,145,676,000 (2017:
41,866,989,000) in issue during the year.

The Group had share options and subscription rights
outstanding which could potentially dilute basic
earnings per share in the future. The calculation of the
diluted earnings per share amount in 2018 and 2017 is
based on the profit for the year attributable to owners
of the parent without any adjustment. The weighted
average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year, as used in the calculation of basic
earnings per share plus the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise of subscription
rights into ordinary shares. In 2018, no adjustment has
been made to the weighted average number of
ordinary shares regarding the outstanding options as
they had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings
per share amount presented.

When calculating the diluted earnings per share, the
estimated share prices of 2018 and 2017 were used
which was calculated by market value of 100% equity
interest of the Company (the “Market Value”) divided
by total outstanding shares as at each valuation date.
The Market Value was estimated by an independent
valuer (the “Valuer"”) as the trading of the Company'’s
shares had been suspended since 20 May 2015. The
Valuer adopted the market approach, which is basically
a comparison method which estimates market value
from analysing sales and financial data and ratios of
comparable public companies. The Market Value was
derived after a discount of lack of marketability.

10.

1.

RS

EEeTREREBE_T-N\Ft+=
A=t BLEFEZREBRS (ZT—+t
FE)

BRAHEEABLEZRER

FREABFNZSEDREIQRES
AEBEFEREFMUARFANERITEBR
2 DNHEF 15 #042,145,676,0000% (= =
—+4F : 41,866,989,0008% ) st E B H -

REEMRTEBRERRERE Y
RROGRERBFEKETHELE -
R-B-NER-Z—+EE5REER
FNESBEDNRESARBEAREEE
wAETE (TMEEAAR) - T@R 2z M
IO HERAESESRERNRFG
FAEBITETARHE RBERUAEKE
BETERBERBLT AR TURTZ
TRABRMEFHIEEE R N\F
I 7R Fh AR 17 150 B AR B9 3@ AR pn #E T 5
BELHAE REARHYHMENEARST
REFGEEREETE -

RABEERBFRIG EFEA-F
—NFRZZFE—tF2HAHRE " DR
RAT00% K 2 mE([HE]) RIS
HERABEITEINCRNDBEGHE - B
RERRBRMNE-ZZE—HERAHA=TH
E—HEEEFEEE MEH—SBUGE
Ab ([ EER]) B A o B ERFEMATIS
EOHREARER-—BLHEE  BBON
EMARZHEEENFEERLE (4
HMIBEE -MmADNGARZTE AR
MIREET
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE —

1. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 1.

TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT (continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per
share are based on:

—NEFE+ZA=+—HLFE)

BARBEEAEBLERER @)

BREAREERNIRETIIEE 5

=
Eal

2018 2017
=E-N\F —E—tF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Earnings for the year AERF
Profit attributable to owners of LAE ””’_Hx§$&%7§757ﬂ
the parent, for the purpose of BERHZEAR
basic and diluted earnings per Tﬁﬁ/\%ﬁ/\ﬁ’éﬁfﬁ?’iﬂ
share calculation 5,193,017 261,099
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Shares vy
Weighted average number of RIEAHEBRELRRBT 2
ordinary shares in issue during FAEBITEBRME
the year used in the basic earnings 35 g;
per share calculation 42,145,676 41,866,989
Effect of dilution-weighted average #5857 2 — 3@ AR hn ke
number of ordinary shares: EHE
Assumed issue at no consideration AN EREITE B KRITE
on deemed exercise of all share B A% B T R AR B B 1T
options outstanding during the year - 78,587
Deemed exercise by Hanergy RIEWIEREIL AR B R A )
Holding Group Limited (“Hanergy (EgeER ) ITEFTE
Holding"”) of all outstanding RITEREERE
subscription rights 2,530,781 1,831,592
Weighted average number of RETESREERT ~
ordinary shares in issue during FANEBITEBRMNE
the year used in the diluted T8
earnings per share calculation 44,676,457 43,777,168




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETHRAEFMEE

REMUNERATION AND KEY EEEAEME
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the AFEEZESERFTETHRABEZHE W
year is as follows: 5
2018 2017
S T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FE T
Fees wE 3,489 2,342
Other emoluments: B :
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMEREWMH S
in kind 14,902 13,973
Equity-settled share-based AR A E IR D XA
payments 257 1,079
Contributions to retirement RIRE R B
benefit schemes 30 75
15,189 15,127
Total 48 =H 18,678 17,469
The directors and chief executive represent the key EERTETBRAEEAANATEESE
management personnel of the Company. AB o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 &= =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE)

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETHAETFHNRE

REMUNERATION AND KEY EEBAEME @
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (continued)

In prior years, certain directors were granted share RBTEE ETEERRFHAEE
options, in respect of their services to the Group, ZIREBERD A ERETSIERER
under the share option scheme of the Company, oS HEBEH N Y HRR N
further details of which are set out in note 29(b) to the 29(b) > FH AR LEENRD I HHE
financial statements. The amount of equity settled BOBRERIBZEBERENRAFER
share-based payments included above is the amount FREHARNEBRTERANSE -

recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period
based on fair value of such options at the grant date.

(a) Executive directors and independent non- (a) HITEERBIFFHTES
executive directors

Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled Contributions
and benefits  share-based  to pension
Fees in kind payments schemes Total

FeoRER MREEREN  BHER
iz RBUNE  RGXH  HEHER af

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FEL FEn FEn FEn

2018 —E-)\%
Executive directors: JTEE.
Mr. Yuan Yabin REWRE 234 4,310 - 7 4,551
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie M-8 234 4,290 257 18 4,799
Mr. Wang Xiong (i) THEEN 45 207 - 5 257
Mr. Si Haijian ABREE 234 1,766 - - 2,000
Mr. Huang Songchun EINELE 234 1,459 - - 1,693
Mr. Xu Xiaohua BRERE 234 1,104 - - 1,338
Mr. Zhang Bin R 234 1,766 - - 2,000
1,449 14,902 257 30 16,638
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Mr. Lo Man Tuen EXmELE 510 - - - 510
Professor He Xiaofeng /R 510 - - - 510
Professor Zhang Qiusheng RREHR 510 - - - 510
Mr. Wang Dan IRRE 510 - - - 510
2,040 - - - 2,040
Total emoluments for the year 2018  —E—/\FH#4L%E 3,489 14,902 257 30 18,678
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION AND KEY
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

Executive directors and independent non-
executive directors (continued)

EEEAESME @)

12. EERFETHAEFME X

(a) BTEBERBUNFATES(H)

Salaries,

allowances  Equity-settied  Contributions

and benefits  share-based  to pension
Fees in kind payments schemes Total
H% 2R NEREEN RN
we ENflE Rt Rl a3t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT
2017 Z8-tF
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Yuan Yabin RoWEE 234 3,167 - 39 3,440
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie H—BEL 234 4,290 259 18 4,801
Mr. Wang Xiong THEE 234 1,066 - 18 1318
Mr. Si Haijian AL 234 1,766 820 - 2,820
Mr. Huang Songchun BINFLE 234 884 - - 1,118
Mr. Xu Xiaohua hRELE 234 1,034 - - 1,268
Mr. Zhang Bin R T 234 1,766 = = 2,000
1,638 13,973 1,079 75 16,765
Independent non-executive BUEHTES:
directors:
Ms. Zhao Lan BELT 97 - - - 97
Mr. Wang Tongho IRBEE 97 - - - 97
Professor Xu Zheng RIAE 97 - = = 97
Dr. Wang Wenjing IXEEL 97 - - - 97
Mr. Lo Man Tuen EXnkiE 79 = - - 79
Professor He Xiaofeng N EHE 79 - - - 79
Professor Zhang Qiusheng RREHAR 79 = = = 79
Mr. Wang Dan IREE 79 - - - 79
704 - - - 704
Total emoluments for the year 2017  —E—+ & ¢4 2,342 13,973 1,079 75 17469
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND KEY
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Executive directors and independent non-
executive directors (continued)

(i)  Mr. Wang Xiong resigned as an executive
director and vice chairman of the board of
directors with effect from 15 March 2018.

No emolument was paid by the Group to any
director as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
Nil).

There was no arrangement under which a
director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017: Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year included two
(2017: two) directors whose emoluments are
included in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments payable to the remaining three
(2017: three) individuals during the year are as
follows:

12. EERFETHRAEFMEE

EE

(a)

(b)

BEAEME #)

HTESRBUFTES(H)

() THEEEHIARRNH
TEERATF B-_F
—NF=ZAt+HBBENR -

BHE_ZT - \F+-A=+—H1t
FE AEEHERAEAESEZM
e - ARSI REMARER KR
MARE B RAERIRE - S{EARE
BHEE(CE—tF:&\) -

BE-_T-\F+-A=+—HLt
FEYBELEENELRBNE
WHEAME 2 28 (ZF—1F:
&) -

EEBREHFMAL

RAEE AEELEERFMA
TEERA(ZE—tF WA E
ERTETHRAE  HMEHR
EXAH-FAERMNBT=4
—E—+tFZR)ALTZHEW
T

2018 2017

ZE-)\F i

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries and other emoluments He& NEME S 8,350 8,848

Discretionary bonuses 15T AL 5,212 2,238
Equity-settled share-based ARz S E W IR (0 S A

payments - 461

Contributions to pension schemes R K1&E | 5t 2 £ 5% 118 125

Total B 13,680 11,672




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETHAETFHNRE

REMUNERATION AND KEY
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (continued)

No emolument was paid by the Group to any top
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office during the year
ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

The number of non-director and non-chief-
executive, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as

EE

(b)

BEAEME #)

hEBRFMAL(E)

BE_Z-\F+-_A=1t—HL
FE AKEHBEAEANLERS
FMALXAME - LRSS
AREB IR MAREE R ERR
B - SRERBERAE (T —LF
&) -

MeENTFATEE 2 IEEERIEE
ETBAR &= FHMES AZW
T

Number of employees
EEAH
2018 2017
—E-)\F el
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

follows:
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 L E
3,500,000/ 7T
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 L&
4,000,000/ 7T
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001/ L &
4,500,000/ 7T
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001/ L E
5,000,000/ 7T
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 T &
5,500,000/ 7T
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 L&

6,000,000/ 7T
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it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. % BERRE

Leasehold
improvements,
furniture,
fixtures
Landand  Construction Plant and and Motor
buildings in progress machinery equipment vehicles Total
HEM
£6 &l
tHREF FEIE  HERMSE EERRE ik} ait
HK$000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKs 000 HK8000
&1 &7 Fér Fér Fér FE1
31 December 2018 Z5-NEtZA=1-H
At 1 January 2018: NE-NE-R-R:
Cost i 68,708 12,91 869,537 540,962 21,99 1924126
Accumulated depreciation and impaiment  ZiTTE R (68,708) (293,581) (589,857) (371,974) (18700 [1,342804)
Net carrying amount EHSE - 129,340 279,680 168,988 3,294 581,302
At 1 January 2018, net of accumulated N-E-N\E-F-R 1kE
depreciation and impairment SHTERAE - 129,340 219,680 168,988 3,204 581,302
Additions hE - 175,300 144,049 192,478 3,929 515,756
Disposals hE - (1,066) (161) (1,032) (1,876) (4135)
Transfer 2% - (59,339) 36,434 22,905 - -
Other transfer out EfhE - (3,666) (1,044 - - (4710)
Depreciation provided during the year ERERE - - (42,808) (64,621) (850) (108,279
Impairment i - - (53933) - - (53,933)
Exchange realignment L - (3475) (1,149) (6,618) (141) (21,382)
At 31 December 2018, net of accumulated ~ R=E-NETZf=1-B:
depreciation and impairment NBEHHERAA - 237094 361,069 312,100 4,356 904,619
At 31 December 2018: WoB-NE+ZB=1-R:
Cost i 68,708 530,675 1,037,667 748,695 8,910 2,409,655
Accumulated depreciation and impaiment  Z3FHERAE (68708 (293,581) (686,598) (436,59) (19550 [1,505,036)
Net carrying amount FAsE - 237094 351,069 312,100 4,35 904,619

Impairment of HK$52,027000 and HK$1,906,000 have
been recognised for two self-owned solar power
plants included in “plant and machinery” in the
Downstream segment for the year ended 31
December 2018. The solar power plants were loss
making for the year ended 31 December 2018. This
indicated that the carrying amount of the solar power
plants may be less than their recoverable amounts as
at 31 December 2018. The recoverable amounts of
HK$13,873,000 and HK$6,755,000 were determined
by the directors of the Company, based on value-in-
use calculations covering a detailed 5-year budget plan
with extrapolated forecasts for the remaining useful
lives of the core assets of the solar power plants
without any growth rate being considered. The pre-tax
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is
9%.

BHE-Z—\F+-A=1+—HLEFE "
Bt N o 30 [ E R eS| T A5l 6
B A A s E M e 20 [E52,027,000
7 7T %.1,906,000/8 7T © 7% & N[5 8% B K
REBEZE_Z—NF+ZA=+—HLF
EHBER - EBTZEAGEERD
FEEANREERER-"TE—NF+=A
i el = I O I S 1 B R g
13,873,000/ JT % 6,755,000 JT J B 2N
AR BB RESFAHMBEREIREAE
EBfEET TEEHTEMMERR
MAGEERZLEEZH TAERSE
HMHEER -ReREeBUERAZH
AIBEIR K B9% o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. V¥ - BERRE®)

(continued)

Leasehold
improvements,
furniture,
fixtures
Landand  Construction Plant and and Motor
buildings in progress machinery equipment vehicles Total
2558 \ ;
THRET kRIR  HEREE  ZERRG it} fif
HK§'000 kS 000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT 7T 7T FAT FAT FAL
31 December 2017 ZB-tETZAZ1-B
At 1 January 2017: R-Z-tE-A-A:
Cost WA 68,708 4775 774,060 523,108 2,814 1,836,865
Accumulated depreciation and impaiment 2 AERHE (68,708 (263,853) (359,074 (331,233) (17886l (1,230,754)
Net carrying amount FHAE - 193,322 214,986 191,875 5928 606,111
A1 January 2017 netof accumuleted W3 -+5-A-A NIRE
depreciation and impairment STERHE - 193322 214,986 191,875 5,908 606,111
Additions PJ‘E - 115,948 2,192 11377 1,051 131,168
Disposal of a subsidiary LE-FHEAR - - - (600) 13,130) 3,730)
Disposals HeE - (1,39 (2,213) (2,637) (59) 6,302
Transfer g5 - (68,06) 68,056 - - -
Other transfer in Hi#E - - 7048 - - 7048
Other transfer out e - (78,042 - - - (78,042)
Depreciation provided during the year ERfERE - - (24,989 (40,741) (818) (66,548
mpaiment e - (39,728) (5,794 - - (45,522)
Exchange realignment B A% - 7289 19,79 9,714 30 3719
At 31 Decerber 2017 netof accumulated ~ R=E—tET= =1
depreciation and impairment NRZERAR - 129340 279,680 168,988 3,29 581,302
At 31 December 2017: RZZ-t¥+2R=1-8
Cost A 68,708 422,91 869,537 540,962 21998 1,924,126
Accumulated depreciation and impaiment  EHFTERE (68,708) (293 581) (389,857) (371,97) (8704 (1,302,804
Net carrying amount A - 129,340 279,680 168,988 3,204 581,302

An impairment of HK$5,794,000 has been recognised
for a self-owned solar power plant included in “plant
and machinery” in the Downstream segment for the
year ended 31 December 2017 The solar power plant
was loss-making for the year ended 31 December
2017. This indicated that the carrying amount of the
solar power plant may be less than its recoverable
amount as at 31 December 2017 The recoverable
amount of HK$10,254,000 was determined by the
directors of the Company, based on value-in-use
calculations covering a detailed b-year budget plan
with extrapolated forecasts for the remaining useful
lives of the core assets of the solar power plant
without any growth rate being considered. The pre-tax
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was
9%.

HE_Z—+&+-A=1+—RHILEE
ERTHIEBEREE| TN E
B KI5 8E & % 7 3208 (B5, 794,000 TT °
ZAGEERREE-_T—+tF+_A
=t HIEFEHEEE - EBERZA
GHEERNEAENEERNER T
—tEF+-_A=+—HBHNAKEELHE -
A U [B] & %810,254,0007% JT T B AN A A
EERBESFHATAERIIREAEERT
HET UZRHTEMMERENK
GREERZLEEZH T AFEAFEHN
HETER - RS RERAER 2 F A8
HEEIY o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

An impairment of HK$39,728,000 had been
recognised for certain assets included in “construction
in progress” in the Downstream segment for the year
ended 31 December 2017. These assets were in
obsolescence or physical damage and their economic
performances were expected to be worse than
originally planned in the foreseeable future. These
indicated that the carrying amount of the assets may
be less than their recoverable amount as at 31
December 2017. The recoverable amount was
determined by the directors of the Company, based on
the fair value less costs of disposal of each individual
asset which was assessed as nil. All these assets are
fully impaired as at 31 December 2017.

13. V¥ - BEKRZRE#)

BE_Z—tF+-_A=t—HULFE"
ERTHABIERIR] THINET
& E RN (E39,728,00008 T - % F &
ECRELER HLERARMEA
ABKEBERRESE - ERTXFE
ENREEIEERER-_T—+F
Tt A=t—ANAkEeHE - JKE
THEAERT DHARRAESRER
EREE A FERLEXNKTEE - R
—E—+E+ZA=+—RB FME%E
BEECTBURE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14. B EE
Technology
know-how
and software Total
B i 058
k&4 a5t
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
31 December 2018 —E-N\E
+=—HA=+-—-H
Cost at 1 January 2018, net of RZE-N\F—H—H
accumulated amortisation and BARA(E
impairment PR 2518 8 RORE 35,467 35,467
Additions NE 50,336 50,336
Amortisation provided FREHR
during the year (7.959) (7,959)
Exchange realignment BEE 5, 3 B (5,119) (5,119)
At 31 December 2018 R-T—N\F
+=—A=+— 72,725 72,725
At 31 December 2018: RZZT—N\F
T-A=1+—H8:
Cost DN 1,691,845 1,691,845
Accumulated amortisation 2 EELRE
and impairment (1,619,120) (1,619,120)
Net carrying amount REFE 72,725 72,725
31 December 2017 —E—tF
+=—B=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2017, net of R-—ZE—tF—H—H
accumulated amortisation &EXZNE
and impairment Mk 288 MR E 12,685 12,685
Additions NE 6,103 6,103
Acquisition of a subsidiary W - B AR 17,586 17586
Disposals & (1,983) (1,983)
Amortisation provided F N
during the year (1,489) (1,489)
Exchange realignment M 3, o 2 2,565 2,565
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F
+-A=+t—8 35,467 35,467
At 31 December 2017: RZT—tF
+=ZA=+—8:
Cost (PN 1,641,509 1,641,509
Accumulated amortisation 2T EEERE
and impairment (1,606,042) (1,606,042)
Net carrying amount FEEE 35,467 35,467
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

15. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED

AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/AVAILABLE-
FOR-SALE FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

15. EEREBEQIFEFAEMEE
Ko EERE AIHHES
mRE

2018 2017
=BVl T+
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Equity investments designated EERZEAFETA
at fair value through other HttzmElEmzERmiRE
comprehensive income
Unlisted equity investments, JEEMEREE  EATE
at fair value
Changde Thin Film Solar BEERE KGR E R
Technology Co., Ltd. BR AT 59,064 -
Hezheng Mobile Energy RIERBREREHE (ER)
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. BRRAFA 2,852 -
Shenzhen Zhong Yi Xingye AT AR R R E B R A A
Investment Co., Ltd. 571 =
Shenzhen Tong Fu Shidai Trading I TRIEERESERA A
Co., Ltd. 571 =
63,058 s
Available-for-sale financial AHHEESMRE
investments
Unlisted equity investments, at cost  3F F EREE » A - 66,097

Equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income include investments in
equity shares of unlisted companies. The Group holds
non-controlling interests (between 0.04% and 8.4%)
in these companies. These investments were
irrevocably designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income as the Group considers these
investments to be strategic in nature. Since these
investees were still under the construction phase
without any operation since the Group has invested in,
their fair values approximated to their costs as at 31
December 2018 without any fair value changes being
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2018. All
the investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are denominated in RMB.

EERBAFEFAEMEZEKE 2 #
GEREBEFLTLAREZRE A
SERZSARKAFERES (N T
0.04%%8.4%) - HRAKERRZF
REBERIEE ZTRETATRD MK
BEERBRAVFEFAHLMEEKE - M
RZEWBRETBEAREELRENRK
DHEZRERRIELE WEQATE
BER—_FT-NF+-_A=+—BZK
AME BEREBE_ZT-N\F+-A
ST-BALFEYERIEMNDFEE
B-MBRAFEFAREMEERSEZ
REHUARKEEHE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

16. INVENTORIES 16. &

2018 2017

ZE—\F e

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Raw materials F 2,839,188 1,432,109
Photovoltaic modules S AR 48 15 142,426 370,251
Photovoltaic application products St IR FE FR EE 21,074 8,749

Photovoltaic power generation BrHEZHIREEIER

projects to be sold 118,359 195,905
3,121,047 2,007,014

Less: impairment provision O OB (362,395) (317,344)
2,758,652 1,689,670

The cost of inventories sold for the year ended 31 BE-_Z—-\EF+-_A=1+—HILEE -
December 2018 was HK$9,129,410,000 (2017: FE L E KA A9,129,410,0004 7T (=
HK$3,472,144,000). As at 31 December 2018, the T — 4 :3,472,144,0005 7T) c R =
provision for impairment of inventories was E-NE+-_A=Z+—H8" BHMARGEE
HK$362,395,000 (2017: HK$317,344,000) to write ZE0 2R FHE FTEREREAR
down the inventories to their net realisable value. 362,395,000 Tt (ZE—tF+ = A

=+—H : 317,344,000/ 7C) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES 17 EZREWRIE
2018 2017
—E— N\F RS
HK$000 HK$'000
FE T FE T
Trade receivables: B 5 R EIE ¢
— Due from Hanergy Affiliates — JEURE BB B A A - 2,283,175
— Due from third parties —EBWE=R 4,138,278 5,009,089
4,138,278 7292,264
Less: Impairment of amounts due Ji ¢ FEUWN SR = 5 FRIB R B
from third parties (203,401) (59,473)
3,934,877 7,232,791
Based on the invoice date, the ageing analysis of the REZZHH ANEEE S EKRRIER
Group's trade receivables and net of loss allowance is M EERE 2 RROTAOT
as follows:
2018 2017
TE-N\F e
HK$000 HK$'000
FE T FE T
Within 3 months 3ME A A 873,548 2,771,724
3 to 6 months 3Z61E A 15,817 111,839
6 months to 1 year 6fd A =14 1,694,231 735,433
More than 1 year HBiE1F 1,351,281 3,613,795

3,934,877 7,232,791
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 17. EZEWRIE®

The movements of the loss allowance for impairment
of trade receivables are as follows:

EHRYFAEZBENREREEZD
mr

2018 2017

—E—\F e

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FE T

At 1 January m—H—H 59,473 57,930
Impairment losses recognised (note 8) B R E & 18 (M7E8) 192,701 934
Reversal during the year (note 8) F RO (fEs) (54,168) (1,399)
Exchange realignment ME 5 3 2 5,395 2,008
At 31 December = H=0F—H 203,401 59,473

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31
December 2018

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. As at 31
December 2018, a credit loss of HK$203,401,000 was
recognised against the gross amount of trade
receivables.

Subsequent to 31 December 2018 and up to 29 March
2019 (the date when the financial statements were
approved for issuance), the Group has received a total
of HK$2,427602,000 from the turnkey production line
customers. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the expected credit loss rate for trade
receivables due from turnkey production line
customers whose trade receivables as of 31
December 2018 have been substantially collected was
immaterial. Details of the expected credit loss rates
are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BE_2-N\¥+-RA=1+t—HLHFE
BERMBREERFISRT 2RE

REBHABEBYHEREERIFIRATR]
AME L A B BB ELRE -
RITEEHEEEBE  BHEKFIER
ERBELREERREBREHRES
B -RZZE—NF+=-_A=+—HB" ' B
HESRKNABELAERREEBE
203,401,0007% T A B {5 -

RZZE-—NE+_A=+—HEKEZE
ZE-NEF=AZTNB (MBREREH
BETIEER)  ASEEREEAERT
F Ug B 48 %82,427,602,000/8 7T ° AN A A
EERE BRELAERRF (EHZE=Z
—NFE+-_A=+—RBzE5EWKKE
ERFBAWE) 285BI TBAE
EEBRXUATEXN -EHHEEBEN
TBEE R 4R & B 7% 2k I 536 o

257



258

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31
December 2017

Included in the above provision of trade receivables,
which was measured based on incurred credit losses
under HKAS 39, as at 31 December 2017 was a
provision for individually impaired trade receivables of
HK$59,473,000 with a carrying amount before
provision of HK$59,473,000.

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to
customers that were in financial difficulties or were in
default in principal payments and none of the
receivables is expected to be recovered.

The ageing analysis of the net trade receivables as at
31 December 2017 that were not individually nor
collectively considered to be impaired under HKAS 39
is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

Neither past due nor impaired
Less than 3 months past due
3 to 6 months past due

6 months to 1 year past due
More than 1 year past due

17. EZEWRIE®)
BE-Z—tH+-A=1+—HLEFE
BB ERHE395R T 2RE
iR —FE—+F+-_A=+—HzE%
S ERE (BB ST ERE395 T
REELEEEREAE)  HERRE
Z 5 e Wk TE 1E ) 2 # 1%859,473,0007%
70 + H B AT 2 BR T 8 £59,473,00075
7TE °
18 Bl 5 B Z 5 e U 7k 78 £ T o B B )
IR ASAENEFEH AEHE
Rt 4 e W R IB ] T U e o
R_E—+tF+-_A=+—HZ2E5F
WHIEFER T ERE BT . 539
N AR A 8 B i 3 2 R R E & 2 BR
BT -

2017
—F—+tF
HK$°000
FET

b 4 180 HA N R (B 2,013,826

#6053 > A31E A 797,308

w1 HA3 = 61E A 715,585

w1 HA6(E A =14 1,568,700

B EA BT 2,137,372

7,232,791

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
related to a large number of diversified customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
related to a number of independent customers that
had a good track record with the Group. Based on
past experience, the directors of the Company were
of the opinion that no provision for impairment under
HKAS 39 was necessary in respect of these balances
as there had not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances were still considered fully
recoverable.

3 530 S AL 2 FE B BEA B B
{CEPAM - &S0 R RS -

EBRERBEZERKRAALSL LB
EFEH BERNAKRE BRI -
BREAERR ARAREZRA/BAR
BB ST E R EI9 B % F AR TR
ERE RAAGEERYEEAEY
MmzEERDR AT 2HKE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE —

18. CONTRACT ASSETS/GROSS AMOUNT
DUE FROM CONTRACT CUSTOMERS

(i)

Contract assets

—NEFE+ZA=+—HLFE)

18. EEEE EUREREF A

(i)

BREE

31
December 1 January
2018 2018
—E-N\F
a=v-l — T — )\F
=+-—H —A—H
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FETT
Contract assets arising from: AEREBERE :
Construction contracts of turnkey BRELERIELRER
production lines 12,100,913 2,819,624
Impairment VERIE! - -
12,100,913 2,819,524

Contract assets are initially recognised for
revenue earned from the construction of turnkey
production lines for the manufacturing of thin-
film solar photovoltaic modules and construction
of a series of solar power stations for certain
small to medium-sized enterprises and poverty
alleviation projects as the receipt of
consideration is conditional on successful
completion of the construction work. Included in
contract assets for construction contracts are
retention receivables. Upon completion of the
construction and acceptance by the customer,
the amounts recognised as contract assets are
reclassified to trade receivables. The increase in
contract assets in 2018 was the result of the
increase in the ongoing delivery of construction
contracts at the end of the year.

Aﬂéﬁrmﬁ R s A AR
EEE ARG REY - AR/ D
FEH—RIKIGEe T IR
ﬁﬁazﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁwmw
= AAEEFERITRIEF RS
ﬁ%mﬁEOE“AHZAHQE
BIEEWRERIE - —BERTK
WEEFPRBK  REREERRZ
CREEEFTIEAEFEKK
B ARBERZZT—/\FHEN -
REBERBITHNERSRNRERE
F3g N o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

18. CONTRACT ASSETS/GROSS AMOUNT 18. AEEE FEBRAEBEF#HE

DUE FROM CONTRACT CUSTOMERS (45)
(continued)
(i) Contract assets (continued) iy BEBEE)
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, RARBEZEZERE GREEZEH
the expected credit loss rates for contract assets EEERREHEZ _T—\F+=
are the same as those trade receivables as of 31 A=+—HREAHZESHEKRK
December 2018 for the same types of contracts HBHEEEEZXERAET TS
and are minimal. Details of the expected credit X FBHEEFRERNFBHNES
loss rates are set out in note 36 to the BB ERMT5E36 ©
consolidated financial statements.
Management expects that the majority of the EEEES FAFEEHE_Z—/\
above disclosed contract assets as at 31 F+-_A=+—HZAREBEKXNI
December 2018 will be recovered or settled in DR T — N FWE sk 4EE o
2019.
(ii) Gross amount due from contract customers (i) EREREF#HAEE
2017
—E—tF
HK$'000
FET
At 1 January Ww—H—H 1,547,405
Contract costs incurred plus recognised B E 4 & RAA NS #R% T
profits less recognised losses BB TR R 18 5,366,670
Progress billings HEE IR E IR (4,708,435)
Exchange realignment PE 5 195,020
At 31 December R+-=—H=+—H 2,400,660




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

19. OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. HfthEEWKIA

2018 2017
Al — T tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Other receivables: H A fE W FR IR
— Due from Hanergy Holding — U BE I AR 664 194,879
— Due from Hanergy Affiliates —EYOE BB A A 6,375 4,210
— Due from third parties —EWE=H 4,107,076 1,262,590
4,114,115 1,461,679
Less: Impairment JE BB (12,139) (24,536)

4,101,976 1,437,143

The movements in provision for impairment of other
receivables are as follows:

HAd AR ERBHZEZMT -

2018 2017

TE)\F s

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FETT

At 1 January ®n—HA—H 24,536 22,923
Reversal (note 8) [ £ (Ff7E8) (11,684) =
Exchange realignment R (713) 1,613
At 31 December Nt+—_BA=+—H 12,139 24,536

The Group applies the general approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9. As at
31 December 2018, credit loss of HK$12,139,000
(2017: HK$24,536,000) was made against the gross
amount of other receivables. Details of the expected
credit loss rates are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

REEERA —BRA LB BT RS E
AIFI R TEMTEMEEHBEL RS -
R-ZE-NE+-_A=+—8 CHH
fhEKRRXREBERLEELEEERB
12,139,000 L (=& — £ & :
24,536,000/ 7T) - BHIEE BB X 27
RN ERA B 75 $RFRMI7E36 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ¥R AR Y RE

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z

20. BILLS RECEIVABLE

At 31 December 2018, certain subsidiaries of the
Group endorsed certain bills receivable accepted by
banks in Mainland China to certain suppliers in order
to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with
a carrying amount in aggregate of RMB290,799,000
(equivalent to HK$331,886,000) (2017:
RMB190,674,000 (equivalent to HK$228,103,000)).
Among these bills receivable, RMB170,877000
(equivalent to HK$195,020,000) (2017:
RMB176,037,000 (equivalent to HK$210,594,000)) of
the bills receivable have been derecognised (the
“Derecognised Bills”). The Derecognised Bills had a
maturity of 1 to 12 months at the end of the reporting
period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the
Derecognised Bills have a right of recourse against
the Group if the PRC banks default (the “Continuing
Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors, the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills.
Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying
amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated
trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss from
the Group’'s Continuing Involvement in the
Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash flows
to repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to
their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors,
the fair values of the Group's Continuing Involvement
in the Derecognised Bills are not significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
has not recognised any gain or loss on the date of
transfer of the Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses
were recognised from the Continuing Involvement,
both during the year or cumulatively. Besides, the
Group did not discount any bills receivable to the bank
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

20.

—N\NF+ZA=+—HIEFE)

BWEE

RZE-—N\FE+_A=+—H £A5H
%FWEQﬁW%F1$ﬁ*$E%¢
B A RITHEE R ZE T RKEE R

NERBERZSE ﬁﬁﬁm%%ﬁﬁm

IR 48 E A A R 290,799,000t (FHE
7331,886,0008 ) (=T —tF : AR
#190,674,0007T (8 & 7 228,103,000/
L)) cREEBERWKEBES BAR
#170,877,0007T (18 & $195,020,0007&
) (ZF—+F : AR¥176,037,0007T
(18 & 210,594,000 7T)) 2 E & & I
FIEE FPRIEER ((RIEBREE]) -
RBEHR REBREER—Z+=
BPAEIH BEFHZEE  WPBHZ
RITELD wﬁﬁmmWZ%ﬁA%ﬁ
HEASEENERE ([HEL2H] -

%mﬁ~$%l€%&%¢%%%ﬁﬁ

Eﬁz%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ/\ﬂﬁﬁ&@i& C BB BUH fE
RRIERARREZ2HREENBEREE

SENFE -AEEKESERFHER
FELBEOZEFRIERERZAMR
fﬁim%?éﬁéﬁi@z?ﬁﬂ RAEE RN E
FHE - EERR FAEEFE2ER
HHBERBRBEZATFELTEK -

BE_Z-/\F+-_A=t—HULFE"
AEEREZRIIERAREEA L ERE
RIEMEDZ RAFEARERFTES
éﬁiﬁéﬁﬁﬁi%aﬂ% BB - s B
BE_Z-/\Ft+=-A=1— EIJJ:Ef
ZK%IHE%F%E TIHREMERERE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

21. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 21. BERFANKIE

2018 2017

TE)\F et

Notes HK$000 HK$'000

Bt aE FET FET

Deposits e 137,272 69,405
Prepayments paid to: ENFURTALTZTERN

FIH

- Hanergy Affiliates —Z B B A A (i) 82,359 112,665

—Third parties —5=7 5,325,456 3,232,179

5,407,815 3,344,844

Less: impairment B A (44,697) (44,913)

5,500,390 3,369,336

Included in the above assets, HK$370,006,000 (2017:
HK$441,379,000) of the prepayments are aged over 1
year, whereas all the remaining deposits and
prepayments are aged less than 1 year. Details of the
expected loss rates used for deposits are set out in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Except for those prepayments already impaired and
prepayments paid to Hanergy Affiliates, assets
included in the above balance are related to
prepayments for certain uncompleted purchase
contracts.

FEEFABRERREBIFHN
370,006,000 L (= & — & &F :
441,379,000/ 7T) FEN 5KIB - KA
ReREMRBZRREDME - 2e
WEHEEBEBRENFBENGE MG
¥R IEEI6 ©

BRETRENENFBERE N EERS
REIMFANFIRN - LR AR EEN
ETEERETRERRBERNEN
HEEM -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

21. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Note:

(i)

The balances mainly represented the prepayments for
the purchase of photovoltaic (“PV") modules under the
master agreement signed with Hanergy Holding on 11
April 2012. The master agreement was effective for
three years from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2014.
During 2013, the Company's subsidiaries entered into
several PV module purchase subcontracts
(“Subcontracts”) with Hanergy Affiliates, nominees of
Hanergy Holding, to purchase PV modules with a total
capacity of 677.9 MW for construction of the
downstream photovoltaic power generation projects.
According to the terms of the Subcontracts,
approximately 50% of the total contract amounts have
been paid by the Company’'s subsidiaries on the
placement of the orders in 2013. As of 31 December
2013, a total of 58.5 MW PV modules have been
delivered by Hanergy Affiliates.

The delay of delivery of the PV modules was mainly
due to the production arrangement by Hanergy
Affiliates, which has caused the delay in the
construction of the photovoltaic power generation
projects by the Group. Accordingly, the Group reached
mutual agreement with Hanergy Affiliates to return the
prepayments of HK$1,262,629,000 before 31
December 2014 in relation to a total capacity of 459.4
MW PV modules and terminate these Subcontracts
simultaneously.

During 2014, the Company’s subsidiaries also entered
into several new PV module purchase Subcontracts
with Hanergy Affiliates to purchase PV modules with a
total capacity of 558 MW for construction of the
downstream photovoltaic power generation projects.
According to the terms of the Subcontracts,
approximately 50% of the total contract amounts have
been paid by the Company’'s subsidiaries on the
placement of the orders in 2014.

A total of 28.8 MW PV modules have been delivered
by Hanergy Affiliates in 2014. As of 31 December 2014,
there were a total capacity of 689.2 MW PV modules
have not been delivered by Hanergy Affiliates.

On 20 January 2015, the Company entered into a
supplemental agreement to the 150 MW PV modules
supply contract signed on 23 December 2013 with
Hanergy Holding on the settlement of prepayments
made in 2013 by offsetting this with the payables of
delivered PV modules under the 150MW PV modules
supply contract, and the original total capacity of 150
MW was reduced to 80.9 MW.

The Company and Hanergy Holding entered into a PV
module supply agreement on 30 April 2015 for
purchase of PV modules for the year ended 31
December 2015.

21.

RERENSRE®)

Bat

(i)

HEHRTEERBEN _Z——Fm1m A
+—BEFEREEREE A E B
AR (TRR]) BT 2B
HeAipan—_E——F—HF—H8=%
—E-ME+-A=+—H=F/E4%
M-MR—ZTE—ZF AREIZHBA
AIEEREEB AR ERETERZ KE
A 0 RIS Z 5 SR 4B 1 BB KT B 17
(THBimE]) - BLER T IREE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE —

21. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Note: (continued)

(i)

(continued)

During 2015,
aforementioned entered into several new Subcontracts

the Company’'s subsidiaries

with Hanergy Affiliates under the PV module supply
agreement to purchase PV modules with a total
capacity of 57.7 MW for construction of the
downstream photovoltaic power generation projects.
According to the terms of the Subcontracts,
approximately 50% of the total contract sum have
been paid by the Company’'s subsidiaries on the
placement of the orders in 2015.

PV modules with a total capacity of 315 MW had been
delivered by Hanergy Affiliates in the year 2015. As of
31 December 2015, PV modules with a total capacity
of 362.8 MW had not been delivered by Hanergy
Affiliates.

During 2016,
purchase orders with Hanergy Affiliates for PV modules

the Company signed certain new

with a total capacity of 1.2 MW. PV modules with a
total capacity of 136.0 MW had been delivered by
Hanergy Affiliates in 2016. As at 31 December 2016,PV
modules with a total capacity of 228.0 MW had not
been delivered by Hanergy Affiliates.

On 31 December 2017, the Group reached two mutual
agreements with Hanergy Affiliates. One was to return
the prepayments of HK$6,939,000 in relation to PV
modules with a total capacity of 1T0MW and to
terminate the Subcontract simultaneously. The other
was to net off the prepayments of HK$225,925,000
with trade payables in relation to the purchase of the
PV modules from Hanergy Affiliates before 31
December 2017 and the undelivered PV modules under
the Subcontracts would still be delivered in the future.

During 2017, the Company did not sign any new
purchase contracts with Hanergy Affiliates. A total
capacity of 64.6 MW PV modules had been delivered
by Hanergy Affiliates in 2017. As of 31 December 2017,
PV modules with a total capacity of 153.4 MW had not
been delivered by Hanergy Affiliates.

—NE+_A=+—BLLFE)

21. BERBENRE @)
Hit - (&)

(i)

(%)

R-ZT—RF AAFLMKHBEARF
RIS RAE B EE B R
AR ZMHNE HE  NWEERE
B B57. TMWHY L R4 1 - AR R
THXREBEE - REZSWEH
BT ARRZHBARER =
T-AFNEERINHERSEL
50% °

—HF  EEBBARE RN
B315MW 2 SR 1 - 1 =
+ ﬂ + E’ Hw

M#E‘/{ﬁﬁé%%z.wwz

wm

R== —ﬁi AR A BB A
RIEI N & THIRERTE - BE @Eﬁé
BI2MWZ X REHF - R =T —7
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136.0MW 2 (R 48 14 - f%:%—/\
+ZA=+—H EeaBMBAT MK
RS EREA $£228.0MW 2 R o
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[ £ % aE B B \ﬂtfﬂzﬁﬁmﬁﬁ%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE —

21. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Note: (continued)

(i)

(continued)

On 26 March 2018, the Company reached a mutual
agreement (“Settlement Agreement”) with Hanergy
Holding. Pursuant to the agreement, the parties
mutually agreed that if Hanergy Affiliates could not
deliver the PV modules to the Group before 31
December 2018, Hanergy Affiliates are not entitled to
call for repayment of the trade payables and other
payables to the extent of the other receivables due
from Hanergy Affiliates and prepayments made to
Hanergy Affiliates that are outstanding before 31
December 2018.

During 2018, the Company did not sign any new
purchase contracts with Hanergy Affiliates. PV modules
with a total capacity of 35.7 MW have been delivered
by Hanergy Affiliates in this year. As of 31 December
2018, PV modules with a total capacity of 117.7 MW
have not been delivered by Hanergy Affiliates.

On 28 March 2019,
supplementary agreement with Hanergy Holding.
Pursuant to the agreement, the parties mutually agreed
to extend the Settlement Agreement to before 31
December 2019.

the Company reached a

—NE+_A=+—BLLFE)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

RESTRICTED CASH

&

. BERBESSBEYRZIRFR

2018 2017

—g— 5 [N

HK$000 HK$°'000

FET FET

Cash and bank balances WERBTER 359,049 2,496,760
Restricted cash PR 3R & 64,678 144,340
Less: Restricted cash Ji R FIIR & (64,678) (144,340)
Cash and cash equivalents HeRESZEY 359,049 2,496,760

The breakdown of cash and cash equivalents and

restricted cash by denominated currency is as follow:

RAEEBEASZHERREEEBYR

REHIRE 2 AAWT

2018 2017
ZE—\F e
(HK$ equivalent) HK$’000 HK$'000
(BLEE) FET FHET
Cash and bank balances TR EEEEZ
denominated in: He RIBTHET
RMB ARE 238,834 2,329,179
Us$ ETT 65,734 112,903
HK$ BT 23,353 11,591
EUR BX T 31,109 28,035
Others H b 19 15,052
Total Pk 359,049 2,496,760
Restricted cash denominated in: ATRAEEAEZZRFIRE :
RMB AR 46,275 140,236
uss E7T 18,403 4,104
Total PR 64,678 144,340
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE —

22.

23.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
RESTRICTED CASH (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents and the restricted cash of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to HK$285,109,000
(2017: HK$2,469,415,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks that are authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day to three
months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances and restricted cash are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

—NEFE+ZA=+—HLFE)

2 BERBEESEEYRIREIE

cAC )

RBEBHR KEBUAARE BEN
2HReMBeSEYRIBHRS
£285,109,0008 T (=& — + % :
2469415000/a75) AREAT AR
RBAEEME . %ﬁﬁ 1B 4% AP B A i
ZHNEEH G REEEERTE A&
z%%tt&‘;éi@ﬁ&%%_ﬁ@\\E%%Zﬁﬁ

THARBHARHMER -

RITRERESARITERMEHE L
FERERAE - MHERERZERY
M—BAE=EALET RIEAKEZD
B HKME I&RL% 217 3K
BERBEBAME - RITEFLRIRFERS
FHREBRFEE R R R
i

23. BEEREEEMNR

2017
—E—F
HK$'000
FHEIT
Trade and bills payables due to: FEH:'T'L/(TAiZTéf%&ET‘%TJ?
JE 5 3018
— Related parties — R }\i 184,654 268,708
— Third parties —F£=75 4,987,416 1,469,168
5,172,070 1,737,876

Based on the invoice date, the ageing analysis of the
Group's trade and bills payables is as follows:

RERZRHY AEEEFREREN
RIBZ BT

2018 2017

—2—\F EEa

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

0 — 30 days 0—30K 215,714 583,185
31 - 60 days 31—60X 40,302 102,969
61 — 90 days 61—90X 196,211 51,916
Over 90 days 90K A E 4,719,843 999,806
5,172,070 1,737,876

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and the
credit terms are normally 60 days.

ZHRMNRBLTHE - —REBHER
ABOK °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

24, HttENRERESER

2017

ZE—tF

Notes HK$°000
iokza FET

Deposits e 5,000 5,970

Other payables due to: JERFUAT AL 2 EA

FEA FRIA
— Hanergy Holding —EREIE A% (i) 3,935 5,115
— Hanergy Affiliates -2 NG (ii) 118,047 128,748
— Third parties =5=7% (iii) 2,951,016 1,334,288

Sub-total NER 3,072,998 1,468,151

Accruals JEETE R (iv) 490,756 316,419

Provision for warranties RERE (v) 390,263 43,174

Advances from customers BB (vi) - 5,239,848

3,959,017 7.073,562

Notes: B

(il ~ The payables to Hanergy Holding represent the ) EESEERZ FIEIREREERMAE
advances from Hanergy Holding to the Group for the SEEAMMNFPAEBR Z2BNRIE %%
purpose of daily operation. The balances are ERREHT  RERNEREHEN
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i) The balance mainly included the amount of iy FEHRPEEBMBARGLEEEER
HK$82,871,000 (2017: HK$79,914,000) from Hanergy B 7N &£ B 2 T8 5 70I882,871,000
Affiliates to the Group for the purpose of daily operation, BT (ZE— L F:79,914,000/%8
and the balance of HK$35,176,000 (2017: HK$48,834,000) ) R HABEER  BRAGH-
payable to Sichuan Hanergy Photovoltaic Limited IS RETIES A REFHERR
(“Sichuan Hanergy"”), Hanergy Holding's affiliate, relating &~ MR R 3R 5 S5 TR R e IR 2 B
to the rental of a production line, office premises, factory NAEIEEEXRKERAR ([E)I]E
premises and staff dormitory, and the usage of relevant 8% 1) FE 1 2 $2 3X35,176,000% 7T (=
equipment, material and facilities, etc. The above T — 4 : 48,834,000/ 7t) o Lt
balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on LSRR - R B RRNESKEFER ©
demand.

(i)  The balance due to third parties mainly consisted of (i) BENE=F2&EHBRETEBRTERE TIHKF
value added tax payables amounting to o E R 2 B 1E{EFi2,375,233,000/8
HK$2,375,233,000 (2017: HK$899,549,000) and 7T (ZZF — 5 : 899,549,000/ JT)
reputation deposit amounting to HK$197,831,000 (2017: N2 E 1 $197,831,0008 T (=&
HK$213,533,000) collected from downstream —+ % :213,533,000/87T) °
distributors.

(ivi  The balance included an amount of HK$92,654,000 (iv) % & 815 A $092,654,000%8 T (= F

(2017: HK$20,056,000) which represented the
maximum expense which the Group would be charged
on certain current lawsuits.

—+ % : 20,056,000/ 7T) BN EE
RETHREFABINNZAME
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(v)

(vi)

Provision for warranties

24, EtENRERESER#)

Bz« (&)

(v)

RERE

Product warranties

EmRE

PAONE:] 2017

PN -+

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FrETT

Beginning balance (as previously reported) 4E#]4 & (M0 5C AT 2 3R) 43,174 26,762
Adjustment from adoption of HKFRS 15 HRNE BB %R %8

(note 2.2) 1557 1% 2 A (fiisr2.2) 118,850 -

Beginning balance (restated) FA ek (=) 162,024 26,762

Provided during the year (note 8) FRNEAE (HTEE8) 261,609 38,468

Amounts utilised during the year FRNFTASE (14,406) (24,454)

Exchange realignment PE 5, A & (18,964) 2,398

At 31 December R+—_A=+—8H 390,263 43,174

The Group provides assurance type warranties to its
customers on the turnkey production lines during the
warranty period of one to two years as specified in the
contracts. The Group provides three to ten years’
warranties to its customers on certain of its
photovoltaic modules, inverter and rooftop power
stations, for general repairs of defects occurring during
the warranty period. The amount of the provision for
warranties is estimated based on sales volumes and
past experience of the level of repairs and returns. The
estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and
revised where appropriate.

Advances from customers represent receipts from the
Group’s turnkey production line construction contract
customers and downstream distributors. The opening
balance as at 1 January 2018 of HK$5,239,848,000 has
been reclassified to contract liabilities as detailed in
note 2.2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save for those disclosed above, other payables and

BR Lt 3 E b

AEERERTAN —EMFREY
NAEEFIREBELEESRZRER
B AKEBETHRAMF  BR2
FERBHAEEFPREE=ZE+FR
B REHALRZBREET R
HE - RERBZEBEDNREEER
BEBELEEKF 2 RHRBELE -
EEFEETNERRS - LEFEERR
DS

EPENFEASREEEELERE
REFREP R TNHEHEZBK - B
AR & B SRR FE2. 2P 5 - PO =
ZE-NF-HA-—BZEIHER
5,239,848,0008 TEEHM N HEE S
F&E -

HEtENRAKETE

accruals are non-interest-bearing and normally have no

fixed term of settlement.

RARTEE UEREEEEHR -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. SREAE

31 December 1 January
2018 2018
—E-N\EF —E-)\F
+=B=+-—H —H—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET

Short-term advances received from % /=2 B8 (15

customers
Construction contracts of turnkey BEAXERKZEHREE

production lines 2,286,927 4,257707
Downstream distributors TR A SE R R E A

and others 906,077 982,141
Total contract liabilities SRIABEHASE 3,193,004 5,239,848
Contlract liabilities inc’Iude short-term a‘dvan-ces receivedl in ARAEEERACEBRELELESD
relation to the Group’s turnkey production line construction AREE R T &5 e Uy B > 55 5

contract customers and downstream distributor sales. The
decrease in contract liabilities in 2018 was mainly due to the

AR - N\FERAEBERI I

= =S = , S 27
satisfaction of a performance obligation to recognise as PHRTERBET -BREOEMT LHER
revenue arising from these contract liabilities. BZEARABMEENBGETE
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26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 &= =T —NF+-_A=+—HILFE)

26. RITREAMWHEERK

BORROWINGS
31 December 2018 31 December 2017
“E-N\EtZA=1-H “E-+#+-fA=1-H
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$000 rate (%) Maturity HK$:000
Notes EHEE BRE%
i3 (%) HHA A7 (%) 35 FiET
Current; e
Bank loans - guaranteed and secured ~ H{TEH—EER (a) 8.7 2019 52,499 8.7 2018 55,030
REEA
Interest-bearing other horrowings: il 8 :
Athird party - unsecured F=H-BER - - - 5 2018 2,345
A third party - unsecured F=H-BER 2019 97904 - - -
A third party - unsecured F=H—BER 22 2019 28,532 - - -
Related parties - unsecured BEAL-EHA - - - 56 2018 2,205
Related parties - unsecured BRAL-EHA 3 2019 548 3 2018 11,647
Current portion of long term borrowings: R &5 2 7 :
Bank loans - secured BET-HER (b) 5% above 2019 3,424 5% above 2018 5,982
PBOC PBOC
benchmark benchmark
lending rate lending rate
AIEEER MTREER
F% £ 5% H% Ei¥o%
Interest-bearing other borrowings: EiHaE:
A third party - secured E=h-BER (c) 10 2019 12,930 10 2018 12,898
Related parties - unsecured ERAL—EHA - - - 3 2018 78,015
Related parties - unsecured BRAL—EHA - - - 3 2018 292,361
Related parties - unsecured BEAL-EHA - - - 3 2018 137107
Total Al 195,837 597610
Non-current; EE) R
Bank loans - secured REN-HER (b) 5% above 2020-2029 97466 B%above 20192029 103,360
PBOC PBOC
benchmark benchmark
lending rate lending rate
MTREER MTEEER
Hl £i%5% f% %6%
Interest-bearing other borrowings: Nt
Related parties - unsecured EEAT-EER - - - 3 2020 1,954
AThird party - secured B=H-BER (o 0 2020-2021 21,428 10 2021 34,87
AThird party - quaranteed FZh-BER (0) PBOC 2022 342,388 PBOC 2022 358,890
benchmark benchmark
lending rate lending rate
ATEEER MTREER
fi% flZ
Third parties - unsecured E=h—EER - - - 2 2024 29,907
Third parties - unsecured F=H-BER (e) 23 2023 29,674 - - -
490,956 528,398
Tota Bit 686,793 1,126,008




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

it 35 HR R M A

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26.

BORROWINGS (continued)

RITREMKER/R 2

2018 2017
—E-)N\F el
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Analysed into: DT A
Bank loans and overdrafts EFRTEEREY :
repayable:
Within one year or on demand —FRNRIRERKER 55,923 61,012
In the second year FE-_FR 7990 5,981
In the third to fifth years, FEZEFRFNAN
inclusive (EEMEBEEN) 27,392 11,963
Beyond five years Bid R F 62,084 85,416
153,389 164,372
Other borrowings repayable: E b RSB 3R
Within one year —F R 139,914 536,598
In the second year E_FRN 14,713 -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FFRFNRN
(EEMEBEEN) 349,103 395,131
Beyond five years BBAF 29,674 29,907
533,404 961,636
Total EEr 686,793 1,126,008
Notes: Hiat -

(@)  The bank borrowings are secured by property, plant

and equipment with a net book value before
impairment of RMB6,762,000 (equivalent to
HK$7,718,000) held by Apollo Fujian, and guaranteed by
Hanergy Holding. The loans were borrowed in August

and September 2018 to repay the matured loan of

RMB42,000,000 and RMB4,000,000.

(a) SRITERHEERARGAEARERNR
R E A A R%6,762,0005T (FHE K
7,718,000 7T) 2 M « W E K& #
Pk 3RI ZRE IR IR IE IR - ZFE XK
REZZ—N\FNARNAELHINESE
B H B R A R #42,000,0007T X AR
#4,000,0007T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

The bank borrowings are secured by the electricity
income right of the solar power station which belongs
to Guangzhou Qiguang Ltd., a subsidiary of the
Company.

The balances are borrowings from Utica Leaseco LLC.,
with the principal of US$6,600,000. The borrowings
covered a period of 51 months and are secured by the
pledged property, plant and equipment of Alta Devices
Inc. with a net book value before impairment of
US$1,102,000 (equivalent to HK$8,634,000).

The balance is a borrowing from a third party company
and is guaranteed by Hanergy Holding.

The balance is a 5-year long term entrusted loans from
unrelated third party company which are repayable
within two years after maturity.

As of 31 December 2018, the interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings are mainly denominated in RMB, US$
and HK$ with the amount of RMB485,400,000
(equivalent to HK$553,984,000), US$7,246,000
(equivalent to HK$56,759,000) and HK$76,050,000,
respectively.

26. SRITREMH BER 2

Hiat (&

(b)

(c)

(e)

(f)

RITERABRARR ZHBREE
B KIGRERH B R A Bl 2 K5 Bk
BBIHEBWARERER -

% AR A K BUtica Leaseco LLC.AK
% %8 46,600,000 7T 2 fE 3K © 18 50K
Z2HMEA1MEA - L HEAlIta
Devices Inc. BRI R M FE A
1,102,000% 7T (18 & 78,634,000/
TO) ZBEFYE - RE KR EME
o

ZEBRRBBE=FRRZER AL
HZ BEFE AR AR o

ZERBKEERBE=TRAIZE
HEEER  RBARF  AREIHE
M EFNE ©

RZE—NFE+-_A=+—8 " R1T
MEMHEERETBEUAARE =T
BT E cBHIHNAARE
485,400,0007T (48 & 7 553,984,000
#WIT) ~ 7,246,000 T (B E R
56,759,000/ 7T ) % 76,050,0007% 7T °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

27. DEFERRED TAX 27.

The components of deferred tax (liabilities)/assets
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the movements during the year are as

IESE IR

FANGEMBRRKRERNELTH IR
(BfE) BENERRESHNT

follows:
Recognition of
differences on
revenue of
construction Provision ~ Withholding
contracts for warranties tax Total
BRERER
WAEE RERE BN A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FHET FET
1 January 2017 —E—+tF-A—H = = (401,220) (401,220)
Deferred tax charged to profitor FRREZBHKE 2

loss during the year BB (129,014) - 51,411 (77603)
Exchange realignment I X 5 (4,840) - 5,615 775
At 31 December 2017 and RZZE—tF+=A

1 January 2018 =t-HR-E-N\F

—H—H (133,854) (344,194) (478,048)
Adjustment from adoption of RNBEEN B REENE

HKFRS 15 (note 2.2) 155 < B (f552.2) (131,685) - - (131,685)

At 1 January 2018 (restated) R=ZZE—-\E—A—H
(s&3) (265,539) - (344,194) (609,733)
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to RExF (1), FtAZ

profit or loss R B (452,253) 31,960 (576,177) (996,470)
Deferred tax charged to profit or R ARNEE TR & &

loss in relation to prior years g FHATEETSH

distributable profits, due to the K& Z Rz Mk

change of withholding tax rate BRI

in the current year - = (344,194) (344,194)
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to AR BT (%)t

profit or loss during the year AZ BRI A (Ff359)

(note 9) (452,253) 31,960 (920,371) (1,340,664)
Exchange realignment BE 5 R 16,239 (1,150) (9,144) 5,945
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-NFE+ZA

=+—"H (701,553) 30,810 (1,273,709) (1,944,452)
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27. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

27. EEFIE &)

Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of
financial position:

B AM BN RO

2018 2017
ZE—N\F S
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net deferred tax assets recognised in RERE AR R FER
the consolidated statement of financial FIRIETI IR B &=
position 30,810 =
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in KR B SRR R IR
the consolidated statement of financial FIREHIBEE
position (1,975,262) (478,048)
(1,044,452)  (478,048)

The Group has tax losses of HK$8,501,863,000 (2017:
HK$6,990,988,000) that are available for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose, subject to the rules of the tax
jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of
HK$8,501,863,000 (2017: HK$6,990,988,000) as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making
for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised.

Among the unrecognised tax losses, HK$8,501,863,000
(2017: HK$6,990,988,000) will expire at various dates
from 2019 to 2023 (2017: 2018 to 2022), if unused.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised on the
Group's deductible temporary differences of
HK$9,968,969,000 as of 31 December 2018 (2017:
HK$10,158,252,000) as it is not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised in the
foreseeable future.

RNE&EE 2 75 /E5188,501,863,00058 7T (=
T —+ 4 : 6,990,988,000/% jr) A B A
SEKEMERBIEER 2B 2R
BT AUREHEEEEE ZARZRNE
ERT N AR ZEBEREBE—
BREMZNBRARMES  UHKRAT
A BE A FERR T i FI) ] FE G SH AR IS 518 -
B 4 B 5%8,501,863,000/8 T (= &
—+ 4 : 6,990,988,000/8 7T ) #E R IE T
MBEE -

RNERR 2 HIEEESF - F£8,501,863,000
Bt (ZZ —+4F : 6,990,988,000/%8 7T.)
WABH ABR=ZFT—NLEE=ZF
Z=F(ZE—tF  ZE-N\FE=Z
ZZF)Em e

HRRAER R AR A A BRI &
MABAEREZE TERAEER =
S NFE+-_A=t+—B 2GR
7= 589,968,969,000/8 7T (=& — & :
10,158,252,000/% 7T ) fERIEE R IHE E ©
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(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. A
(a) Shares (a) M
2018 2017
TE)\F el
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Authorised: SETE
64,000,000,000 (2017: 64,000,000,0004%
64,000,000,000) ordinary shares (ZZE—+t4%F:
of HK$0.0025 each 64,000,000,0004%)
FRME0.0025/ T
2B 160,000 160,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR
42,145,676,000 (2017: 42,145,676,000/%
42,145,676,000) ordinary shares (ZZE—tF:
of HK$0.0025 each 42,145,676,0000% )
FAEMEE0.0025/ 7T
2B 105,364 105,364
A summary of movements in the Company's share KATFRARESH 2 BN

capital is as follows:

Number of Share
shares in issue Issued capital ~ premium account Total
BETRNOEE BETRA R EER g
000 shares HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i AT i AT
At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 R=B-R"E+-A=t—-HR
Z3t5-5-H 41,859,051 104,647 11,244,621 11,349,268
Exercise of share options EERE
- Other Option Il - AR 286,625 77 70,940 71,657
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+E+ZA=1-H 42,145,676 105,364 11,315,561 11,420,925

Number of Share
shares in issue Issued capital  premium account Total

BROKRALA BRTRA R RER aE
000 shares HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
& FAT FET FET

At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018~ RZE—+E+-F=T-HEK
—E-\5-H-H 42,145,676 105,364 11,315,561 11,420,925

At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E+-A=t-H 42,145,676 105,364 11,315,561 11,420,925
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

Subscription rights

On 20 May 2010, Apollo Fujian, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
Hanergy Holding entered into a sales contract
(the “2010 Sales Contract”) pursuant to which
Apollo Fujian agreed to sell, and Hanergy Holding
agreed to purchase the turnkey equipment, tools
and machinery of the solar PV module production
system with annual production capacity of 3,000
MW to be delivered in three batches for a total
contract sum of US$2.55 billion. On the same
date, the Company entered into a subscription
(the “2010 Subscription
Agreement”) with Hanergy Holding. According
to the 2010 Subscription Agreement, subject to

agreement

the fulfilment or waiver of the conditions set out
in the 2010 Subscription Agreement, Hanergy
Holding is entitled to subscribe for an aggregate
of 4,911,528,960 shares of the Company, in
three tranches, namely the first batch of
1,964,611,584 shares, the second batch of
1,473,458,688 shares and the third batch of
1,473,458,688 shares. The subscription price is
HK$0.239 per share. Pursuant to the supplement
entered into on 18 September 2011, the exercise
price for the second batch and the third tranche
of the 2010 Subscription Agreement was revised
to HK$0.12 per share and HK$0.1 per share,
respectively. The exercise period of the 2010
Subscription Agreement was in the following
manner:

—N\NF+ZA=+—HIEFE)

RZE-—ZTFRAA-1TH BEH
G (ARBcHEEZENBAR) &

EREEBRFTVHEAR (=8 —

FHEAE)) - Bt BRABER
B & Wz e IHxEHME%)\EF
48 B2 /33,000MW,2 A 15 8 > R 48
HEERGZBER 1% I,E:)SHA%
B D =R TR

255(8% 7T c RE B $ Téﬁi/%ab
ZREIRERE (22 —FFER
BiHRl) BRE-Z-—ZFREH
Z AT TERBEBEAHKG
HEKRSERE EREREED
=R A $£4,911,528 960X AN A &)
Bt o BDEE —Ht1,964,611,6848% « &5
:%tm,473,458,6881&&%’5%&
1,473,458,688% - RIBE £ EF R
0.239B L - RBER_Z——FNA
TNBA 2R HH —E—F
FREMEZE-_MEE=ZH 2T
FEDREFT ABER0.127%E T R F%
01T —E—T &3

BB R 21T
EHMT
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(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

28. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b) Subscription rights (continued)

Exercise periods

28. BA&(#)
(b) REBHEE)
Number of
rights
TEH RIBERE

On the third business day after the
payment by Hanergy Holding in
respect of the 2010 Sales Contract
received by Apollo Fujian to be not
less than HK$3.3 billion

On the third business day after i) the
payment by Hanergy Holding in
respect of the 2010 Sales Contract
received by Apollo Fujian to be not
less than HK$5 billion and ii) the
down payment of not less than 8%
of the consideration of the second
batch production lines in respect of
the 2010 Sales Contract, or upon
Hanergy Holding having given an
irrevocable undertaking to pay
within 24 months from the date to
complete such batch

On the third business day after i) the
payment by Hanergy Holding in
respect of the 2010 Sales Contract
received by Fujian Apollo to be not
less than HK$6 billion and ii) the
down payment of not less than 8%
of the consideration of the third
batch production lines in respect of
the 2010 Sales Contract, or upon
Hanergy Holding having given an
irrevocable undertaking to pay
within 24 months from the date to
complete such batch

BEABKIEEERA T —F
FHEARNTLNIBEET
‘E=—EEXH

1,964,611,584

BEABKEEEERNA T —
ZEHESR N TR0 B8

T Ri) T -—EFHEERX
RTAPRE_HEERKES%Z

FTRESBNES AR EEER

AN BT R R PR AR HE SE A B

HifE524 (8 A A RIERSE

=EE%H

1,473,458,688

wBEABKEZREERL_F—F

FHEARZMN TR0 FET:

Ki) i —E—EFHEARM
PORE=HEERKEE%ZK

BERBENES » KNEEERT

A 3000 it 7R 1R TR A& L SE AKX B ED

HEit24 EA A NZRERE=

(El=ES=

1,473,458,688

4,911,528,960
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

Subscription rights (continued)

On 18 September 2011,
Hanergy Holding entered into a sales contract

Apollo Fujian and

(the “2011 Sales Contract”) in relation to, among
others, the sale of the turnkey equipment, tools
and machinery of the solar PV module production
system with annual production capacity of 7000
MW to be delivered in three batches and the
provisions of the technical and engineering
support, training services and the grant of a
software licence in relation to the equipment by
Apollo Fujian to Hanergy Holding, for an
aggregate consideration of US$5.95 billion. On
the same date, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement (the “2011 Subscription
Agreement”) with Hanergy Holding. According
to the 2011 Subscription Agreement, subject to
the fulfilment or waiver of the conditions set out
in the 2011 Subscription Agreement, Hanergy
Holding is entitled to subscribe for, in three
tranches, an aggregate of 18,000,000,000 shares
of the Company at the subscription price of
HK$0.1 per share. The exercise period of the
2011 Subscription Agreement was in the
following manner:

—N\NF+ZA=+—HIEFE)

28. BRA& (&)
(b) FREARE (&)
R-F——FNLA+N\B REHA
BEEEERAIVHEEAR (=%

——EHESRA] RAEB (H
RERE)HEFEBEERS
7,000MW. 2 K 5 86 5 (R 48 1 A& B
AB v EEREB TARKSE &
D =BT A RBEAR R ERE
ERIBHABERE CRMTRIES
ERRT - 559 AR 7 R X B A5
R EAELIGEEXT KA
B - AR R)EE R ET SRR
Z(=Z2——SRBHRE]) - BE
2 FREwE 2% ——
FREGEMBGHERNIER
B ORREEBRARS HBREAL
18,000,000,0000% A& 2~ & i 10+ R
ﬁ%fﬁﬁuﬂxmﬁ%no T——F
REBEMBEEZTERNT :
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b) Subscription rights (continued)

28. BA&(#)
(b) REBHEE)
Number of
rights
11 RIBERE

Exercise periods 1TEHA

Within one year after the cumulative
consideration in respect of the 2011
Sales Contract received by Fujian
Apollo to be not less than
HK$1,800,000,000

Within one year after the cumulative
consideration in respect of the 2011
Sales Contract received by Fujian
Apollo to be not less than
HK$3,600,000,000

Within one year after the cumulative
consideration in respect of the 2011
Sales Contract received by Fujian

BENBGRE T ——FHESR
Z R2EFRETL121,800,000,000
BILE—FRN

6,000,000,000

BEABKI —E——FHESR
<2 2T R{E 2 143,600,000,000
BILE—FNR

6,000,000,000

BEABKI —E——FEHES R
<2 2T {ET2146,300,000,000
BILE—FN

Apollo to be not less than
HK$6,300,000,000

6,000,000,000

18,000,000,000

On 28 September 2011, the Company and
Hanergy Holding entered into a subscription
agreement (“Incentive Agreement”), pursuant
to which Hanergy Holding is entitled to subscribe
for 3 billion shares of the Company at the
subscription price of HK$0.10 per share, upon
the fulfilment of the conditions precedent under
the Incentive Agreement, and among others, the
completion of subscription for all three batches
of the 2011 Subscription Agreement by 31
October 2013. On 31 October 2013, the
Company and Hanergy Holding entered into a
supplemental agreement to extend the expiry
date from 31 October 2013 to 31 October 2014.

R-ZZE——&EHA-+/\B AR
A EEREIERET L R E T ([ B
WE) B FREBE TR
G (HhBER-_Z—Z=ZF1A
Zt+-BARK-ZT——5REH
BLMAZHRE) EXKIE R
TRBEETRI0B L REE
REERARARND -R=F
—=ZF+A=+—H ' KAAAEZ
BerERET A - U EIEA
BT =F+A=+—HERZE
—E-MNFETA=T—RHo
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

Subscription rights (continued)

On 28 December 2012, the ordinary resolution
approving the Whitewash Waiver was duly
passed by the independent shareholders of the
Company. From that date, all the pre-conditions
of the 2010 Subscription Agreement and 2011
Subscription Agreement have been substantially
met except obtaining by the Company of the
written consent from all the bondholders of the
convertible bonds to waive any adjustment to the
conversion price pursuant to the provisions of the
convertible bonds issued in 2009 (the
"Convertible Bonds") caused by the transactions
contemplated under the 2010 Subscription
Agreement and 2011 Subscription Agreement (the
“Convertible Bondholders’ Waiver").

On 27 February 2013, pursuant to the obtaining
of the Convertible Bondholders' Waiver and the
cumulative payment received by Apollo Fujian
over HK$3.3 billion and HK$1.8 billion in respect
of the 2010 Sales Contract and the 2011 Sales
Contract, respectively, the Company completed
the issue and allotment of the first tranche
subscription of 1,964,611,584 shares of the 2010
Subscription Agreement and the first tranche
subscription of 6,000,000,000 shares of the 2011
Subscription Agreement in respect of the 2010
sales contract and the 2011 sales contract,
respectively to Hanergy Investment, a company
wholly-owned by Hanergy Affiliates, at the
subscription prices of HK$0.239 per share and
HK$0.1 per share, respectively.

On 24 September 2013, pursuant to the
obtaining of the Convertible Bondholders’ Waiver
and the cumulative payment received by Apollo
Fujian over HK$3.6 billion in respect of the 2011
Sales Contract, the second batch of the
6,000,000,000 shares of the 2011 Subscription
Agreement was issued and allotted to Hanergy
Investment, at the subscription price of HK$0.1
per share.

28. BRA& (&)

(b)

AR (E)

W_ZE——F+-_A-+/\H #
ERAERE L EBARREEALRAR
ABYBRREA BB RAEAE "
R TERBEHRER =T ——F
REBZE 2B TREHE R L
B EARRMZZTENFEH
T ABRRES ([TRRES])
EEFRFBANGEHRHRE R
ARE-—ZT—ZEREHER_-F
—— FRBHBEET IR HER
RIBETRRES 2 G HIREE
B E TR ([T ESHF
BARR] -

RZZE—=F"A=+tH BE
MERBRESFFAEARE UK
BEMAGR T —ZTFHESRR
—E——FHEEEREI KB R
A RBBEIBEE T RISEB T - &
ARAPRH-—_E—ZBEHEARK
T —FHEARTEKD AIERR
i (B 5 R0.2397% ;T K T iR0.148 7T
MERBBARZERE 2R A
Hanergy Investment1T K g 2 —
T-ZEREMZETIE —HRE
1,964,611,684 & h =T ——
FREHZETNE —HRE
6,000,000,0008% A% {5 °

RZZE—=ZFAA=-+WH " RE
BMETRERESHBARE AR
BEABHR - —FHEARNK
HEFANRTDRIGERBT  =F
——FRBWHEE M
6,000,000,000% Iz 0 E 12 R HE B
%0178 7T % 17 K BL 3 T Hanergy
Investment °
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

Subscription rights (continued)

On 2 September 2014, pursuant to the obtaining
of the Convertible Bondholders’" Waiver and the
cumulative payment received by Apollo Fujian
over HK$6.3 billion in respect of the 2011 Sales
Contract, the third batch of the 6,000,000,000
shares of the 2011 Subscription Agreement was
issued and allotted to Hanergy Investment, at the
subscription price of HK$0.1 per share. Upon the
completion for all three batches of the 2011
Subscription Agreement, 3,000,000,000 shares
of the Incentive Agreement were issued and
allotted to Hanergy Investment, at the
subscription price of HK$0.1 per share.

The following table summarises the subscription
right transactions during the year:

28. A& (&)

(b)

AR (E)

RZE—NFNLA=H AEEA
BRRESFHAARE - N LEEH
BT ——FHESRKIZZ
STEBBES T —F— —F
R % T % =16,000,000,000
B R 0 B =R BE B T R0.178 T 8
TREETEERE - TH_-F
—— FREHBEAZ L =K - 2
) 1% & T 23,000,000,0008% f% 1%
EERBESRIB TETRE

BT ERKRE -

TRERFRETZ ABERS

Weighted
Subscription average
rights exercise
outstanding price
RITE ik B
BB THEE
‘000 HK$
T BT
Outstanding at 31 December 2016 R-E—RFE+-_F=+—8K
and 1 January 2017 —E—+F-A-BHKIRE 2,946,917 0.11
Outstanding at 31 December 2017 RZE—+tF+-_A=1t—"HBHR
and 1 January 2018 —E-N\F-A-BHKTRE 2,946,917 0.11
Outstanding at 31 December 2018 RZZE—NF+-_A=+—H
W ARITE 2,946,917 0.11
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29. SHARE OPTIONS

(a)

Share option scheme

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 28 August
2007, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”) relating to the grant of
share options to directors, employees and other
participants (the
consultants, advisers, suppliers and customers

“Grantee”) including

of the Group.

The directors may specify the minimum period, if
any, for which an option must be held or the
performance targets, if any, that must be
achieved by the Grantee before the option can
be exercised.

Share options may be granted without any initial
payment and at an exercise price (subject to
adjustments as provided therein) equal to the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares; (ii)
the closing price per share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of
the grant of the share option; and (iii) the
average of the closing prices per share as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of the grant of the share option.

The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company shall not
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company
in issue on 28 August 2007 the date of adoption
of the Scheme, unless a refresh approval of the
shareholders is obtained.

29. BB

(a)

BB

BRER-_FZELFENA-TN\HAE
BZRFBR  ARBARA—BEEKR
e (28 AAEEZE
£ EEREMBEE (ERAL
BREER  #AA #HEARER)
BB -

EENERTRREANETRAIL
ARBcRERY () HAKA
BRERZERBEBR(MMA)

8 B 4 A] BB 7R SR ) 28 SRR T
B TEE A REFREZS
ABB)EERTI=ZFPZER
(B <EE: ()ROREBR
BROEREMIMEERERA
Az SRR E ¢ (i) B D B %
BRERLE QA REE XA R
RAEEREXRML BB HK
mE -

AITERBEZTE RARAREME
o BERRAERT B TR 2 2 B ER
BmMAEETIROE2EETHE
BBARTIR_ZTEZELFNA
Z+NRB (AEMzTE B8 2
EETRAZI0% @ HEEEBKER
ZEFHLERR I o
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29. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(a)

Share option scheme (continued)

Pursuant to the special general meeting held on
11 June 2010, the resolution approving the
renewal of the 10% of the general limit was
passed by the shareholders and the maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the Company shall not exceed 10% of the share
capital of the Company in issue on 11 June 2010.
The total number of shares available for issue
under the Scheme is 461,224,947 (representing
10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of passing the resolution to
refresh the 10% limit).

The maximum number of the shares (issued and
to be issued) in respect of which share options
may be granted under the Scheme to any one
Grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the share capital of the Company in issue
on the last date of such 12-month period unless
approval of the shareholders of the Company has
been obtained in accordance with the Listing
Rules.

The Scheme was approved by the shareholders
of the Company on 28 August 2007 and had a
life of 10 years until 27 August 2017

29. BB w)

(a)

BRESE ()

BER_ZT-—ZTFA+—HE7T
ZRERFRAE  HAEFEH10%—
REBZRBRERRRLAE  MEA
TEREZAT & R AR B E A
BRET S TRE 2 2B RE
A gE BT 2 IR = &L B TS5
BARNANR-_ZE—ZTEA+—H
ZEBETRARZ10% Al iR IEZ
A BT 2R DB EA
461,224,947 U5 AR R B RABE
HM10% ERZAZRE A ZEET
A& ZR10%) °

RAEM12{8 A BRI R & % 51 81 T
ER—BARAZBERERS R
B &RSEE (B#ETRETET)
TRBBALRRNZI2{E A BHE&
B—AZEETRAZI%  HER
BETRAMEMSARRBREZH
JERRSN ©

ZABERZZEZLFNAZTAN
AEARRBRRLAE  REI0F
BEE-Z—tFN\AZF+LRABIL-
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29. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b)

29. BRE#®

Share options granted to the consultants and (b) BFAEEERREEE2BRE
the management of the Group
The following share-based payment LA AR (0 BER 2 MR TR
arrangements were outstanding during the year: A ARITE
2018 2017
“2-N\§ T —+tF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price \DToal oI exercise price Number
per share of options per share of options
SR INE Sz
THTHEE BREHE THTEE BREHE
HK$ 000 HK$ ‘000
B FEK BT F&
At 1 January W—F—H 3.5435 46,560 3.4088 67,080
Granted during the year SRR H - - - -
Exercised during the year  FR1T{E - - - -
Lapsed during the year FREM 5.0353 (7.960) 2.9632 (14,290)
Expired during the year | 3.1209 (5,220) 3.4233 (6,230)
Outstanding at 31 R+=—A=1+—8
December HARITEE 3.2539 33,380 3.5435 46,560
Exercisable at R+=—RA=1+—8H
31 December AT 3.9830 1,150 3.4233 6,230

At the end of the reporting period, the Company
had 33,380,000 share options outstanding under
the aforesaid scheme as listed in the table
above. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of
33,380,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and additional share capital of
HK$83,000 (before issue expenses).

RB|EIR - AR RIREZ EilEh
£ 533,380,00017 3 A% 4 5 & 1T
o i 21T (M R 1T F BB ARAE -
RBARNARERAZERE BT
33,380,0000% A& 2 &) # 38 E @ A% -
IF 3 38 B% 7883,00078 7T (oK 1Bk 2%
TR °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E
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29. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 29.

(b)

Share options granted to the consultants and
the management of the Group (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the
share options outstanding as at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

Number of options

B ()

(b) BRFA-SEERREEREZBRE

(&)

RBERARRHRITEZBREZTT

EERITEHMT

Exercise price*

Exercise period

BREZE fTEE* Cigidi
Granted to 2018 2017 HKS$ per share
BF —E-N\f e BRET
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Management of the A& 18,960 22,960 1.716 27 QOctober 2014 to
Group Il (i) EREI () 31 October 2019
“E-METAZTERZE
—Z-NE+A=1—H
Management of the A& 7,140 11,360 3.61 30 January 2015 to
Group Il (if) BEEEI (i) 29 January 2020
“T-hE¥-A=+AHZE
“Z-ZE-A-+ANAH
Management of the K& 7280 12,240 6.91 16 April 2015 to
Group IV (iii) BEEEIV (i) 15 April 2020
“T-RFNATAAE
TN ATRA
33,380 46,560
= The exercise price of the share options is subject o ME AR #E 2 1T BA Al IR AL AR 31T

to adjustment in the case of rights on bonus
issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

A 28 0 A 45 f 48 1

B L B -
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29. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b) Share options granted to the consultants and
the management of the Group (continued)

Notes:

(i)

On 27 October 2014, the Company announced to
grant 68,300,000 share options to the employees
of the Group for HK$1 as a consideration by each
of the Grantees at an exercise price of HK$1.716
per share under the Scheme approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 28 August 2007
(note 29(a)). As at 31 December 2014,
63,100,000 share options were validly accepted.

The exercise periods of the share options

29. B &)

(b) BFFSEERREEREBRE
(%)

Kiat -

) RZFE—WmFE+A=++tAH"
ARG REARBDBRER =T
T+rENAZ T N\BH#HEZZ
T El AAEEREEAHRD
68,300,00017 f& I #& - K (B &
BUARANBIL  TEEAESE
B%1.71678 7T (Ff 5£29(a)) - 7 =
T-—mWFE+_A=+—8"
63,100,00017 i A% # 1% B

BTASEREZERE 2T

granted to the employees of the Group are as FEAGNTE -
follows:

Number of options
Exercise periods T8 BREHA
‘000
L
27 October 2014 to 31 October 2015 —E-NEFA-++BEE-E-RE+A=1t—H 6,310
1 November 2015 to 31 October 2016 —Z-AfE+-A-BE-F-—AETA=1t-8 6,310
1 November 2016 to 31 October 2017 - RET—-PF-HE-_ZE—+Et+A=1+—H 6,310
1 November 2017 to 31 October 2018 —Z—tf+-A-BE-Z-N\F¥TA=1-H 6,310
1 November 2018 to 31 October 2019 —Z2-\f+—R—-HBE-ZE-NF+A=+—H 37860
63,100
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(For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=—Z— N\F+_A=+—HIFE)

29. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 29. BRE®)
(b) Share options granted to the consultants and (b) BRFAEEEREAREEEZBERE
the management of the Group (continued) (#)

Notes: (continued) Biat : (&)

(i) On 30 January 2015, the Company announced to iy MNZZE—HRE—HB=+H" K
grant 19,300,000 share options to the employees NGNS ¥ UNE ) ) A==
of the Group for HK$1 as consideration by each +tENAZ+NB#EZZE
of the Grantees at an exercise price of HK$3.61 g omAEBERERE AHBRLE
per share under the Scheme approved by the 19,300,00010 FE Rk #E - REAE
shareholders of the Company on 28 August 2007 MNARMNMBL TEEABR
(note 29(a)). As at 31 December 2015, 17.800,000 3.61/8 T (KisE29(a) e R =&
share options were validly accepted. —AF+=—_A=+—H "

17,800,00017 #& AR A4 5 BBz AR o
The exercise periods of the share options BYAEBEEE ZEREZIT
granted to the employees of the Group are as FEAGNTE -
follows:
Number of options
Exercise periods T8 BREHA
‘000
F7
30 January 2015 to 29 January 2016 —E-hF—-A=tHE-_Z—R"E—HA-tAhH 1,780
30 January 2016 to 29 January 2017 - RE-RB=tHE-ZT—+E—A=-thH 1,780
30 January 2017 to 29 January 2018 —2—+#—A=tHE-Z-/\f—F=tAIH 1,780
30 January 2018 to 29 January 2019 —E-\FE—RB=tHE-ZE-NAE—A=-thH 1,780
30 January 2019 to 29 January 2020 —E-NF—R=+tHE-Z-_FF—-A-1NH 10,680
17800
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29. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

—NE+_A=+—BLLFE)

29. BBRRE#)

(b) Share options granted to the consultants and (b) BRFEAEEEEAREEEZBERE
the management of the Group (continued) (&)
Notes: (continued) Hia - (&)
(i)  On 16 April 2015, the Company announced to (il RZE—RFEMA+,H &K
grant 25,200,000 share options to the employees REIBRBEARARRBRERZE
of the Group for HK$1 as a consideration by each +ENAZ+N\B#t 2%t
of the Grantees at an exercise price of HK$6.91 g o mAEEEEAMHAER LD
per share under the Scheme approved by the 25,200,000 BB/ #E - REAS
shareholders of the Company on 28 August 2007 L&A A1BTT 0 1718 A6.91
(note 29(a)). As at 31 December 2015, BT (H5E29() e R—ZT— R F
24,400,000 share options were validly accepted. +—=—A=+4+—H ' 24,400,0001»
R AR A 4
The exercise periods of the share options BRYAEEREEZEREZTT
granted to the employees of the Group are as EEAZNT -
follows:
Number of options
Exercise periods T BREHE
‘000
F7
16 April 2015 to 15 April 2016 “Z-AEMA+ABE-Z—~EEATAA 2,440
16 April 2016 to 15 April 2017 T AEMA+ARE-E—+ENA+AA 2,440
16 April 2017 to 15 April 2018 “E—tEMA+ARE-Z-\EMA+EH 2,440
16 April 2018 to 15 April 2019 T \EMA+ARE-Z-NEEA+EA 2,440
16 April 2019 to 15 April 2020 - E-AEMA+ARZE-E-TEMA+HA 14,640
24,400
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29. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(c)

Other share options

Besides the above mentioned share options

issued, the Company granted the following share

options as financial instruments to the grantees.

(i)

Other Options Il

On 6 September 2012, the Company and
Hanergy Holding entered into an option
agreement, pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to grant Hanergy
Holding (or such person(s) at its direction)
options (the “Other Options IIl") to
subscribe for an aggregate of 600,000,000
shares of the Company at the exercise
price of HK$0.25 per share. The Company
and Hanergy Holding entered into this
option agreement to grant options as an
incentive for the smooth execution and
expediting the transactions contemplated
under the 2010 Sales Contract.

On 31 December 2012, after the fulfilment
of the conditions precedent to the option
agreement, the Company had granted the
Other Options Ill to Hanergy Investment
(Hanergy Holding’s designated entity). The
Other Options Il were not granted under
the Scheme. They will lapse upon the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant.

—NE+_A=+—BLLFE)

BRE R
4t B B

Rip Lo BT 2 ARO SERE
Mt - RRARMARARLATE

(c)

RS

(i)

BMTA-

B g RN

R-ZF—ZFNLARNB &
X A HLE B 1R IR AT AL BE Pk
B B ARRAE B K
30 B 2 AE R R AR (SREL AT
ERZBBRAL)RHBEE
(THiE RN  ARE
o258 L2 ITHERBEA
#£600,000,000/% & 2 7] f%
0o AN A EERE R R] 3L
LB AR 1 % AR H AR
REAE R IB R 28 3 Mopn R AR B
—E-TEHEARBETT
2R 5 ZHE -

m:=—:¢+*ﬁ:+—
CERBERERZE LR

ﬂﬂtﬁﬁ " XA B E WHanergy
Investment (Z&EERRIEE
ZEE) B H A B AR -
H i BE A RE 1190 FE AR 35 5t 21
B UHERAEOBERAR
FRMY -
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29. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 29. BRE®)
(c) Other share options (continued) (c) HpuEEREGE)
(i)  Other Options Ill (continued) (i) BEERENE)
For the Other Options Il granted to RZE——F+-_A=+—
Hanergy Investment on 31 December 2012, H #&% FHanergy Investment
the exercise periods are as follows: 2 E B AR RN 2 17 455 B 4n
T
Number of options
Exercise periods 1718 Hf RSB
‘000
T i%
31 December 2012 to —ET——F+-HA=+—H=ZE
30 December 2017 —_E—+F+=-A=+H 300,000
31 December 2013 to —E==fEF_FH=4—E=E
30 December 2017 —T—+F+-_H=1+H 150,000
31 December 2014 to —E—NWFE+-_A=+—H8ZF
30 December 2017 —E—+tF+=-A=+H 150,000
600,000
The following table summarises the T 3R BE At L At B AR RN 1A &
movement of the Other Options Il during E2_E—NF+ZA=1+—
the year ended 31 December 2018: HIt&EEz&
2018 2017
—E-N\E e
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price NI Lol:T@ exercise price Number
per share of options per share of options
SRINE Sz
THTEE BREHE THIREE EREHE
HK$ HK$ ‘000
BT BT FR
At 1 January W—A—H - - 0.25 286,625
Exercised during the year & RN{T{E - - 0.25 (286,625)

Expired during the year ERER - - - -

Outstanding at 31 R+=—B=1+—H

December M AR {TE - - - _
Exercisable at 31 R+=—B=1+—H

December mFTE - - - _
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30. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’'s reserves and the
movements therein for the current year are presented
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 130 and 131 of the consolidated financial
statements.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve represents an
amount equivalent to the par value of the
ordinary shares cancelled as a result of the share
repurchase.

Reserve funds

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC, a portion of the profits of the
Company's subsidiaries in the PRC has been
transferred to the reserve funds which are
restricted to use to offset against accumulated
losses or to increase capital. As at 31 December
2018, approximately HK$375,950,000 (2017:
HK$168,498,000) has been recognised to the
reserve funds.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus arose from the capital
reorganisation in prior years.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair
value of share options granted which are yet to
be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payments in
note 2.4 to the consolidated financial
statements. The amount will be transferred
either to the share premium account when the
related options are exercised, or retained profits
should the related options expire or lapse.

30. f##E

AEEREAFEZRECBEREEZHH
REEHBREAFIZ0ERBIZNEZ4AK

=X

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

HEBE -

BA R #E
EXABERFHRE I EBRENAKRNE
(@ i 5E 8 BB AREE

#EE

RIEFBRREEG RER - AA A
Z BB AR 23w B R
ZERGIAZR 2 HES  UEKBER
ATEESEMER - RZF—N\F
+=A=+—H " #4375,950,000
BT (ZZF — 1 : 168,498,000/
T)ERFHHSHER -

EAREG

ERERNELANBAEFEZENR
BHZEBEG -

BRERRE

EREFEERERHBBERTEZ
BREZAVE BREAVBHHRR
248 AR X F 2 @5t R
E—THE - ZEBHREEER
BRETERSRERMRER - =
REEEREER I RAFEEE

B A o
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31. NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENTS

—NE+_A=+—BLLFE)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities for the year ended 31 December 2018:

a:l:—?

. FERERERME

NE+ZA=+—-RLLFE"
MEEHREEZEERE

Interest-bearing Other

bank and other payables

borrowings and accruals

RITREM HMEMRER

M EER & A

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TFET

At 1 January 2018 R-_ZE—-—N\F—HA—H 1,126,008 7073,562

Changes from financing cash flows MERESREZ (417,884) (11,881)
Increase classified as operating cash DB AR LI £ HEE N

flows - 2,059,005

Reclassified to contract liabilities ENMOEEEREE (5,239,848)

Foreign exchange movement NI (21,331) 78,179

At 31 December 2018 RZE-—NFE+ZA=+—H 686,793 3,959,017

Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities for the year ended 31 December 2017:

B=

—E—+tHFF+-A=+—HILFE -
RMERBEE2EERE

Interest-bearing Other

bank and other payables

borrowings and accruals

RITREM HEEFRER

M EER PEst &R

HK$'000 HK$'000

T3 T

At 1 January 2017 Rn—_E—+tF—H—H 1,050,635 2,108,503

Changes from financing cash flows EI&HR &R E 7 & 51,379 31,314
Increase classified as operating cash AL EHE RS M

flows - 4,697,458
Decrease classified as investing cash D EAKERELTERD

flows - (89,149)

Foreign exchange movement ANEE I B) 23,994 275,436

At 31 December 2017 RZE—tF+=ZHA=1+—H 1,126,008 7,073,562
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32. OPERATING COMMITMENTS 32, RBERIE
(a) Operating lease commitments (a) KEHERIE
As lessee 1EBAFAA

The Group leases a number of properties,
warehouses and equipment under operating
leases, with leases negotiated for an initial
period of six months to ten years, with an option
to renew the lease and renegotiate the terms at
the expiry dates or at dates as mutually agreed
between the Group and the respective landlords/
owners. None of the leases include contingent
rentals.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non- cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

AEEREEKEHEERETY
X RERZREB HENTREA
BAZE+F ARERNENERE
ARAKEEAHEXETETRELZ
REMNRBHERGS ZEHE
BredsAEe -

RZZE-NFE+ZA=+—B &
SERBIABBEELEHEZRRK
REHSAQERR TIHMERED

2018 2017
—E—)\F R
HK$000 HK$'000
FE T FE T
Within one year —F R 535,357 223,100
In the second to fifth years, inclusive Z-_ZRFE(BEEERE) 1,783,761 1,243,292
Over five years FEFLE 1,075,056 736,804
3,394,174 2,203,196
(b) Other Commitments (b) Hh&ie

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total other
commitments of HK$6,378,101,000 under the
non-cancellable contracts to purchase equipment
for turnkey production line construction contracts
from third party suppliers, raw materials for
photovoltaic power generation station building
projects and PV modules from Hanergy Affiliates.

At 31 December 2017, the Group had total other
commitments of HK$524,891,000 under the non-
cancellable contracts to purchase raw materials
for the photovoltaic power generation station
building projects and PV modules from Hanergy
Affiliates.

RZE—NF+ZA=+—H &
EEERERNBE=ZFEHEFREE
EESERGRABEREG pEE
KRRBEESUEEBEE R K RERE
RN 3= N K AR N B |
AR 2 HEMEERBBEA
6,378,101,000i8 7T °

RZEBE—+tF+-A=+—B &
SEEREMRZERNEEIARB
FZEEBBARBERMMER L
REMHFZ A REE R 2 B A
#8786 /3524,891,00078 TT °
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33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. EAXREIE
2018 2017
Al — T tF
HK$000 HK$'000
FE T FE T
Acquisition of items of property, WEYE  BE
plant and equipment N EBIEE
— Contracted, but not provided for - BRI 4B KRB E 136,142 79,727
34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34. BEBALRS
(a) In addition to the transactions and balances (@) BRHLSHEESEIEHREREMITD T
detailed elsewhere in these consolidated HM 2 XG5 RERI  KREBRSF

financial statements, the Group had the following

NEBEBALTETATEARS

material transactions with related parties during

296

the year.
2018 2017
AN T tF
Notes HK$000 HK$°'000
Bt iF FET FET
Manufacturing of turnkey BIEBREAER
production lines (1) - 1,062,467
Rental expense e (ii) 3,264 820
Equipment lease expense REHERAS (iif) 2,687 3,154
Purchase/prepayments for B RB 2 g
purchase of photovoltaic TET I
modules (iv) 92,466 144,552
Office service income WAEREKA (v) 6,349 6,312
Sales of equipment HE R - 59
Interest expenses R H (vi) 6,572 18,5634
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(a)

(continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

The revenue from the construction of turnkey
production lines was receivable from Hanergy
Affiliates. The sales were made in accordance
with the terms as stipulated in the relevant sales
contracts.

The continuing connected transaction between
Sichuan Hanergy and Apollo Fujian was
transferred to Sichuan Hanergy and Juntai
Innovation (Beijing) Technology Limited (“Juntai
Beijing"”), a subsidiary of the Group. Therefore,
the rental expense represents the rental of office
and dormitory by Juntai Beijing from Sichuan
Hanergy in 2018.

The continuing connected transaction between
Sichuan Hanergy and Apollo Fujian was
transferred to Sichuan Hanergy and Juntai
Beijing, and therefore, the equipment lease
expense represents the rental of a production
line by Juntai Beijing from Sichuan Hanergy in
2018.

The photovoltaic modules were purchased from
Hanergy Holding and Hanergy Global Investment
and Sales Pte. Ltd. (a Hanergy Holding's affiliate)
for the Group's Downstream business.

Certain office administrative support provided to
MiaSolé, Hanergy Holding's affiliate, by MiaSolé
Hi-Tech (“MHT"), a subsidiary of the Company.

Other interest bearing borrowings provided by
Hanergy Global Investment and Sales Pte Ltd,
Hanergy Holding America Inc., Hanergy
Investment and Hanergy Holding (HK) Ltd,

Hanergy Holding's affiliates.

—NE+_A=+—BLLFE)

4. BBEANLRZ (&)

(a)

(%)

Kiat -

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

RREELEERZBATIER
HZREHBAR - HEDRE
1BRISHE & R Z IRFGETT ©

POI1 % RE B2 AR S 5 2 45 AR
BERXHDERETEIEERAR
S 2 BN REZRAEIF (Jbm)
MEERAR (IEREZFE]) °
Bt HeRAXELERERR
—ZE - N\FRE)IEEHE B
RENREEZEE °

oIz R B AR 2 SA S 2 5 A B
ERXHEEZETM) H/%ﬁbéiiit

REZR Bt RBEHERX
BIEREBEZR-_Z—N\FaH

JIEEEA —IREERZBE °

MAEE 2 TFEBKKEIER
T R Hanergy Global
Investment and Sales Pte. Ltd.
(Rl BB AR BAX
RABH -

AQ R ZH B 2R AMiaSolé
Hi-Tech (I MHT 1) A & B 4% i%
2 B4 B N FIMiaSol e 4 7 T it
NETRIH -

Hanergy Global Investment
And Sales Pte Ltd : Hanergy
Holding America Inc.
Hanergy Investment}zHanergy
Holding (HK) Ltd GEREZER Z

s AR et 2 EALM S 55K
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34. BEBALRZ #)
(continued)
(b) Details of compensation of key management b) AEBEFTZEBREBEHFMFAFBIR
personnel of the Group are set out in note 12 to e BWmERM T2 -

the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of items (a) Bl FE@QELEBEALIRZSINE
above also constitute connected transactions or N EMMBBIUUAEFTARATEZHER S
continuing connected transactions as defined in RIFBEEERS o

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 3. ET BRER
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of EHemITANEREBRZREHRE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting AT :

period are as follows:

Financial assets SRMEE
2018 —E-N\F
Total
ast
HK$000
FET
Equity investments designated at fair value BEAEAFETAEMEEIK
through other comprehensive income m BmEE 63,058
Debt instruments at fair value through other BAFET A2 E S
comprehensive income 2 BT A
Bills receivable e E i 141,350
Financial assets at amortised cost BEEK AT ENERMEE
Trade receivables B 5 W IR 3,934,877
Financial assets included in other SFAH M EWRGRIE KRS
receivables and deposits ZEMEE 4,020,865
Restricted cash 2[R H13E & 64,678
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBREEEEY 359,049
8,379,469
Total financial assets tRMEEHEE 8,583,877
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 3b. &M T RRER =)

CATEGORY (continued)
Financial liabilities

2018

= =N
—E-)N\F
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

BEERE
ZEMAER
HK$°000
FET

Total

24t
HK$000
FE7

Trade and bills payables B REREMNKIE 5,172,070 5,172,070
Financial liabilities included in ERMABEREEMEMNKE
other payables and accruals REFTER 889,612 889,612
Interest-bearing bank and RIT R EH KT BB
other borrowings 686,793 686,793
Other non-current liabilities HM3EmegE 9,440 9,440
Financial assets SREE
2017 —E_t&
Available for-
sale
Loans and financial
receivables investments Total
BER R AEHE
e YRR TRBRE A&t
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
Available-for-sale financial THEESREE
investments - 66,097 66,097
Trade receivables B S EWEE 7232,791 - 7232,791
Financial assets included in other £ B & B 15 H {1 fE Uit
receivables and deposits FERES 1,506,548 = 1,506,548
Bills receivable B ZE 27363 - 27,363
Restricted cash XRHRE 144,340 = 144,340
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEED 2,496,760 = 2,496,760
11,407,802 66,097 11,473,899
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35.

36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)

3b. T I RRER )

Financial liabilities oot =k
2017 —E—+F
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
TR A
ZERBE &5t
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade and bills payables B 5 REBRENKIE 1,737,876 1,737,876
Financial liabilities included in other CREAREEAEMENRIER
payables and accruals st E A 670,492 670,492
Interest-bearing bank and other RIT R H MK BB R
borrowings 1,126,008 1,126,008
Other non-current liability HidERBaE 20,049 20,049
3,654,425 3,554,425

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use
of financial instruments in its ordinary course of
operations and in its investment activities. The
financial risks include market risk (including foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the
Group's headquarters, in close co-operation with the
board of directors. The overall objectives in managing
financial risks focus on securing the Group’s short to
medium term cash flows by minimising its exposure
to financial markets.

36. BEKREEEERBER

AEEEBNERREEEBEREARE
AT EReRIATEHET KRR -
AR EET SRR (REIMNERR R
MERR)  EERRERBESER

FHEREETEENKE AL HH -
TREFSEFAE -EBCUMTRAR
ERANETNREASEEHEDH
ZB e AT A E S B 5 R ROR

ExEe
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

It is not the Group’s policy to actively engage in the

trading of financial instruments for speculative

purposes. The Group’s senior management works

under the policies approved by the board of directors.

It identifies ways to access financial markets and

monitors the Group's financial risk exposures. Regular

reports are provided to the board of directors.

Foreign currency risk

(i)

Transactions in foreign currencies and the
Group’s risk management policies

The Group has transactional currency exposures.
Such exposures arise from sales or purchases by
operating units in currencies other than the units’
functional currencies. Approximately 9% (2017:
66%) of the Group's sales were denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of
the operating units making the sale.

The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure
regularly. No hedging or other alternatives have
been implemented during the year.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk
have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to be effective.

36. BXEREEEERKE &)

TH2ERBEECERTARS Y IF

AEBZHE -

AEBSRERER

EZeMAECHRRI HEMGESR
MERERASESRRAR A X
MEFERETEHHRSE -

S B

(i)

SMER G R AR B2 e R

AEBEAIZSUHEEER - ZZ
TR 48 13 A L
I B¥ETZEER - REERI9%
(ZT—+F : 66%) MR EHE
4525 8 0 B 95 DA 51 ) B )

o

.

AEBEERRTEINERR - FR
WEETEH RS EML L

SNERRERHERBERF—H
RSB - ERRAITZAR -
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(ii)

(iii)

—NEFE+ZA=+—HLFE)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. KEREREBBERBER®)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) NS L B ()
Summary of exposure (i) EEEHE
Financial assets and liabilities denominated in PASNEE S B iR T [E R E A
foreign currencies and translated into Hong Kong TZERMEERABENMT :
dollars at the closing rates, are as follows:
2018 2017
“E-)N\% Z3-t%
EUR RMB US$ RMB EUR SGD
B ARE e ARE Br T
LXK Y HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
&7 FET &7 FAT TET TAT FET
Trade receivables 2 oENTA 2,138,188 - - 2,130,272 - - -
Contract assets/gross amount ~ ARAE/ERARZE
due from contract customers 4% 1,194,342 - - 2,400,660 - - -
Cash and bank balances RERBTER 19,238 1579 143 32,385 249 333 -
Trade and other payables 85 RAMENIE (853) (28)  (6,629) (B49)  (6948)  (4747) -
Interest-bearing bank and ROREHSER
other borrowings (21,854) - - - - - (1,752)
Gross exposure arising ERALHIA
from recognised financial EEER
instruments a% 3,329,061 1,551 (5,486) 4,562,469 (6,699) (4.414) (1,752)
Sensitivity analysis (iii)  BUEEE 7 HT
The following table illustrates the sensitivity at T 3% B il R & BR R SNEE (B RE S &
the end of the reporting period to a reasonably BRI EERIN a8
possible change in the exchange rates of foreign ARZH o HRE - LR RRAEE
currencies other than the functional currencies of B A B A2 RINE R AT
the relevant operating units. The rates are used 2R AT 1R B N BE K ]
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to BE B E) 2 R IERTA ©
key management personnel and represents
management’s best assessment of the change in
foreign currency exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis of the Group's exposure REREHIR - NE B FTE NS
to foreign currency risk at the end of the b 2 SRR E D AT T R R AN S [ R 2
reporting period has been performed based on }HH J:I:E/\Hﬁﬂzi%)]%*_&._lfﬁj*“
the assumed percentage changes in foreign AEHNBFENERFTIEMAET

currency exchange rates taking place at the
beginning of the financial year and the
assumption that such changes are held constant
throughout the year. All other variables are held
constant.

GEERT VTR
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)
(iii) Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Appreciation/(depreciation) in US$ against RMB

MiEEREEREBSERBER )

s LB (42)
(iii)  EBEEZH (&)
ETHAEREAE - (F21E)

2018 2017
—E-N\F S
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE FE TFHET T
+5% (-5%) +5% (-6%)
#5% (#5%) F5% (#5%)
Profit for the vear NEZ 5% F
and retained profits KB 15 A 114,930 (114,930) 133,478 (133,478)
Appreciation/(depreciation) in RMB against HK$ AR BT HE (B2 1E)
2018 2017
—E-N\fF —E—tF
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FHET
+5% (-5%) +5% (-5%)
#5% (#5%) 5% (#5%)
Profit for the year and 7N [& 3% 7
retained profits KB E M (188) 188 (196) 196
Appreciation/(depreciation) in EUR against HK$ BT 52 B T HHE (B2 E)
2018 2017
—E-N\§ —E—+tF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FET FHET FHET
+5% (-5%) +5% (-5%)
#5% (#5%) F5% (%5%)
Profit for the year and ~ ZREE % 7
retained profits KB 175 7 53 (53) (129) 129
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT BERERESEEERBE &)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk F = 2 b

(i) Exposures to interest rate risk and the Group’s (i) FIFEEERERAEDZEREE
risk management policies HE
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair FEEBELRTEY AFEENE
value or cash flows of a financial instrument will 45 8 T I8 ) 2R a2 T B8 SR &
fluctuate because of changes in market interest CRER EZHAERTAESESAEE
rates. Floating interest rate instruments will AEELHAENZRAR R -
result in the Group facing cash flow interest rate —NE+-_A=+—8 "4
risk. As at 31 December 2018, approximately 243,515,000 0 (=& — + & :
HK$243,515,000 (2017: HK$657.776,000) of the 657,776,000)% 7T) 2 7N £ B 4R 1T
Group's interest-bearing bank and other = R A I e s
borrowings bore interest at fixed rates.

(ii) ~ Sensitivity analysis (i) BBESH

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of
the Group's profit for the year and equity to a
possible change in interest rates of +/-50 basis

TRELEAMBFENRL  KE
8 2 7N [0 M) % i 25 4 ) R m] B
HR+/-50EH (—T—LF+ - A

points (31 December 2017: +/-50 basis points), =+ — B : 4+/-5052) £ 5~ Gk
with effect from the beginning of financial the EoBRELUNRE IFAEWZ
year. The calculation is based on the Group's B H R 2 A EL R o BT H b

amount of floating rate borrowings during the
year. All other variables are held constant.

BUHTE -

2018 2017
—E-NE —T—+tF
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
+50 basis -50 basis +50 basis -50 basis
points points points points
+50E B -50E B +B0E B, 50EZ
Profit for the year and K4 [ i F|
retained profits R F% A (1,520) 1,620 (1,370) 1,370

The assumed changes in interest rates are IR > 333 B ) T s B 5T 3 45 T R
BEBABZEE TAEEEY
HETERSHRELHARBMNEZE

BRI -

considered to be reasonable based on
observation of current market conditions and
represent management’'s assessment of
reasonable change in interest rates over the

period until the end of the next reporting period.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

(i)

Summary of exposures

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty
to a financial instrument would fail to discharge
its obligation under the terms of the financial
instrument and cause a financial loss to the
Group. The Group's exposure to credit risk mainly
arises from granting credit to customers in the
ordinary course of its operations and its investing
activities.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial
assets, which mainly comprise cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, bills receivable,
trade and other receivables and contract assets
arises from the default of the counterparty, with
a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables, contract assets and other
receivables is disclosed in notes 17, 18 and 19 to
the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

36.

BEEREEEERBEE#)

FERR

(i)

mEEE

EERRESRIAZH KRR
ERMTAZERETEEE ALE
BARESRUBERZAR - K
SEZEERRIZRARERR
EEBRNERETHIRTEPR
=8 -

AEEEMEREE (BREASRK
ReEEY XRHIRE  BER
B EIREMERFERERE
E)ZEERBREREHETEN &
SRERAENZETAZKEE -

ERAEEELARE S ERE
GREEREMERZFEZ EER
BziE— T EBEDRINGAN
WKM7 - 1819 FE -
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. MBEAKREEEFERER®)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERK(Z)
(i)  Summary of exposures (continued) (i) EEBEZEGE)
Maximum exposure and yearend staging as at HE_Z-N\F+-A=+—H0H
31 December 2018: BB R FERE
The table below shows the credit quality and the TRINERANEENEEBRD
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the EEEZREREERR  FEX
Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on R A E B (BR IE H fth & Al 72 %
past due information unless other information is ANETIBEXNASE IBOBERT
available without undue cost or effort, and year ER) RR-_ZE—NF+=A
end staging classification as at 31 December ST —HHNEFEEBRES - TE7
2018. The amounts presented are gross carrying WEMEECREESRMEE -
amounts for financial assets.
12-month Simplified
ECLs Lifetime ECLs approach
T=f8A
EHEEEE FHEREERS BHAE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
F-KBER  F-ER  FZER
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FHET
Contract assets* AREE* - - - 12,100,913 12,100,913
Trade receivables* g5 RN = - - 4138278 4138278
Bills receivable LS 141,350 - - - 141,350
Financial assets included in other 5t A E i fE U 78 | &
receivables and other assets HWEEZSREE
- Normal** - ERB* 4,020,865 - - - 4,020,865
- Doubtful** — g - - 12,139 - 12,139
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALEEY
- Not yet past due — K35 359,049 - - - 359,049
Restricted cash RRAEEE
- Not yet past due — k5| 64,678 = = = 64,678
4,585,942 - 12,139 16,239,191  20,837272
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Summary of exposures (continued)

Maximum exposure and yearend staging as at
31 December 2018: (continued)

*

* %

For trade receivables and contract assets to
which the Group applies the simplified approach
for impairment, information based on the
provision matrix is disclosed below.

The credit quality of the financial assets included
in other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not
past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets is considered to be “doubtful”

36.

BEEREEEERBEE#)

FERR(E)
ERHEE ()

BE_Z- ) \F+-_A=+t—8H
RimEREFERR(E)

(i)

*

* %

475 5 0 1 P A 3 0 0 77
MR S RE R FAE
ERBREENEHRTX
R -

i 5+ A LAt e OB & A
BEZGREEARTS A
TEENBTEREESD
MR IR 5 B A A RRIE -
AIREEEERERILER]
BleRMEENEEEER
BRAIAEE] -
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. MEAKREEEEREE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERK (&)
(i)  Summary of exposures (continued) (i) EEREZEE)
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the HE-_T-N\F+ZA=+—HL
Group's expected credit losses were determined FE - -ASENEBHEEBEET
as follows: UM

Financial assets included in
other receivables and
deposits, and ills receivable

Trade receivables T ARMENTARR S
Ul G REVZENCREE

Due from

turnkey

production
Contract line Due from  Dug from
assets  customers Due from other customers a third party others
FhEEEE EBh—%  EhEf
ARRE BEFHE EWEHER5E EShHE ATRE

HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
AT FAT AT FAT AT T TEn TEn
Ageing Ageing Ageing Ageing
within within within within
1 year 12years  2-3years 34 years
BhaEn BRAIZE RRAEIE BRAITME

Expected credit loss rate EHEEERE minimal minimal minimal ~ 35.39% 6861%  100.00%  10000%  minimal
() (i) () ()

Estimated total gross — fhst @AM
carrying amount 12100913 3,171,282 604,530 152,978 191,854 17634 12139 4,020,865
Bxpected creditloss ~ BHEEEE - - - 54,140 131,627 17634 12,139 =
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Risk management objectives and policies

The Group's policy is to deal only with creditworthy
counterparties. Credit terms are granted to new
customers after a creditworthiness assessment.
When considered appropriate, customers may be
requested to provide proof as to their financial
position.

Customers who are not considered creditworthy
are required to pay in advance or on delivery of
goods. Payment records of customers are closely
monitored. Overdue balances and significant
trade receivables are highlighted. The directors
will determine the appropriate recovery actions.
It is not the Group’s policy to request collateral
from its customers.

The credit risk for liquid funds is considered
negligible as the counterparties are reputable
banks and securities brokers.

The credit policies have been followed by the
Group since prior years and are considered to
have been effective in limiting the Group's
exposure to credit risk to a reasonable level.

36.

—N\NF+ZA=+—HIEFE)

BEEREEEERBEE#)

FERR(E)
(i) EfEEEERBEREE
$'§ BZBRREREERM H

RITRD o BT HEP 25 HH
Emém%ﬁé&ﬁ°ﬁmﬁﬁ
& RP I RERRHMEMKR 2
E -

BTRREENMEZEFPARNKA

HRRMNRANR - TP 28
ZEM“&JJ EfR - -BHERREXES
RURZER BEFKETHEEE
W78  AEBZBRNERER
Freftffm o

RRET REERF ZRITRES
Ric BORBESZEERRER
R o

FERREBERFE—HEHEAE
Bl BRRBB/ITIER HA
SEAE 2 EERRRGEAEK
qz o
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

(iii) Concentration of credit risk

Included in trade receivables and contract

assets were HK$1,755,359,000

HK$2,258,989,000) and HK$4,790,110,000 (2017:
HK$1,535,212,000) due from the Group's five
largest customers, which represented
approximately 45% (2017: 31%) and 40% (2017:
64%) of total trade receivables from customers
and contract assets at the end of the reporting

period, respectively.

Included in trade receivables and contract assets
were HK$1,084,607000 (2017: HK$1,816,927,000)
and HK$1,218,724,000 (2017: HK$865,448,000)
due from Shandong Haihui New Energy
Technology Ltd. (previously known as Shandong
Macrolink New Energy Technology Ltd.), which
represented approximately 28% (2017: 25%) and
10% (2017: 36%) of total trade receivables from
customers and contract assets at the end of the

reporting period, respectively.

36.

HEEREEEERBEE®)

EER (&)
(iii) EBEEEEHERBEE

BS5RBAFEREREERE
1,755,359,000 7L (=& — 4 :
2,258,989,000/% 7t.) K4,790,110,000
BT (ZET—+4 :1,535,212,000
B BB AEEAKRNE P KIE -
ARMERERRZERESE SR
HBEBEREREENILR (ZF
—+tF 1 31%) k40% (=ZF—+
F:64%) o

BoRBARERAREERTE
1,084,607,0008 7L (=& — £ :
1,816,927,000 &) &
1,218,724,0008 L (=& —+HF :
865,448,000 7T) fE M 1L &G Z 5
BEERI AR AR (B ILRE
BEFEREBRARRQA) KIE 5
AMEREHRZEREFE S HIE
BERERAEEN28% (ZT—+t
F:26%) R10% (=T —+F:
36%) °
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. IBEMEERFERER#®)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk REBESER
Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not mBEcRRDEAEEREETER
be able to meet its obligations associated with its BERBECZERER AEEESE

=
i

financial liabilities. The Group is exposed to liquidity EXMAEUARERSREEIE H EK

risk in respect of settlement of liabilities when they Bi‘ RBESRR AEBZBEAES
fall due and also in respect of its cash flow BEZRBEEKENAZESEHE -
management. The Group’s objective is to maintain an NEREERRBAZRBESTE -

appropriate level of liquid assets and committed lines
of funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and long term.

Analysed below is the remaining contractual maturity LTARAEERREHRZIENTES
for the Group's financial liabilities as at the end of the MEBEZHBRERIEH BEDEAR
reporting period. When the creditor has a choice of SEARERNRAZHZERHA K
when the liability is settled, the liability is included on fﬁié]\—ﬁgg?ﬁ%/ﬁﬁﬁz Bf-EAfE
the basis of the earliest date on which the Group can AP HAAES S8 EEER
be required to pay. Where the settlement of the E@EK N =8--I

liability is in instalments, each instalment is allocated
to the earliest period in which the Group is committed

to pay.
The contractual maturity analysis below is based on UNTEREBOMIBIEBEREERS R
the contractual undiscounted payments as at the end ZERABENRIEL :

of the reporting period:

2018 —E-N\F

On Less than 1to5 Over
demand 1 year years 5 years Total

RERE PME 1258 BiEsF a7

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FER FEX FEx

Trade and bills payables EARFRENTE - 5,172,070 - - 5,172,070
Other payables and accruals HEtENZERESER - 889,612 - - 889,612

Interest-bearing bank and other fﬁﬁ&ﬁ‘rﬂw B AR
borrowings - 203,610 499,010 115,926 818,546
Other non-current liabilities EfFEneaE 9,440 - - - 9,440
9440 6,265,292 499,010 115926 6,889,668
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

36. BXEREEEERKE &)

Liquidity risk (continued) REESER(E)
2017 —E— &
On Less than Ttob Over
demand 1 year years 5 years Total
RERE ZINES 1256 HioF At

HK$'000 HK8'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR FAT TAT TAT TAT

Trade and bills payables BHREBERATA - 1,737876 - - 1,737876
Other payables and accruals HiENZFERESER - 670,492 - - 670,492
Interest-bearing bank and other ~ $R17 RE M & &2
borrowings - 610,226 519,031 166,643 1,295,900
Other non-current liabilities Hi e aE 20,049 - - - 20,049
20,049 3,018,594 519,031 166,643 3,724,317
Capital management EAREE

The primary objectives of the Group's capital AEBZFTEEAEEAZARRASE
EERNIBFELYE THEKBRELRK

TR HEH RS BRABREME -

management are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes INEEEE IR H A AN R O AR O

adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2017.

BRABEE AREGIELBE B
BBREBAARE AEEYLHE
*NTREZRSLE AREEDE
AHBITH R - 2R ETZ A
EMZARRERBRA  RBE-T
~NE+ZA=+-BE-FT—+*
TZA=Z+—HLFE AEEEXRE
BAE BEXRFHEED
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is net debt divided by the capital plus net debt.
Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and other

borrowings, trade and bills payables, other payables

and accruals and contract liabilities, less cash and

cash equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable

to owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the

36. BREREEEEREE &)

BEXREE(F)

AEBENRERABEL X (AEHFRRE
NEARMERFE) ERERN - BFFE
BREREBETLEMHEETR BEHERE
JEAS SRR A R B A JE 9 SRR I e AT B A
keaRaE(HMEReBREEEY) -
EXCREBARHEA ARG EDR - NR
ERRZEABBLEMT

end of the reporting periods were as follows:

2018 2017
—E - )\F i
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Interest-bearing bank and other SR1T R E A B SR (H2726)
borrowings (note 26) 686,793 1,126,008
Trade and bills payables (note 23) B REBEMNKIA
(K15£23) 5,172,070 1,737,876
Other payables and accruals (note 24) HihENZEREE R
(Kiat24) 3,959,017 7,073,562
Contract liabilities (note 25) aRaE#725) 3,193,004 =
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReMIAESEEY
(note 22) (f1at22) (359,049)  (2,496,760)
Net debt ERFEE 12,651,835 7,440,686
Equity attributable to the owners SARHE AEGRER
of the parent 13,170,790 8,107,266
Capital BN 13,170,790 8,107,266
Capital and net debt BARAREBERHE 25,822,625 15,547,952
Gearing ratio BARBEKLE 49.00% 47.86%
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 37 ARATEBBEMRE

OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position

BEMFEHAL DR BERRE D EH

of the Company at the end of the reporting period is R
as follows:
2017
T—R"F
HK$'000
FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE NERE 1,615 423
Investments in subsidiaries WERH B A A 6,473,988 6,473,988
Total non-current assets EREEESET 6,475,603 6,474,411
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories ey 1,281 1,278
Due from subsidiaries AN NETE ] 2,147,814 419,315
Deposits and prepayments e A RIE 3,841 9,280
Cash and cash equivalents He MBS EEY 4,669 7,658
Total current assets MBEEETE 2,157,605 437,531
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Due to subsidiaries FE 1~ B BB 2 Bl R IE 152,195 160,094
Other payables and accruals HiE B R EER 30,692 23,212
Tax payable FE B Fi IR 2,300 2,300
Total current liabilities mE B EARE 185,187 185,606
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEETFEH 1,972,418 251,925
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEAERRBAR
LIABILITIES 8,448,021 6,726,336
Net assets BETE 8,448,021 6,726,336
EQUITY HE =
Issued capital BEITRA 105,364 105,364
Reserves (note) (i) 8,342,657 6,620,972
Total equity W B 8,448,021 6,726,336
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 37. ARQBHBERREF#)

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: Kzt -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARIFEOMENT
Share Capital Share
premium  redemption  Contributed option Accumulated
account reserve surplus reserve losses Total
B
BHEEER EBERE EHR% BERERE  ZiEE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FAET FAT FAT FAT
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+t&—HA—H 11,244,621 7684 33,132 58,177  (5,213,990) 6,129,624
Exercise of share options bR
(note 28(a)) (Hi:228(a) 70,940 - - - - 70,940
Share option expense BRERY - - = 19,475 - 19,475
Transaction with owners BREEAZRS 70,940 - - 19,475 - 90,415
Total comprehensive income ~ AE[E 2 EEEE
for the year - - - - 400,933 400,933
At 31 December 2017 R-ZZE-tF+=-A=+—-H 11,315,561 7,684 33,132 77652  (4,813,057) 6,620,972
At 1 January 2018 R=F-N\E—F—-H 11,315,561 7,684 33,132 77652  (4,813,057) 6,620,972
Share option expense BERER T - - - 10,233 - 10,233
Transaction with owners BRBEAZRS - - - 10,233 - 10,233
Total comprehensive income  KREE2EREARE
for the year - - - - 1,711,452 1,711,452
At 31 December 2018 R=ZB-NF+=B=1-B 11315561 7684 33,132 87885  (3,101,605) 8,342,657
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The following table presents the fair value of financial
instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair
Value Measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

° Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date.

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

38.

ERMTREZAFERAFERS

TREVNRREPRELETEEELEF=
MEMIANATE PBEABBUHK
EREAFEIZRATEAEMAEN=
GHAFERE - AFENEMFENE
MIHEL2ETHEEFEMAE ABRN
ABRUREEMMET :

. B REE: EERE-ABAE
(BEREES R ER T8 AEE
BT O REHERE) HED
i -

o E_fMAE: ERAFE_RBAEM
AREMNEFE - BANAIERBAER)
ETNEREATABERE AEFE
RFE - FTABEGAEBSTEH
B AREAE-

. ESREE EREATTBEH
AEHEATE-
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

At 31 December 2018, the financial instruments of the
Group carried at fair value were bills receivable and
equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income. The fair value
hierarchies of financial instruments described above

are as follows:

—NE+_A=+—BLLFE)

EMITRZAFERAFERE
()

RZZFE-N\F+=-A=1t—08 XAKH
BRYEIRZEREERBURERR
EER ?Q?TEH)K%WZ%EHMT&ZH&
BRE - PRI ANRFESRDN
B

Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2018 categorised into

“E-N\FTA=T-RZAVENEZAR

Quoted prices

in active Significant

Carrying markets for other Significant

amount at identical observable unobservable

31 December assets inputs inputs

2018 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RZE-\5 HAEEEEE EXEMATE EyN|

TZA=t-RA  WETHRE EHAE BEEBAE

ZEEfE (F—8&) (E=H) (BF=8)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000

AT AT AT AT

Bills receivable EWZE 141,350 - 141,350 -
Equity investments designated REARATEFALGZE

at fair value through other Wi RIERE
comprehensive income - - 63,058

The fair values of unlisted equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income have been originally estimated using a market-
based valuation technique based on assumptions that
are not supported by observable market prices or
rates. However, since these investees were still under
the construction phase without any operation since
the Group has invested in, their fair values
approximated to their costs as at 31 December 2018.
These investees were purchased in 2017 and there
was no movement of their fair values during 2018
except for exchange realignment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 R & Y =E

(For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE —

38.

=

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of bills receivable have been calculated
by using present value model which incorporated
various market observable inputs including interest
rate curves. The fair values of bill receivables
approximated to their carrying amounts as at 31
December 2018.

The fair values of other financial instruments carried at
amortised cost, including cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, trade receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, trade and bills payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, and the
current-portion of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings are not materially different from their
carrying amounts as at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current liabilities and the
non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk
and remaining maturities. They are not materially
different from their carrying amounts as at 31
December 2018 and 2017

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements were
approved by the directors of the Company on 29
March 2019.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEHBEHME

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of TX#HJIAEERBERAETREE 2 2£E &
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from ERBEHE X HHEEEE T ZHERS -
the published financial statements is set out below.

RESULTS E 3

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
E-WF ZT-RF ZE-RF ZT-1F kit
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TET TET TET TET FET

CONTINUING OPERATION BELEEY

REVENUE KA 9615028 2,814,668 4483130  6,147385 21,251,772
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX Bana®/ (58) 4,186,692  (12,087413) 658,395 446,124 7570,496
Income tax expense FriE i< it (983,074)  (146,129)  (406,781) (185,092  (2,377,428)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REERT/(EE) 3,203,618  (12,233,542) 251,614 261,032 5,193,068

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable SNGIE DN 2
to the owners of the parent rEERF/(BB) 3,203,696  (12,233,564) 251,620 261,099 5,193,017

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable JEE R S FE (R
to non-controlling interests KEEEN/(B8) (78) 22 (6) (67) 51
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEHBEHME

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

—2-mE  ZE-RF  ZE-RE  ZE—tF Rt

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
k3 FET FET FET FET FET

Goodwill wE 7915,318 - - - -
Intangible assets EWEE 14 1,181,777 16,597 12,685 35,467 72,725
Property, plant and equipment  #1% - % R4 13 766,781 342,707 606,111 581,302 904,619
Available-forsale financial ELESRKE 15

investments - - - 66,097 -
Equity investments designated ~ #5E AR A FE AL

at fair value through other 2AMR ERR

comprehensive income - = = = 63,058
Deposits paid for acquisition WENE  BERRE

of items of property, BB ZENERE

plant and equipment 32 30 28 = -
Deferred tax assets BEEHBEE 26 76,404 - - - 30,810
Other non-current assets HitEnoEE 4,072 251,130 139,563 89,575 77374
Net current assets mOEEFE 12,014,399 8,189,561 572,872 8,361,856 14,498,449
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEERE 26 (561,995) (417406) (401,220) (478,048)  (1,975,262)
Other non-current liabilities AthIERBAE (911,150) (935,017) (589,017) (548,447)  (500,396)
Total equity Enls 20,485,638 7447602 7341,022 8,107802 13,171,377
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